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1.1 Introduction1.1 Introduction

1.1.1 The Inland Revenue Department

The Tax Administration of a country is the 
cornerstone of the fiscal infrastructure. The 
Inland Revenue Department (IRD) plays the role 
of Tax Administrator of Sri Lanka.  The IRD as 
the primary institution responsible for revenue 
collection, tax compliance management, and 
implementation & enforcement of tax laws, 
plays a vital role in ensuring the financial 
stability of the country. Its history goes back to 
more than nine decades. Fulfilling the necessity 
of an administrative body to levying of taxes, 
the Income Tax Department was established 
in 1932.  Subsequently, after amalgamation of 
Estate Duty and Stamp Duty with the Income 
Tax Department it was renamed as “Department 
of Income Tax, Estate Duty and Stamps” 
in 1933. In 1958 with the introduction of 
“Kaldor Reforms” it was renamed as the Inland 
Revenue Department (IRD).   In 1974, with 
the establishment of Sri Lanka Inland Revenue 
Service as a closed service, the IRD became a 
prominent government department comprising 
highly skilled tax professionals. At present, the 
IRD administers Corporate Income Tax (CIT), 
Individual Income Tax (IIT), Value Added Tax 
(VAT), Betting and Gaming Levy (BGL), Stamp 
Duty (SD), Capital Gain Tax (CGT), Share 
Transaction Levy (STL), Migrating Tax (MT), 
Remittance Fee (RF), Surcharge Tax (ST), Tax 
on Voluntary Disclosure (TVD) and Social 
Security Contribution Levy (SSCL). In addition, 
the IRD administers the Advance Income 
Tax (AIT) and Advance Personal Income Tax 
(APIT) schemes, as well.

In the process of administering the aforesaid 
taxes, the IRD provides the services such as 
taxpayer registration, facilitating tax return filing 
and payment processing, dispute resolution, 

taxpayer education, other taxpayer services, and 
providing tax related data to other government 
institutions, etc. 

The IRD’s management comprises, the 
Commissioner General, nine Deputy 
Commissioners General, twenty-two Senior 
Commissioners, and ninety Commissioners.  Its 
operational level staffs comprise Senior Deputy 
Commissioners, Deputy Commissioners and 
Assistant Commissioners, as a combined 
cadre. In addition, staffs from other services 
such as Sri Lanka Administrative Service, 
Sri Lanka Accountants Service, Sri Lanka 
Translators’ Service, Sri Lanka Information 
and Communication Technology Service, and 
Management Service Officers’ Service etc., are 
employed in the IRD for support services.

Being the main tax administrator of the 
country, the IRD collects more than 50% of the 
Government Tax Revenue, annually.
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1.1.2 Vision and Mission Statement

Vision
To be a taxpayer friendly tax administrator delivering excellent service to the taxpaying 
public, with well trained and dedicated staff.

 

Mission
To collect taxes in-terms of relevant tax and other related laws, by encouraging 
voluntary compliance while deterring tax evasion and tax avoidance, and to enhance 
public confidence in the tax system administered by the Inland Revenue Department 
by administering relevant tax and other related laws in a fair, friendly and expeditious 
manner and thereby facilitate a beneficial tax culture. 

1.1.3 Key Objectives and Goals

	➢ Achieve government revenue targets

	➢ Facilitate voluntary taxpayer compliance and self-assessment

	➢ Build a nimble and effective organization based on segmentation that is overseen by a non 
- operational headquarters

	➢ Strengthen the skills and professionalism of staff and the integrity, productivity and 
adaptability of the Inland Revenue Department

	➢ Improve taxpayer services leveraging streamlined business processes, technology and data

	➢ Collaborate closely and build trusting relationships with stakeholders
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1.2 Organizational Chart1.2 Organizational Chart
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    Some branches/ posts have been divided into two or more units for ease of administration.
    Legacy branch is not included in this chart since it is a tempory branch. xii
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1.3 Management Team1.3 Management Team

Principal Officials as at 31st December 2023

Mr. D. U. A.  Jayawardhana Mr. D. U. A.  Jayawardhana 	 Commissioner-General of Inland Revenue (Acting)

Deputy Commissioners General

Mr. M. S. M. SiyaanMr. M. S. M. Siyaan		 Tax Administration - Upper Corporate

Mr. D. U. A. JayawardhanaMr. D. U. A. Jayawardhana		 Strategic Operations & Compliance Support and Digital 		
		 Transformation 

Mrs. W. A. S. ChandrasekeraMrs. W. A. S. Chandrasekera		 Tax Administration - Medium Corporate

Mr. T. M. J. N. BandaraMr. T. M. J. N. Bandara		 Tax Administration - Large Taxpayers

Mrs. H. W. N. K. ThalarambaMrs. H. W. N. K. Thalaramba		 Human Resource Management & Human Resource 			
	 Development, and Procurement & Assets Administration

Mrs. R. P. H. FernandoMrs. R. P. H. Fernando	 	Tax Policy, Legislation, International Affairs and Legal 

Mr. B. K. S. ShanthaMr. B. K. S. Shantha 		 Source Taxation, International Tax Audit, Investigation (Other 	
	 than  LTU), Transfer Pricing and Research Planning & 		
		 Innovation

Mr. M. D. Anandasiri Mr. M. D. Anandasiri 		 Customer Service & Promotion 

Mrs. S. P. RanasingheMrs. S. P. Ranasinghe		 Tax Administration - Metropolitan and Regional

Senior Commissioners

	

Mrs. J. A. D. D. W. K. SiriwardenaMrs. J. A. D. D. W. K. Siriwardena		 Primary Registration, Tax Registration and Customer 		
		 Information Update 

Mr. U. D. N. JayaweeraMr. U. D. N. Jayaweera		 Information Technology Administration Service (ITAS), 		
	 Change Management, and Payment Reconciliation 

Mrs. J. D. RanasingheMrs. J. D. Ranasinghe	 LTU Appeals, Default Collection and Refunds

Dr. (Mrs.) N. T. A. DissanayakeDr. (Mrs.) N. T. A. Dissanayake 	 LTU Service Sector and Wholesale & Retail Sector 

Mr. D. M. N. S. B. DissanayakMr. D. M. N. S. B. Dissanayake 	 WHT/AIT, PAYE/APIT, Stamp Duty & BGL, CGT and SVAT 

Mrs. V. K. A. ThusithanjaleeMrs. V. K. A. Thusithanjalee	 Upper Corporate Service Sector 2-4 & Wholesale & Retail 		
	 Sector

Mr. T. U. AthukoralaMr. T. U. Athukorala	 Procurement & Assets Management

Mr. U. L. U. K. PereraMr. U. L. U. K. Perera 	 Upper Corporate – Refunds, RAMIS Period Appeals, Default 	
		 Collection 	 and  Non-resident Enterprises’ Refunds
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Mr. W. M. R. BandaraMr. W. M. R. Bandara 	 Human Resource Management & Human Resource 			
	 Development 

Miss. R. A. S. RajapakshaMiss. R. A. S. Rajapaksha		 Medium Corporate - Finance, Manufacturing, Service and 		
		 Wholesale & Retail Sectors

Mr. L. K. RatnayakeMr. L. K. Ratnayake 		 Strategic Operation & Compliance Support 

Mr. J. M. S. S. RathnawardhanaMr. J. M. S. S. Rathnawardhana	 	Tax Policy, International Affairs & Legal 

Mr. K. G. P. K. DharmawardenaMr. K. G. P. K. Dharmawardena		 LTU Manufacturing Sector 

Mr. N. M. A. K. B. NapanaMr. N. M. A. K. B. Napana 		 LTU - Investigation, Risk Management, Revenue Monitoring 	
	 and Intelligence

Mrs. D. L. SamarawickramaMrs. D. L. Samarawickrama 	 Customer Supporting & Promotion, Business Consultation and 	
		 Central Document Management 

Mr. H. S. S. KumaraMr. H. S. S. Kumara 		 LTU - Finance Sector and High-Net-Worth 

Mr. V. G. R. Kumara Mr. V. G. R. Kumara 		 Regional Corporate and Non-corporate

Mrs. M. N. PushpalathaMrs. M. N. Pushpalatha 		 Medium Corporate - Refunds, Appeals, Default Collection - 	
	 Legacy and DTRU

Mr. M. K. P. J. S. S. PereraMr. M. K. P. J. S. S. Perera 		 Upper Corporate – Finance and Manufacturing Sectors, 		
	 Service Sector 1

Mr. I. V. Jayaratne Mr. I. V. Jayaratne 		 Metropolitan, Metro Corporate Employees, VIP & RTP and 	
	 Non Corporate Appeals

Mrs. T. M. S. M. TennakoonMrs. T. M. S. M. Tennakoon	 Investigation (Other than LTU),Non-resident Enterprises 		
	 Compliance & Enforcement, Transfer Pricing, and Research 	
	 Planning & Innovation 

Mrs. S. D. C. Malkanthi Mrs. S. D. C. Malkanthi 	 Independent Internal Function Controlling
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2.1 Introduction2.1 Introduction

Tax policy plays a crucial role in shaping economic 
activities, income distribution, and societal well 
being. Its significance extends beyond mere 
revenue generation, influencing individual and 
business decisions, societal outcomes, and the 
broader macroeconomic environment. The IRD 
plays a crucial role in shaping the tax system, 
developing tax legislation, and providing strategic 
guidance on tax policy matters. The predominant 
objective of the tax policy division of the IRD 
is to establish a fair, efficient, and effective tax 
collection and enforcement system.  In order to 
achieve the primary goals of the tax policy of the 
government, such as revenue generation to fund 
public services, redistribution of wealth, economic 
stability, and incentivizing desirable sectors the 
Tax Policy Division closely works with the Fiscal 
Policy Department of the Ministry of Finance.  
In this exercise the IRD follows the fundamental 
principles guiding the design and implementation 
of tax policy such as equity, efficiency, simplicity, 
transparency, and administrability. 

Once tax policies are formulated by the Ministry 
of Finance, the IRD is typically involved 
in drafting the necessary legislations or 
amendments to existing tax laws. This requires 
a deep understanding of legal frameworks, 
principles, tax regulations, and administrative 
procedures. The policy division often engages 
with various stakeholders, including chambers, 
industry associations, tax experts, and other 
government agencies, to gather inputs on 
proposed tax reforms and ensure that policies 
are well-received and implemented smoothly. 
In addition, the tax policy division engages 
in international taxation issues, such as cross-
border transactions, transfer pricing, negotiating 
for double tax treaties, and maintaining 
cooperation with other international agencies 
such as International Monetary Fund (IMF), 

World Bank, Commonwealth Association of 
Tax Administrators, and tax authorities.

This chapter mainly focuses on changes brought 
in to tax laws administered by the IRD during 
the year 2023, with brief descriptions. 

2.2 Legislations Enacted for Amending 2.2 Legislations Enacted for Amending 
the Tax Laws in the Year 2023the Tax Laws in the Year 2023

Following amendments were passed by the 
Parliament and implemented by IRD during the 
year.

•	 Inland Revenue (Amendment) Act, No. 4 
of 2023

•	 Inland Revenue (Amendment) Act, No. 14 
of 2023

•	 Value Added Tax (Amendment) Act, No. 
32 of 2023

•	 Social Security Contribution Levy 
(Amendment) Act, No. 15 of 2023

•	 Betting and Gaming Levy (Amendment) 
Act, No. 11 of 2023

2.2.1 Amendments to the Inland Revenue 
Act, No. 24 of 2017 (IRA)

In order to implement several tax policy changes 
relating to income tax, two amendment Acts were 
passed by the Parliament during the year 2023.

2.2.1.1 Inland Revenue (Amendment) Act, No. 2.2.1.1 Inland Revenue (Amendment) Act, No. 
4 of 20234 of 2023
The tax policy changes brought by the Inland 
Revenue (Amendment) Act, No. 04 of 2023, 
which was certified by the Hon. Speaker on 08 
May 2023, are as follows:

	➢ General Deductions - Section 10 (2A) of 
the IRA 
Provisions have been introduced to 
discourage transactions by cash while 
encouraging the payments by other means 
through banks and financial institutions.  
Accordingly;
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(a)	 A payment to another person in respect 
of a single transaction or a series of 
single transactions relating to a single 
event that exceeding Rs. 500,000 per 
day, unless such payment is made to the 
other person through a bank account 
(by a cheque/bank draft, or credit/debit 
card, or through an electronic payment 
system) no deduction is allowed in 
the calculation of Income of the payer 
for tax purposes. Also, such amounts 
incurred by such person shall not be 
considered as cost of acquisition of 
an asset for the purposes of the IRA.  
Further, such amounts paid by cash are 
not considered as the “cost of an asset” 
that deductible in calculation of gains 
from the realization of capital assets or 
investment assets or for the purposes 
of allowance for trading stock, capital 
allowances and balancing allowances 
and for other purposes of the IRA. The 
effective date of this provision is 08 
May 2023.

(b) 	 “Single Transaction” means the 
purchase or procurement of any goods or 
services, on a single invoice, receipt or 
statement. “Bank account” means any 
account maintained in a bank or financial 
institution in Sri Lanka. 

(c) 	 These restrictions are not applicable for 
•	 Sri Lanka Government (Departments, 

Ministries, Local Authorities), 
•	 Any undertaking of the Government 

of Sri Lanka, 
•	 Public Corporations,
•	 Banks, 
•	 Financial institutions (as defined in 

Section 195 of the IRA), and 
•	 Classes of persons and payments 

prescribed by the Minister of 
Finance.

	➢ Source of Payments - Section 73 of the IRA- Section 73 of the IRA
In addition to the existing source rules in 
Section 73 of the IRA for payments in respect 
of Employment, a new source rule has 
been introduced and accordingly, payments 
received in respect of employment shall 
have a source in Sri Lanka to the extent such 
payment is derived from a company resident 
and conducting the business in Sri Lanka.

	➢ Tax Payable by Withholding - Section 
84A/85/86 of the IRA
(a) 	 The Commissioner-General shall 

have power to specify the procedure 
of withholding tax from any payment 
made to a non-resident person (outward 
remittances) with effect from 08 May 
2023. In addition to the relevant 
withholding agent who is making the 
payment to a non-resident person, 
financial institution (relevant licensed 
commercial bank or authorized dealer 
who engaged for such payment of 
outward remittances) shall also be 
complied with such procedure. Failure 
to comply with such procedure by any 
financial institution shall be subject to a 
penalty not exceeding Rs. 50,000/-. 

(b) 	 For the purpose of Section 85, 
Government of Sri Lanka shall 
be considered as a “person” 
and accordingly, shall become a 
withholding agent for the purpose 
of deducting withholding tax from 
payments to non-resident persons other 
than a payment derived through a Sri 
Lankan permanent establishment. 

(c) 	 Withholding agents who have deducted 
Advance Income Tax under the 
provisions of Section 84A shall file 
three quarterly statements, in addition 
to the annual statement which shall be 
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filed 30 days after the end of the year of 
assessment (April 30th). Such quarterly 
statements shall be filed within thirty 
days after the end of each three months 
period ending on the thirtieth day of 
June, and September and thirty first 
day of December as specified by the 
Commissioner-General. 

	➢ Opinion of the Secretary to the Treasury 
- Section 100 of the IRA 
The Commissioner-General may, obtain an 
opinion or observation of the Secretary to 
the Treasury on the underlying tax policy 
relating to any tax provision, for the purpose 
of interpretation of such tax provision. 

Information for Tax Policy Decisions 
Notwithstanding the secrecy provisions 
of the IRA, Commissioner-General may 
disclose information to the Director General 
of the Fiscal Policy Department, for the 
purpose of making decisions on the tax 
policy and Government Revenue. 

	➢ Tax Returns - Section 113 of the IRA
Filing of tax returns through the e-Service 
platform (e-Filing) is mandatory for all 
taxpayers from the year of assessment 
commencing on 1 April 2023 (2023/24). 
However, the Commissioner-General may 
authorize to furnish manual tax returns based 
on the just and equitable reasons of taxpayers. 

	➢ Information - Section 123 of the IRA
Following institutions and persons shall 
provide information including financial 
transactions information or shall provide 
access for records under them on a regular 
basis in electronic format, as may be 
prescribed, to the Commissioner-General: 

•	 Registrar General of the Registrar 
General’s Department; 

•	 Registrar General of Companies; 
•	 Commissioner General of Motor 

Traffic; 
•	 Officer of any other Government 

institution in charge of granting 
contracts for the supply of goods, 
works, or consulting and non-
consulting services; 

•	 Financial institutions; 
•	 Stock exchange; and
•	 Any other person or a Government 

institution as may be prescribed by 
regulations. 

	➢ Assessments - Section 135 of the IRA
The Assistant Commissioner may further 
amend the original assessment (after the 
amended assessment) within the time bar 
period (30 months) specified in paragraph (b) 
of subsection (2) of Section 135 of the IRA 
or within one year time from the amended 
assessment.  However, one year time from 
the amended assessment is available only for 
alterations or additions made in the amended 
assessment to the original assessment. 

	➢ Administrative Review - Section 139 of 
the IRA
The Commissioner-General shall notify his 
decision in writing or in electronic means 
for any request for administration review 
within 2 years period of the receipt of such 
request. If not, request shall be deemed to be 
accepted unless the taxpayer appeal to the 
Tax Appeals Commission after seven months 
since the request for administrative review 
was made. This amendment is applicable for 
all requests made on or after 08 May 2023. 

	➢ Income Tax Refunds Procedure - Section 
150 of the IRA
(a) 	 A taxpayer can request to set off 60% 

of the refundable amount against the 
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subsequent income tax payable by him, 
prior to a tax audit (by a tax official) of 
such refund claim. 

(b) 	 Resident individuals are entitled to 
receive their refund claims less than 
Rs. 100,000 within 3 months of the 
claim, prior to a tax audit by a tax 
official. Further, if such individual is 
a senior citizen (as defined in Section 
195 of the IRA), then, he is entitled 
for refund claims in every 3 months 
(ended on June 30th, September 30th, 
December 31st and March 31st) period 
where his claim is less than Rs. 25,000 
subject to same conditions. The manner 
and procedure on Senior Citizens’ 
refunds have been published by the 
Commissioner-General.

	➢ Taxation of Dividends - First Schedule of 
the IRA
(a) 	 Dividend paid by a resident company 

to an individual who is a non-resident 
person during the period from 1 October 
2022 to 31 December 2022, is exempt 
from Income Tax. 

(b)	 Applicable income tax rate for gains 
and profits from dividend (if part of 
taxable income) received or derived by 
residents (whether individuals or any 
entity) during the second six months 
period of the Year of Assessment 
2022/23 is 15%. 

(c) 	 Dividend paid by a resident company 
to an individual to the extent that such 
dividend payment is attributable to, 
or derived from, another dividend 
received by that resident company or 
another resident company, is exempt 
from Income Tax, w.e.f. 1 October 
2022.

	➢ Relief from Penalty or Interest - First 
Schedule of the IRA
If any company who has not paid income tax 
due on gains from realization of investment 
assets at 30% for the period from 01.10.2022 
to 19.12.2022, but pays the due amount of 
tax payable by such company (at 30%), on 
or before 30.06.2023, such company shall 
not be liable to any penalty or interest in 
terms of the provisions of the IRA.

	➢ Income Tax Rate for BOI Companies - 
Second Schedule of the IRA
If ,
(a)   	an enterprise has entered into an 

agreement with the Board of Investment 
of Sri Lanka under section 17 of the 
Board of Investment of Sri Lanka Law, 
No. 4 of 1978 on or after 1 April 2018 
but prior to 1 October 2022; and 

(b)   	such agreement provides for the profits 
and income of that enterprise or any 
dividend paid by that enterprise to be 
fully or partly exempt from income 
tax or to be taxed at a reduced rate of 
income tax, such profit and income of 
such enterprise or such dividend paid 
by such enterprise shall continue to be 
exempt from income tax payable, or 
shall be liable for income tax at the rate 
provided for in such agreement, as the 
case may be.

	➢ Investment Incentives - Second Schedule 
of the IRA
(a) 	 A person who has entered into an 

agreement with the Board of Investment 
of Sri Lanka and invests in the 
expansion of his existing undertaking, 
during any year of assessment shall be 
granted enhanced capital allowances in 
relevant percentage subject to relevant 
Sub paragraph of Paragraph 1 of the 
Second Schedule to the IRA. 
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(b) 	 For the purpose of Paragraph 1 of the 
Second Schedule to the IRA, “existing 
undertaking” is any undertaking 
conducted by a person, prior to the first 
date of investment on depreciable assets; 
“expansion” shall not include transfer, 
purchase or exchange of depreciable 
asset of an existing undertaking of a 
person or an associate of a person, or 
the purchase of depreciable asset to 
replace an existing depreciable asset of 
an undertaking of a person.

	➢ Income Tax Exemptions - Third Schedule 
of the IRA

The following shall be exempt amounts;

(a) 	 Amounts derived by a non-resident 
person from engaging in a project of 
the Government of Sri Lanka, if such 
project is approved by the Minister 
taking into consideration the economic 
benefits to the country, and is totally 
funded from foreign grants 

(b) 	 Gains and profits received or derived 
by an authorized person carrying on 
a Business of Strategic Importance 
as approved under the provisions of 
the Colombo Port City Economic 
Commission Act, No. 11 of 2021 and 
the employment income of an employee 
employed in terms of section 35 of that 
Act, up to the extent provided for in that 
Act for each year of assessment

(c) 	 Gain made by an entity of which more 
than fifty percent of direct or indirect 
membership interest owned by the 
Government of Sri Lanka as a gain 
from the realization of a capital asset 
or liability of the business or realization 
of an investment asset, if such gain 
was made due to any decision by the 

Government of Sri Lanka as being 
essential for the economic development 
of Sri Lanka and subject to the prior 
written approval of the Minister

2.2.1.2 Inland Revenue (Amendment) Act, No. 2.2.1.2 Inland Revenue (Amendment) Act, No. 
14 of 202314 of 2023
The tax policy changes brought by the Inland 
Revenue (Amendment) Act, No. 14 of 2023, 
which was certified by the Hon. Speaker on 08 
September 2023, are as follows:

	➢ Tax rates for Employees’ Trust Funds, 
Provident, Pension or Gratuity Funds and 
Termination Funds - First Schedule of the 
IRA
The taxable income of the Employees’ Trust 
Fund, an approved provident or pension fund, 
or an approved termination fund for any year 
of assessment commencing on or prior to 1 
April 2022 and for the first six months period 
of the year of assessment commencing on 1 
April 2023 shall be taxed at the rate of 14%.

The taxable income of the Employees’ Trust 
Fund, an approved provident or pension 
fund or an approved termination fund for 
the second six months period of the year of 
assessment commencing on 1 April 2023 and 
for each year of assessment commencing on 
or after 1 April 2024, shall be taxed at the 
rate of 14%.

Such part of the gains and profits received 
or derived by the Employees’ Trust Fund, 
an approved provident or pension fund or 
an approved termination fund from treasury 
bonds, for the second six months period of 
the year of assessment commencing on 1 
April 2023 and for each year of assessment 
commencing on or after 1 April 2024, shall be 
taxed at the rate of 30%.

If the Employees’ Trust Fund, an approved 
provident or pension fund or an approved 
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Source: Inland Revenue Department

termination fund has invested in eligible 
bonds, and the Registrar of the Public Debt 
Department of the Central Bank of Sri Lanka 
confirms that any such fund has effectively 
participated in the process of domestic debt 
optimization approved by the Parliament by 
Resolution dated 1 July 2023, such part of the 
gains and profits received or derived by such 
funds from the treasury bonds, for the second 
six months period of the year of assessment 
commencing on 1 April 2023 and for each 
year of assessment commencing on or after 1 
April 2024 shall be taxed at the rate of 14%.

2.2.1.3 Amendments to the Inland Revenue 2.2.1.3 Amendments to the Inland Revenue 
Act, No. 24 of 2017 those were passed by the Act, No. 24 of 2017 those were passed by the 
Parliament before 2023 and implemented w.e.f. Parliament before 2023 and implemented w.e.f. 
20232023

	➢ Tax Payable by Withholding - Section 
83A(1A)/84A/85
Deduction of WHT, AIT and APIT has been 
made mandatory w.e.f. 1 January 2023.

In terms of Section 83A(1A) of the IRA as 
amended, w.e.f. 1 January 2023, an employer 
shall deduct APIT on any payment which 
falls under section 5 made to his employee, 
as specified by the Commissioner-General.

In terms of Section 84A and 85 of the 
IRA as amended, w.e.f. 1 January 2023, a 
person shall deduct WHT/AIT on following 
payments which has a source in Sri Lanka 
except the exempt amounts, at the relevant 
rates.

 

	➢ Changes in Reliefs – Individuals

 Table 2.2 :   Changes in Reliefs - Individuals

Table 2.1 : WHT/ AIT on Certain Payments

Payment

Service fee payments exceeds Rs. 100,000 per 
calendar month to a resident individual who is 
not an employee of the payer with respect to 
following -

(a) 	 For teaching,  lecturing,  examining,  
invigilating or supervising an examination ;

(b) 	 As a commission or brokerage to a resident 
insurance, sales or  canvassing agent; or

(c) 	 For services provided by such individual  
in the capacity of independent service 
provider such as doctor, engineer, 
accountant, lawyer, Software developer, 
researcher, academic or any individual 
service provider as may be prescribed by 
regulation

Interest or discount paid

Rent payments to a resident person (if aggregate 
amount exceeds Rs. 100,000 per calendar 
month)

Charge, natural resource payment or premium

Royalty

Dividend

5%

10% on 
full payment

14%

14%

15%

5% 
on

 full 
payment

Relevant 
WHT Rate (%)

Source: Inland Revenue Department

Year of Assessment (Y/A)

Type of 
Relief

Personal 
Relief for 

Residents or 
Citizens

Expenditure 
relief for 
Residents

First nine-
month period of 
the Y/A 2022/23 

01.04.2022 - 
31.12.2022

Balance three - 
month period of 
the Y/A 2022/23 

01.01.2023 - 
31.03.2023

Y/A 2023/24 
& 

onwards 
01.04.2023

	 Rs. 2,250,000	             Rs. 300,000	 Rs. 1,200,000
	

	 Rs. 900,000	 Not Applicable	 Not
			   Applicable
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	➢ Calculation of Income Tax Payable for 
the Y/A 2022/23
Income tax payable for the Y/A shall be 
calculated separately for two periods on 
the actual basis, but for following cases 
proportionate basis could also be applied. 
Individuals may apportion the business 
income to arrive the taxable income on the 
pro-rata basis at 75:25 to the periods of nine 
month and three months respectively. Other 
than individuals may apportion the business 
income to arrive the taxable income on 
the pro-rata basis at 50:50 to the periods 
of first six month and second six month 
respectively.

	➢ Final Withholding Payments
Dividend declared by a resident company, 
on after 1 January 2023 shall be a final 
withholding payment.

	➢ Income Tax Rates Applicable to 
Individuals (Resident and Non-resident)

Table 2.3 :  Income Tax Rates Applicable to 	
Individuals

	➢ Removal of Exemptions with effect from 
01.04.2023
Gains and profits earned or derived by any 
person from -

i.	 Providing information technology and 
enabled services

ii.	 Any Vocational Education Programmes 
of any Vocational Institution

iii.	 Any business of export of gold, gem 
or jewelry or from the business of 
cutting and polishing of gems which 
are brought to Sri Lanka and exported 
after such cutting and polishing

iv.	 A new undertaking for sale of recycled 
construction materials commenced on 
or after 01.04.2021

v.	 An undertaking for the purpose of 
manufacturing of boats and ships 
(by a resident person) in Sri Lanka 
commenced on or after 01.04.2021

vi.	 Any renewable energy established with 
a capacity to produce not less than one 
hundred Mega Watts of solar or wind 
power and supplied such power to the 
national grid commenced on or after 
01.04.2021

vii.	 From an undertaking (by any resident 
person) to construct and install of 
communication towers and related 
appliances using local labour and 
local raw materials in Sri Lanka or 
to provide required technical services 
for such construction or installation 
commenced on or after 01.01.2021

viii.	 Undertaking for letting bonded 
warehouses or warehouses related to 
offshore business in the Colombo and 
Hambanthota Ports commenced on or 
after 01.04.2021

		 Gains and profits earned or derived 
by any Individual from any business 
commenced on or after 01.04.2021 
upon successful completion of 
vocational education.

Source: Inland Revenue Department

Income Tax Rate

First nine-month
 period of the 
Y/A 2022/23                                          

01.04.2022 - 31.12.2022

Balance three-month 
period of the Y/A 

2022/23                      
01.01.2023 - 31.03.2023

For the Y/A 
2023/24 & 
onwards 

01.04.2023

First Rs.2,250,000  - 6%	 First Rs.125,000 - 6%	 First Rs.500,000   - 6%
Next Rs.2,250,000  - 12%	 Next Rs.125,000  - 12%	 Next Rs.500,000  - 12%
Balance   -    18%	 Next Rs. 125,000  - 18%	 Next Rs.500,000  - 18%
	 Next Rs. 125,000  -  24%	 Next Rs.500,000  - 24%
 	 Next Rs. 125,000  - 30%	 Next Rs.500,000  - 30%
	 Balance   -    36%	 Balance   -    36%



Annual Performance Report - 2023

INLAND REVENUE DEPARTMENT28

Source: Inland Revenue Department

Depreciable Asset	 Basis

Buildings, structures and similar 	 Over 12 years in equal amount
works of a permanent nature. 	

Other depreciable assets 	 Over 3 years in equal amounts

	➢ Deduction Rules of the IRA
i.	 Additional 100% deduction of Marketing 

and Communication Expenditure 
(granted subject to the provisions of 
the IRA) is not available for the year of 
assessment 2023/24 

ii.	 Improvement expenditure incurred on 
depreciable assets which are having 
zero written down value (fully capital 
allowance granted depreciable assets) 
could be deducted as follows;

Table 2.4 :  Changes to the Deduction Rules                    	
of the IRA
	

	➢ Removal of Concessionary Tax Rates
Concessionary rates applied on gains and 
profits of Individuals have been removed 
with effect from 01.01.2023.
i.	 Consideration received in respect of 

gems and jewellery 

ii.	 Supply of electricity to the national 
grid generated from renewable energy 
resources.

2.2.2 Amendments to the Value Added Tax 
Act, No. 14 of 2002

In order to implement the several tax policy 
changes relating to Value Added Tax, an 
amendment Act was passed by the Parliament 
in the year 2023.

2.2.2.1 Value Added Tax (Amendment) Act, No. 2.2.2.1 Value Added Tax (Amendment) Act, No. 
32 of 202332 of 2023
The tax policy changes brought by the Value 
Added Tax (Amendment) Act, No. 32 of 2023, 
which was certified by the Hon. Speaker on 13 
December 2023, are as follows:

	➢ Exemptions - First Schedule
The PART II of First Schedule to the Value 
Added Tax Act, No. 14 of 2002 as amended 
by the Value Added Tax (Amendment) Act, 
No. 32 of 2023 will be terminated w.e.f. 
31.12.2023. Accordingly, goods and services 
exempted from VAT w.e.f. 01.01.2024 are 
referred to in PART III of First Schedule to 
the Value Added Tax Act, No. 14 of 2002.
Such exempted goods and services are listed 
in annexure 03.

2.2.2.2 Amendments to the Value Added Tax 2.2.2.2 Amendments to the Value Added Tax 
Act, No. 14 of 2002 those were passed by the Act, No. 14 of 2002 those were passed by the 
Parliament before 2023 and implemented w.e.f. Parliament before 2023 and implemented w.e.f. 
2023 2023 

	➢ Removal of Exemptions of VAT
Exemption granted on supply of 
condominium residential accommodation 
by any person has been lifted and made 
liable for VAT w.e.f. 01 January 2023.

2.2.3 Amendments to the Social Security 
Contribution Levy Act, No. 25 of 2022

In order to implement the several tax policy 
changes relating to Social Security Contribution 
Levy, an amendment Act, was passed by the 
Parliament in the year 2023.

2.2.3.1 Social Security Contribution Levy 2.2.3.1 Social Security Contribution Levy 
(Amendment) Act, No. 15 of 2023(Amendment) Act, No. 15 of 2023
The tax policy changes brought by the Social 
Security Contribution Levy (Amendment) Act, 
No. 15 of 2023, which was certified by the Hon. 
Speaker on 08 September 2023, are as follows:

	➢	 New Exemptions - First Schedule of the New Exemptions - First Schedule of the 
SSCL ActSSCL Act
New exemptions have been included to Part 
IA of the First Schedule to the SSCL Act: 
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(a) Any motor vehicle identified under 
Harmonized Commodity Description 
and Coding Numbers for Customs 
purpose and liable to Excise Duty under 
Excise (Special Provisions) Act, No. 13 
of 1989 on the importation

(b) 	 Equipment used by differently abled 
persons

(c) 	 Importation of rough unprocessed gem 
stones for the purpose of re-export upon 
being cut and polished, if the payment 
is received in foreign currency remitted 
to Sri Lanka through a bank

(d) 	 Any article sold at duty free shops

(e)	 Rice manufactured out of locally 
procured paddy

New exemption has been included to Part II of 
the First Schedule to the SSCL Act:

(a) 	 Services provided by any General 
Sales Agent who holds an Air 
Transport Service Licence issued 
under section 97 of the Civil 
Aviation Act, No. 14 of 2010

	➢ Amendment to existing Exemptions - 
First Schedule of SSCL Act
Item 1 of Part II of the First Schedule has 
been amended for the avoidance of doubts 
and to avoid electricity price variations. 
Accordingly, exemption is available for 
generation of electricity and supply of 
electricity other than supply of electricity by 
any person who holds a distribution license 
issued under section 13 of the Sri Lanka 
Electricity Act, No. 20 of 2009. Thus, supply 
of electricity by any person who holds a 
distribution license issued under section 13 
of the Sri Lanka Electricity Act, No. 20 of 
2009 is liable to SSCL.

2.2.4 Amendments to the Betting and Gaming 
Levy Act, No. 40 of 1988

In order to implement the several tax policy 
changes relating to Betting and Gaming Levy, an 
amendment Act, was passed by the Parliament 
in the year 2023.

2.2.4.1 Betting and Gaming Levy (Amendment) 2.2.4.1 Betting and Gaming Levy (Amendment) 
Act, No. 11 of 2023Act, No. 11 of 2023
The tax policy changes brought by the Betting 
and Gaming Levy (Amendment) Act, No. 11 of 
2023, which was certified by the Hon. Speaker 
on 21 August 2023, are as follows:

	➢ Registration - Section 3(1) (1A) and 3(1) (1b)  
(a)	 Person who carries on the business of 

gaming: 

- 	 Every Person who carries on the business 
of gaming who shall be entitled to 
obtain a licence issued Under Section 2 
of Casino Business Regulation Act, No. 
17 of 2010 is required to be registered 
with the IRD within one month from 
the licence issuance 

- 	 Any person, who has obtained such 
licence and has not registered with 
IRD, shall register with IRD within one 
month from 21 August 2023 (prior to 21 
September 2023). 

(b) 	 Person who carries on the business of 
Bookmaker - Every person who carries 
on the business of Bookmaker shall 
register with IRD within one month 
from the date of commencement of the 
business.

- 	 Any person who has commenced the 
business of Bookmaker before 21 
August 2023 has not registered with 
IRD shall register with IRD within one 
month from 21 August 2023 (prior to 
21 September 2023). 
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	➢ Gross Collection Levy on the business 
of bookmaker & business of gaming - 
Section 2(1) (c)
Gross collection levy rate has been increased 
to fifteen per centum (15%) for any year 
commencing from 1 April 2023 on the gross 
collection from the business of bookmaker or 
business of gaming, if such gross collection 
exceeds Rs. 1 million per month. 

	➢ Removal of Social Security Contribution 
Levy (SSCL) - Section 2(1) (e)
Any person who is liable to pay the Gross 
collection levy shall not be liable to pay 
SSCL w.e.f. 21 August 2023. 

	➢ Casino Entrance Levy - Section 2(2) (b)

With effect from 01 April 2023: 
- 		 Every person who carries on the business 

of gaming in Sri Lanka, shall collect 
casino entrance levy of United States 
Dollars fifty (USD 50) or its equivalent in 
any other convertible foreign currency or 
in Sri Lanka currency from person who 
is a citizen of Sri Lanka who enters such 
place of business of gaming physically or 
via internet. 

- 		 Non-Citizens are not subject to casino 
entrance levy 

	➢ Annual Levy on the Business of Gaming - 
Part II of Schedule to the Act
The amount of the levy payable by a person 
carrying on the business of gaming including 
playing Rudjino for every year commencing 
on or after 01 April 2023, is increased to Rs. 
five hundred million (Rs. 500 million).

	➢ Annual Levy on the Business of 
Bookmaker - Part I of Schedule to the Act
The amount of the levy payable by a person 
carrying on the business of a bookmaker for 
every year commencing on or after 01 April 

2023, is amended as set out below. 

a) 	 Annual levy payable by bookmaker 
who conducts the business through an 
agent or via internet with or without the 
use of live telecast facilities has been 
increased to Rs. five million (Rs. 5 
million).

b) 	 Annual levy payable by bookmakers 
who conducts the business with the use of 
live telecast facilities has been increased 
to Rs. one million (Rs. 1 million).

c) 	 Annual levy payable by bookmakers 
who conducts the business without the 
use of live telecast facilities has been 
increased to Rs. seventy five thousands 
(Rs. 75,000/-).

	➢ Definition of “Bookmaker” 
The Definition of bookmaker has been 
broadened. The “bookmaker” means a 
person who receives or negotiates bets; 

	 (a)   directly or indirectly; 
	 (b)   in cash or on credits; or 
	 (c)   via internet, 

on horse races which are run or are proposed 
to be run or any sport event to be held or 
proposed to be held in Sri Lanka or outside 
Sri Lanka.

2.2.5 Gazette Notices Issued During the Year

Following Gazette notices were issued during 
the year under the Inland Revenue Act, No. 24 
of 2017. and Value Added Tax Act, No.14 of 
2002.

2.2.5.1 Extraordinary Gazette Notification No. 2.2.5.1 Extraordinary Gazette Notification No. 
2334/21 dated 31 May 20232334/21 dated 31 May 2023
By this Gazette Extraordinary published to do 
specify that the additional classes of persons 
required to register under Section 102 of the 
IRA.
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Part - A 
With effect from 1 June 2023; 

i. 	 Practitioners registered with the Sri 
Lanka Medical Council established 
under the Medical Ordinance (Chapter 
105); 

ii. 	 Members of the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants of Sri Lanka established by 
Act, No. 23 of 1959; 

iii.	 Members of the Institute of Certified 
Management Accountants of Sri Lanka 
incorporated by Act, No. 23 of 2009; 

iv. 	 Members of Institute of Engineers of Sri 
Lanka incorporated by Act, No. 17 of 
1968; 

v. 	 Members of Association of Professional 
Bankers, Sri Lanka; 

vi. 	 Members of Sri Lanka Institute of 
Architects incorporated by Sri Lanka 
Institute of Architects Law, No. 01 of 
1976; 

vii. 	Members of Institute of Quantity 
Surveyors of Sri Lanka incorporated by 
Act, No. 20 of 2007; 

viii. Attorneys-at-Law of the Supreme Court 
of Sri Lanka; 

ix. 	 The persons who registered their 
businesses in Divisional Secretariats; 

x. 	 The persons who have vehicles registered 
(other than three wheelers, motor bicycles 
and hand tractors) in Department of 
Motor Traffic; 

xi. 	 The persons who have purchased or 
acquired by virtue of Deeds of Transfer, 
of any immovable property in Sri Lanka 
on or after 1 April 2018; 

xii.	 Employee whose monthly contribution 
from both employee and employer to any 
Provident Fund is more than Rs. 20,000/-

xiii.	Any individual who obtains approval for 
a building plan from a Local Government 
Authority; and 

xiv.	Any other individual who receives 
payment of Rs. 100,000/- per month or 
Rs. 1,200,000/- for twelve months period 
for providing any services in Sri Lanka. 

Part - B 
With effect from 1 January 2024, any individual 
who does not belong to any category in PART 
- A, and: - 

i. 	 Who is at the age of 18 years or more as 
at 31 December 2023, or 

ii. 	 Who attains the age of 18 years on or 
after 1 January 2024, after attaining the 
age of 18 years.

2.2.5.2 Extraordinary Gazette Notification No. 2.2.5.2 Extraordinary Gazette Notification No. 
2316/13 dated 24 January 20232316/13 dated 24 January 2023
By this Gazette Extraordinary published an 
Order to specify matters relating to and the 
manner in which tax is calculated in respect of 
VAT on Financial Services w.e.f. 01.10.2022. 

2.2.5.3 Extraordinary Gazette Notification No. 2.2.5.3 Extraordinary Gazette Notification No. 
2363/22 dated 19 December 20232363/22 dated 19 December 2023
By this Gazette Extraordinary published under 
section 2A of the Value Added Tax Act No. 14 
of 2002, VAT rate has been revised with effect 
from 1 January 2024 as set out below.

Table 2.5 :  Revised VAT Rates w.e.f. 
01.01.2024

Description VAT Rate

(a) Import of goods (Fabrics) Import of fabrics set out in 
the H.S. Code and description specified in Column I and II 
of Schedule of the Extraordinary Gazette Notification No. 
2095/20 dated 1 November 2018

(b) Standard Rate Import and/or supply of goods or supply 
of services, other than import of goods as referred to under 
above paragraph [paragraph (a)]

Zero 
per centum

 (0%)

Eighteen 
per centum 

(18%)

Source: Inland Revenue Department
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Any advance payment making prior to 
01.01.2024 in respect of goods or services 
receivable on or after 01.01.2024 is chargeable 
to VAT at 15%.

Further, VAT Rate applicable on supply of 
financial services remains unchanged at 
Eighteen per centum (18%).

2.3 Approved Charities2.3 Approved Charities

An Approved Charity means any public 
charitable trust or institution as is declared by 
the Minister of Finance by notice published in 
the Gazette Extraordinary to be an approved 
charity for the purposes of Section 1(a) of Fifth 
Schedule of the Inland Revenue Act, No. 24 of 
2017. Donations made by any person in money 
to an approved charity is deductible from such 
person’s assessable income as a qualifying 
payment.

Charitable Institution which is shown in the 
Table 2.6, has been approved by the Minister of 
Finance in the year 2023.

Table 2.6 :  Approvals Granted for 
Charitable 	 Institutions in Year 2023

A full list of Approved Charities as at 31 
December 2023 is given in Annexure 04. 

2.4 Double Tax Avoidance Agreements 2.4 Double Tax Avoidance Agreements 
(DTAA)(DTAA)

The objective and purpose of the Double 
Tax Avoidance Agreements/Double Tax 
Conventions are to eliminate or mitigate the 
incidence of juridical double taxation and 
prevention of fiscal evasion connected with the 
profits and income earned by persons through 
global operations. These treaties are particularly 
important for developing countries as they play 
a great role in attracting foreign investment, 
paving the way to obtain expertise, modern 
technology, employment opportunities etc.

Sri Lanka has entered into Double Tax Avoidance 
Agreements with 46 countries and a multilateral 
treaty (SAARC) as at 31 December 2023. Full 
details of the Double Tax Treaties that Sri Lanka 
has entered into are given in the Annexure 05.

Charitable Institute Date of the 
Gazette

Gazette
Number

Peter Weerasekera Foundation	 2329/18	 24.04.2023

Source: Inland Revenue Department
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3.1 Revenue Collection 3.1 Revenue Collection 

3.1.1 Overview

In examining the revenue performance of any 
tax administration, a comprehensive analysis 
explores into the intricate balance between policy 
objectives, compliance strategies, and economic 
dynamics. This chapter explores the fundamental 
data for evaluating revenue outcomes within the 
context of tax administration. By scrutinizing key 
indicators such as revenue collection efficiency, 
revenue composition, compliance levels, and 
taxpayer behavior, it provides insights into the 
effectiveness of fiscal policies and the resilience 
of revenue systems amidst evolving economic 
landscapes.  Further, such stats illustrate the 
shape of the fiscal health of the country and 
guide for future strategies towards sustainable 
revenue growth.

3.1.2 Total Revenue Collection

The total tax revenue for this year shows a 
significant improvement in both target setting 
and actual achievement compared to the previous 
year. The estimated tax revenue for the year 2023 
was Rs. 1,761.98 billion, but the actual revenue 
collected surpassed expectations, reaching Rs. 
1,842.32 billion, recording an increase of 80.33 
billion with compared to the revenue estimate. 
The achievement rate is approximately 105%. 
This achievement reflects an improving 
economic performance and effective tax 
collection strategies. In contrast, last year's tax 
revenue estimate was considerably lower at Rs. 
1,131.01 billion, with the actual achievement 
falling short at Rs. 1,058.08 billion, resulting in 
a shortfall of Rs. 72.93 billion. The last year’s 
achievement rate was about 93.55% against the 
estimate, which indicates an underperformance 
by 6.45%. When comparing year 2022 and 2023, 
the increase in the revenue estimate from Rs. 

1,131.01 billion last year to Rs. 1,761.98 billion 
this year represents a substantial increase of 
estimate approximately by 55.79%. Moreover, 
the actual revenue collected increased from 
Rs. 1,058.08 billion to Rs. 1,842.32 billion, 
marking a significant year-over-year growth of 
about 74.12%. This percentage-based analysis 
highlights a notable enhancement in tax revenue 
collection and indicate improving economic 
growth and improved tax administration’s 
efficiency.

Table 3.1 depicts the IRD’s revenue performance 
for past ten consecutive years compared to the 
annual revenue estimates.

Table 3.1 :  IRD Revenue Performance 
Compared  to Estimates 2014 to 2023

3.1.2.1 Contribution of the IRD to the Total 3.1.2.1 Contribution of the IRD to the Total 
Government Revenue Government Revenue 
In the year 2023, the government's total revenue 
recorded a significant increase, rising from Rs. 
1.98 trillion in the previous year to Rs. 3.05 
trillion. This represents a substantial growth rate 
of approximately 54.04%, indicating a strong 
performance in revenue generation.
The IRD has also shown a remarkable growth 
in its revenue collection. In the year 2023 the 
revenue collection is Rs. 1.84 trillion, compared 

Source: Inland Revenue Department

Year
Revenue 
Estimate 

(LKR Mn)

IRD Revenue 
Collection 
(LKR Mn)

Collection 
as a % of 
Estimate

	 2023	  1,761,984 	  1,842,315 	 104.56

	 2022	  1,131,012 	  1,058,080 	 93.55

	 2021	  612,615 	  632,831 	 103.30

	 2020	  575,403 	  523,934 	 91.06

	 2019	  1,038,129 	  1,025,319 	 98.77

	 2018	  1,028,265 	  900,348 	 87.56

	 2017	  837,855 	  836,518 	 99.84

	 2016	  573,115 	  641,547 	 111.94

	 2015	  537,050 	  560,422 	 104.35

	 2014	  605,370 	  514,161 	 84.93
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to last year's Rs. 1.06 trillion. This is an increase 
of about 74.12%, which is even higher than the 
government's overall revenue growth. When the 
government total revenue is Rs. 3.05 trillion, the 
IRD’s contribution is Rs. 1.84 trillion, which 
is as a percentage 60.43%. This indicates not 
only a favorable economic environment and 
tax policy changes but also effective strategies 
and operations within the IRD that have put 
efficiently in revenue collection process. This 
exceptional performance should be recognized 
and leveraged to sustain and potentially enhance 
its revenue generation capabilities in the future.

3.1.2.2 Contribution of the IRD to the 3.1.2.2 Contribution of the IRD to the 
Government Tax RevenueGovernment Tax Revenue
In the year 2023, the government’s tax revenue 
is Rs. 2,720.56 billion, where IRD’s contribution 
to the same is Rs. 1,842.32 billion. Meanwhile, 
from the revenue growth point of view, in the 
year 2023 the government's tax revenue has 
been increased from Rs. 1.75 trillion to Rs. 2.72 
trillion, reflecting a growth rate of approximately 
55.36%. The corresponding growth rate of IRD is 
about 74.12%, which is particularly noteworthy 
performance in the year 2023. This exceptional 
increase not only surpasses the government's 
tax revenue growth but also highlights IRD's 
efficiency and effectiveness in tax collection. 
On the other hand, contributing Rs. 1.84 trillion 
to the total government tax revenue of Rs. 2.72 

trillion means the IRD alone is responsible for 
approximately 67.72% of the total tax revenue 
of the government, highlighting its pivotal role 
in the national tax system.  This outstanding 
performance demonstrates robust operational 
strategies and a strong commitment to supporting 
the national economy. It is essential to maintain 
this momentum and continue to enhance its tax 
collection processes, ensuring IRD endure a 
critical driver of fiscal well-being and economic 
stability.

3.1.2.3 Contribution of the IRD to the Gross 3.1.2.3 Contribution of the IRD to the Gross 
Domestic Product (GDP)Domestic Product (GDP)
IRD’s contribution of Rs. 1.84 trillion to 
government revenue collection is a substantial 
figure, especially when considered in the context 
of the country's Gross Domestic Product (at 
current market price) of Rs. 27.63 trillion. This 
means IRD alone accounts for approximately 
6.67% of the total GDP, indicating its significant 
influence and importance in the economic 
landscape.  The growth of 14.82% of GDP at 
current market price in 2023 indicates a healthy 
economic expansion. In this context, IRD’s 
performance is particularly outstanding, with 
a 74.12% increase in its revenue collection and 
contribution to the GDP 6.67% compared to the 
previous year 4.40%. This significant growth 
highlights IRD’s robust performance and its 
increasing role in the national economy. 

Table 3.2 : IRD Contribution to the Total Government Revenue, Govt. Tax Revenue and to the 
GDP to Tax Ratio

Total Govt. 
Tax Revenue
(LKR Mn)

GDP at 
Current 

Market Price
(LKR Mn)

IRD 
Revenue 

Collection
(LKR Mn)

IRD 
Collection to 
Total Govt. 
Revenue  %

IRD 
Collection to 

Govt. Tax 
Revenue %

Tax to GDP 
Ratio of Sri 
Lanka  %

IRD Tax 
Collection 
to GDP  %

Total Govt. 
Revenue

(LKR Mn)

	 2019	 1,890,899	 1,734,925	 15,910,976	 1,025,319	 54.22%	 59.10%	 10.90%	 6.44%

	 2020	 1,367,960	 1,216,542	 15,646,254	 523,934	 38.30%	 43.07%	 7.78%	 3.35%

	 2021	 1,457,071	 1,298,019	 17,612,370	 632,831	 43.43%	 48.75%	 7.37%	 3.59%

	 2022	 1,979,184	 1,751,132	 24,063,762	 1,058,080	 53.46%	 60.42%	 7.28%	 4.40%

	 2023	 3,048,822	 2,720,563	 27,629,665	 1,842,315	 60.43%	 67.72%	 9.84%	 6.67%

Year

Source: Inland Revenue Department & Central Bank of Sri Lanka
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Figure 3.1 :  IRD Contribution to the Government Revenue

Figure 3.2 :  IRD Contribution to the Government Tax Revenue

Source: Inland Revenue Department

Source: Inland Revenue Department
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*Includes revenue estimate of Casino License Fee amounted of  Rs. 500,000,000 and revenue collection of Casino 
License Fee amounted of Rs. 500,000,000

**Other Taxes include Tax on Voluntary Disclosure, Debt Repayment Levy, Stamp Duty, Economic Service Charge, 
Nation Building Tax, Goods & Services Tax, Turnover Tax and National Security Levy

*Other Taxes include  Capital Gain Tax, Betting & Gamimg Levy, Share Transaction Levy, Migrating 
Tax, Tax on Voluntary Disclosure, Debt Repayment Levy, Stamp Duty, Economic Service Charge, 
Nation Building Tax, Goods & Services Tax, Turnover Tax and National Security Levy

Source: Inland Revenue Department

Source: Inland Revenue Department

Table 3.3 :  Total Revenue Collection Tax Type wise - 2023

Type of Tax Revenue Estimate
(LKR)

Revenue 
Collection 

(LKR) 

Collection as a 
Percentage of 

Estimate 

Collection as a
 Percentage of 
Total Revenue

Income Tax	 859,500,000,000	 908,417,651,702	 105.69%	 49.31%

Capital Gain Tax	 4,000,000,000	 2,679,199,097	 66.98%	 0.15%

Value Added Tax	 680,500,000,000	 694,460,229,730	 102.05%	 37.70%

Betting & Gaming Levy*	 6,000,000,000	 7,421,816,561	 123.70%	 0.40%

Share Transaction Levy	 1,980,000,000	 2,477,736,910	 125.14%	 0.13%

Migrating Tax	 4,000,000	 14,350,332	 358.76%	 0.0008%

Social Security Contribution Levy	 210,000,000,000	 216,180,546,555	 102.94%	 11.73%

Other Taxes**	                                       -  	 10,663,585,979	 -	 0.58%

Total Revenue Collection	 1,761,984,000,000	 1,842,315,116,864	 104.56%	 100%

Figure 3.3 :  Total Revenue Collection - 2023
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3.1.2.4 Transfer the Revenue of Stamp Duty and 3.1.2.4 Transfer the Revenue of Stamp Duty and 
Nation Building Tax to the Provincial CouncilsNation Building Tax to the Provincial Councils
In terms of Nation Building Tax (Amendment) 
Act, No. 10 of 2011, and Provincial Councils 
(Transfer of Stamp Duty) Act, No. 13 of 2011, 
the Nation Building Tax and Stamp Duty 
collected by the IRD required to be transferred 
to Provincial councils as follows:

Nation Building Tax	 33.33% of the total		
	 collection

Stamp Duty                    100% of the total 
	 collection

Table 3.4 shows the total revenue collection 
and the amount transferred to the Provincial 
Councils of respective taxes.

Table 3.4 :  Transfer of Tax Revenue to 	
Provincial Councils - 2023

*The amount actually remitted to the Provincial Councils during 
the year is shown.

3.1.2.5 Income Tax Collection3.1.2.5 Income Tax Collection
The IRD has demonstrated a commendable 
performance this year in terms of Income Tax 
collection. In the year 2023, the estimated 
Income Tax was set at Rs. 859.50 billion, a 
significant increase from last year's estimate of 
Rs. 553.0 billion. Despite the higher target, the 
actual collection exceeded the estimate, reaching 
Rs. 908.42 billion.  Accordingly, the actual 
collection this year is Rs. 48.92 billion more 
than the estimate, reflecting a 5.69% surplus 
over the target (Rs. 908.42 billion collected vs. 
Rs. 859.50 billion estimated).  Compared to last 
year's actual collection of Rs. 524.53 billion, this 
year's collection of Rs. 908.42 billion represents 
an impressive increase of Rs. 383.89 billion, 

which translates to a 73.19% year-over-year 
growth in Income Tax revenue.  These numbers 
clearly indicate an exceptional improvement 
in the efficiency and effectiveness of the tax 
administration. Achieving and surpassing a 
substantially higher target not only highlights 
the robustness of the current tax policies and 
enforcement mechanisms but also showcases 
the department’s capacity to adapt and enhance 
revenue collection efforts significantly.

Corporate and Non-Corporate Income Tax 
collection
It has achieved remarkable success in Income 
Tax collection this year with notable increases 
in both corporate and non-corporate Income 
Tax revenues. In the year 2023, total income 
tax collection was bolstered by significant 
policy changes, including the reduction of the 
liable threshold, adjustments to tax brackets, 
and the re-introduction of the Advance Income 
Tax (AIT) (previously known as WHT) scheme 
and Advance Personal Income Tax (APIT) 
(previously known as PAYE) scheme. Despite 
the complexity introduced by applying the 
previous tax law for first nine months and the 
new changes for last three months of the year of 
assessment, the IRD has shown a commendable 
performance.  

In the year, Corporate Income Tax collection 
reached Rs. 557.02 billion, compared to Rs. 
455.16 billion last year.  This represents an 
increase of Rs. 101.86 billion, that is 22.38% 
growth year-over-year.  Non-Corporate Income 
Tax collection in the year is Rs. 351.40 billion, 
a significant increase from Rs. 69.38 billion last 
year.  This amounts to an increase of Rs. 282.02 
billion, translating to an extraordinary 406.51% 
growth year-over-year.  The re-introduction 
of the AIT and APIT Schemes, along with the 
policy changes such as reducing the liable 
threshold and adjusting tax brackets, played a 

Year
Total 

Collection 
(LKR)

Amount 
Transferred to 

Provincial 
Councils (LKR)

%

Nation Building Tax	 359,346,825	  31,265,050*	 33.33%

Stamp Duty	 10,009,406,030 	 10,009,406,030	 100%

Source: Inland Revenue Department
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Table 3.5 :  Corporate & Non-Corporate Income Tax Collection

* Includes Dividends Tax of Rs. 47 Mn in 2023 & Rs. 251 Mn in 2022
**Includes WHT and Income Tax paid by employees under Advance Personal Income Tax (APIT) Scheme 

Source: Inland Revenue Department

Source: Inland Revenue Department

Figure 3.4 : Corporate and Non-Corporate Income Tax Collection Ratio 2023 & 2022

Tax Collection 
(LKR)

Tax Collection 
(LKR)% %

Corporate*	 557,018,961,826    	 61%	 455,157,793,291	 87%

Non-Corporate**	 351,398,689,876	 39%	 69,376,004,290 	 13%

Total	    908,417,651,702 	   100%	 524,533,797,581 	 100%

2023	 2022

crucial role in boosting non-corporate income 
tax collections.

The tax policy changes have led to change the 
proportion of corporate tax to non-corporate tax 
from 87:13 into 61:39 allowing the corporate 
sector expansions.

These achievements are particularly impressive 
given the complexities introduced by the tax 
law changes. Especially, the requirement to 
apply the previous law for nine months and 
the new changes for three months likely posed 
challenges in administration and compliance. 
However, the substantial increases in both 
corporate and non-corporate tax revenues 

indicate that the administration successfully 
navigated these challenges.

Overall, the IRD’s performance this year reflects 
a strong capability to implement complex policy 
changes and achieve substantial revenue growth. 
These achievements contribute significantly to 
the government's fiscal stability and underscore 
the administration's crucial role in managing 
and enhancing the tax system effectively.

The table 3.5 depicts the composition and 
comparison of Corporate Tax & Non-corporate 
income tax in the year 2022 and 2023. 
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Table 3.6 :  Value Added Tax Gross Collection and Refunds

Source: Inland Revenue Department

Source: Inland Revenue Department

Figure 3.5 : Sector Wise Value Added Tax Collection

3.1.2.6 Value Added Tax (VAT) Collection3.1.2.6 Value Added Tax (VAT) Collection
As far as Value Added Tax (VAT) is concerned, 
it has shown remarkable efficiency in VAT 
collection in the year, successfully meeting 
and surpassing its targets. For the year 2023, 
the VAT estimate was set at Rs. 680.50 billion, 
considerably higher than last year's estimate of 
Rs. 533.0 billion. Despite this challenging target, 
the actual net VAT collection (after deducting 
refunds) amounted to Rs. 694.46 billion.  The 
actual net VAT collection exceeded the estimate 
by Rs. 13.96 billion, resulting in a 2.05% surplus 
over the target (Rs. 694.46 billion collected vs. 
Rs. 680.50 billion estimated).  Compared to last 
year's actual collection of Rs. 463.07 billion, this 

year's collection of Rs. 694.46 billion represents 
an increase of Rs. 231.38 billion, translating to a 
significant 49.97% year-over-year growth in VAT 
revenue.

The achievement of surpassing a higher target 
highlights the effectiveness of current VAT 
policies and collection strategies. Further, these 
achievements are particularly notable given 
the context of tax rate changes during the year. 
Implementing policy-level changes can often 
lead to uncertainty and adjustments in taxpayer 
behavior, but the department’s ability to not 
only meet but exceed the higher target indicates 
effective policy implementation and robust 
collection mechanisms.

Sector  Gross 
Collection

 (LKR)

 Gross 
Collection

 (LKR)

 Refunds 
(LKR)

 Refunds 
(LKR)

 Net Collection 
(LKR)

 Net Collection 
(LKR)

 Manufacturing 	 180,564,694,200	 660,201,133	 179,904,493,067	 112,814,295,865	 673,522,064	 112,140,773,801

 Non-Manufacturing 	 289,202,932,959 	 - 	 289,202,932,959 	 179,478,446,933 	 - 	 179,478,446,933 

     Non-Financial Service	 200,674,146,441	 - 	 200,674,146,441	 116,010,177,196	 - 	 116,010,177,196

     Financial Service 	 88,528,786,518	 - 	 88,528,786,518	 63,468,269,737	 - 	 63,468,269,737

 Imports 	 225,401,273,133	 48,469,429	 225,352,803,704	 171,478,020,566	 25,581,768	 171,452,438,798

 Total 	  695,168,900,292	 708,670,562	 694,460,229,730	 463,770,763,364 	  699,103,832	 463,071,659,532

2023	 2022

VAT manufacturing sector collection recorded 
0.65% to the GDP while non-manufacturing 
sector revenue recorded 1.05% and imports 
sector recorded 0.82% for the GDP during the 

year. Table 3.7 shows the VAT on sector wise net 
collection of Value Added Tax and percentage 
of VAT collection to GDP which is illustrated in 
Figure 3.6.
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Table 3.7 :  Sector Wise Analysis of VAT Contribution to GDP

Sector 
Percentage of VAT Collection to GDP

% % Net Collection 
(LKR)

 Net Collection 
(LKR)

Manufacturing Sector 	 179,904,493,067	 25.91%	 112,140,773,801	 24.22%	 0.65%	 0.47%	 0.23%	 0.27%	 0.54%

Non-manufacturing Sector 	 289,202,932,959	 41.64%	 179,478,446,933	 38.76%	 1.05%	 0.75%	 0.83%	 0.67%	 1.19%

On Imports	 225,352,803,704	 32.45%	 171,452,438,798	 37.03%	 0.82%	 0.71%	 0.70%	 0.56%	 1.07%

Total	 694,460,229,730	 100%	 463,071,659,532	 100%	 2.51%	 1.92%	 1.75%	 1.49%	 2.79%

2023	 2022

	 2023	 2022 	 2021	  2020 	 2019

Source: Inland Revenue Department & Central Bank of Sri Lanka

Source: Inland Revenue Department 

Figure 3.6 :   Sector Wise Analysis of VAT Contribution to GDP

3.1.2.7 Social Security Contribution Levy 3.1.2.7 Social Security Contribution Levy 
(SSCL) Collection(SSCL) Collection
The tax administration has demonstrated 
remarkable efficiency in the collection of the 
Social Security Contribution Levy (SSCL) 
in the year 2023. The SSCL, which was 
implemented in the last quarter of last year, had 
an estimate of Rs. 210 billion for this year. The 
actual collection, however, amounted to Rs. 
216.18 billion, surpassing the target.  The actual 
SSCL collection exceeded the estimate by Rs. 
6.18 billion, resulting in a 2.94% surplus over 

the target (Rs. 216.18 billion collected vs. Rs. 
210 billion estimated).

In a different angle to provide a clearer 
perspective, considering the SSCL was only 
collected for one quarter last year, the average 
quarterly collection was approximately 36.11 
billion. This year, with the levy in effect for 
the entire year, the average quarterly collection 
has risen to approximately 54.05 billion. This 
indicates a growth rate of nearly 49.66% in the 
average quarterly collection, showcasing the 
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Source: Inland Revenue Department 

efficiency and effectiveness of the department's 
implementation and collection processes.

These achievements reflect the IRD’s capability 
to introduce and stabilize new levies swiftly. The 
surplus collection and substantial year-over-
year growth demonstrate effective enforcement 
and compliance mechanisms. The successful 
rollout and collection of the SSCL contribute 
significantly to the social security system, 
providing a robust financial foundation for social 
welfare programs. This performance underlines 
the IRD's role in enhancing the fiscal landscape 
through strategic tax policy implementation and 
efficient revenue collection.

Table 3.8 :  Sector Wise Analysis of SSCL 
Collection

3.1.2.8 Direct Taxes Vs. Indirect Taxes3.1.2.8 Direct Taxes Vs. Indirect Taxes
Direct taxes are imposed directly on individuals 
and organizations, paid directly to the government 
by the person on whom it is levied. Following tax 
types are considered as direct taxes:

	➢ Personal Income Tax:  Levied on individual 
earnings, including wages, salaries, 
dividends, interest, and other income.

	➢ Corporate Tax:  Imposed on business 
profits, calculated after deducting operating 
costs and other allowable expenses.

	➢ Wealth Tax:  Based on the value of owned 
assets, including property, investments, and 
savings.

	➢ Capital Gains Tax:  Applied to profits from 
the sale of assets or investments..

Direct taxes are generally progressive, meaning 
higher income earners pay a larger percentage 
of their income compared to lower income 
earners. They are effective in reducing income 
inequality and ensuring a fair distribution of the 
tax burden.

Indirect taxes are levied on goods and services 
rather than on income or profits. They are 
typically included in the price of the product 
and paid to the government by the seller, who 
passes the tax onto the consumer. Following tax 
types are considered as indirect taxes:

	➢ Value Added Tax (VAT): Applied at each 
stage of production and distribution, with 
the final consumer bearing the ultimate tax 
burden.

	➢ Social Security Contribution Levy 
(SSCL): Charged at the point of sale on 
goods and services.

	➢ Excise Duties: Specific taxes on particular 
goods like alcohol, tobacco, and fuel.

	➢ Customs Duties:  Levied on imported goods 
to protect domestic industries and generate 
revenue.

Indirect taxes are generally regressive, as they 
take a larger percentage of income from lower-
income consumers compared to higher-income 
consumers. However, they are efficient in terms 
of collection and compliance and can be used 
to influence consumer behavior (e.g., taxes on 
tobacco to reduce smoking).

An optimal tax composition balances the 
strengths and weaknesses of both direct and 
indirect taxes to promote economic efficiency, 
equity, and revenue sufficiency.

	➢ Economic Efficiency:  Direct taxes should 
be structured to minimize distortions in 

Tax 
Collection 

(LKR)

Tax 
Collection 

(LKR)

 
%

 
%

Manufacturing Sector	 52,564,896,761	 24.32%	  10,167,031,812	 28.15%

Service Sector	 112,350,531,382	 51.97%	  13,191,134,085	 36.53%

Imports	 51,265,118,412	 23.71%	  12,752,864,609	 35.32%

Total	 216,180,546,555	 100%	 36,111,030,506 	 100%

2023 2022
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labor supply and investment decisions. 
Progressive income taxes can be balanced 
with lower corporate taxes to encourage 
business investment. Indirect taxes should 
be broad-based with minimal exemptions 
to reduce compliance costs and economic 
distortions.

	➢ Equity:  A progressive personal income 
tax system ensures that the tax burden 
is distributed fairly, reducing income 
inequality. Indirect taxes should be designed 
to avoid excessive burden on low-income 
households, possibly through exemptions or 
lower rates on essential goods and services.

	➢ Revenue Sufficiency:  A mix of direct and 
indirect taxes ensures a stable revenue 
stream. While direct taxes provide substantial 
revenue during periods of economic growth, 
indirect taxes offer consistent revenue from 
consumption, which is less volatile.

	➢ Policy Goals:  Indirect taxes can be utilized 
to achieve specific policy objectives, such 
as reducing carbon emissions through 
environmental taxes or discouraging 
unhealthy behaviors through excise taxes on 
harmful products.

In summary, an optimal tax composition 
involves a well-balanced mix of direct and 
indirect taxes. This balance should be carefully 
tailored to achieve economic efficiency, equity, 
and sufficient revenue while supporting broader 
policy goals.

Share of direct tax collection recorded 50.1% in 
2023 for total revenue collection of IRD. Direct 
tax to indirect tax ratio was 50.1:49.9.

3.1.3 Revenue Comparison with Previous Year

Table 3.9 shows the total revenue collection 
in last consecutive three years and revenue 
comparison of year 2023 with 2022. Figure 3.8 

shows the revenue comparison of year 2023 
with 2022. Annexure 06 shows the total revenue 
collection in last consecutive four years.

Table 3.9 : Revenue Comparison of Year 2023 
and 2022

*Other Taxes include Tax on Voluntary Disclosure, Debt 
Repayment Levy, Stamp Duty, Economic Service Charge, 
Nation Building Tax, Goods & Services Tax, Turnover 
Tax and National Security Levy.

Figure 3.7 :  Revenue Comparison of Year 
2023 with 2022

Type of 
Tax

2022 
Revenue 

Collection 
(LKR) 

2023 Revenue 
Collection 

(LKR)

Year-over-
Year 

Increase/
Decrease 
as a %

Income Tax	 524,533,797,581	 908,417,651,702	 73.19%
Capital Gain Tax	 5,315,389,458	 2,679,199,097	 -49.60%
Value Added Tax	 463,071,659,532	 694,460,229,730	 49.97%
Social Security 	
Contribution Levy	
Betting & Gaming	
Levy

Share Transaction	
Levy
Migrating Tax	 10,728,103	 14,350,332	 33.76%
Casino License Fee	 2,000,000,000	 500,000,000	 -75.00%
Other Taxes*	 17,576,879,349	 10,663,585,979	 -39.33%
Total Revenue 	
Collection	

Source: Inland Revenue Department

Source: Inland Revenue Department

1,058,080,103,723	 1,842,315,116,864	 74.12%

	 36,111,030,506	 216,180,546,555 	 498.66%

	 5,244,762,337	 6,921,816,561	 31.98%

	 4,215,856,857	 2,477,736,910	 -41.23%
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Source: Inland Revenue Department

Source: Inland Revenue Department

3.2 Other Key Achievements3.2 Other Key Achievements

3.2.1 Measures Initiated to Strengthen the Revenue Collection

3.2.1.1 Settlement of Tax Appeals3.2.1.1 Settlement of Tax Appeals
During the year, the IRD has settled 1,210 tax appeals received against the assessments issued, and 
the analysis of appeal position is as follows:

Table 3.10 :  Analysis of the Appeals Received and Settled

Table 3.11 :  Number of Registered Taxpsyers

WHTIncome 
Tax PAYE

Balance as at 01.01.2023	 430	 1,030	 4	 66	 2	 -	 -	 -	 1,532

Registered (as per APL 2) during the year	 273	 1,772	 5	 44	 10	 2	 21	 2	 2,129

Settled	 230	 889	 5	 55	 9	 -	 21	 1	 1,210

Submitted for CGIR's hearing	 13	 277	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 290

Rejected/Returned/ Transferred	 7	 18	 -	 1	 -	 -	 -	 -	 26

Balance as at 31.12.2023	 453	 1,618	 4	 54	 3	 2	 -	 1	 2,135

VAT NBT SSCL DRL
Surcharge 

Tax  Total 

3.2.1.2 Increase of Taxpayer Registration3.2.1.2 Increase of Taxpayer Registration
The tax base has widened up to considerable level while compared to the previous year. The number 
of persons registered with the Inland Revenue Department for different taxation purposes, as at the 
end of the year, given as follows.

As at 31.12.2022	 As at 31.12.2023

Income Tax 	  	  	  	  
Corporate	  	  	  	  
Resident Companies / Non-Resident Companies	            73,444 	  	    82,437 	  
Non-Corporate	  	  	  	  
Individuals	         204,467	  	  539,862 	  
Partnerships 	 13,766	  	     14,800 	  
Employees paying Income Tax under Pay-As-You-Earn (PAYE)/    	  	  
Advance Personal Income Tax (APIT) Scheme	  
Total Income Taxpayers	  	 333,313	  	  879,778 
Other Taxpayers	  	  	  	  
Persons registered for Value Added Tax (VAT)	 10,604	  	     13,851 	  
Persons registered for Value Added Tax on Financial Services                            	 258	  	          277 	  
Persons registered for Social Security Contribution Levy                            	 5,422	  	      8,107 	  
Persons registered for Betting & Gamming Levy 	 624	  	         624 	  
Total Other Taxpayers	  	 16,908	  	 22,859 
Employers Registered under PAYE/APIT Scheme            	 34,596	  	     39,617 	  
Withholding/Advance Income Tax (AIT) agents registered for Withholding Tax/ 		   
AIT on Interest
Withholding Tax/ AIT on Specified Fees (Regular Monthly Schedules Senders)	 41,897	  	    44,240 	  
Stamp Duty (Regular Monthly Schedules Senders)	 10,221	  	    10,593 	  
 	  	 87,326	  	    95,221 
Total Number of  Taxpayers Registered	  	 437,547	  	  997,858 

	 612	 771

 	41,636 	 242,679
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3.2.1.3 Outstanding Taxes According to the IRD 3.2.1.3 Outstanding Taxes According to the IRD 
AssessmentsAssessments
When official assessments are issued by tax 
administrations, even in the global context, it is 
common for some taxpayers to appeal against 
these assessments under the provisions of tax 
legislations. IRD can not take collection action 
for such assessments until decisions from tax 
tribunals or higher courts are rendered, making 
the assessments final and conclusive. These 
type of taxes are held over and considered as 
disputed taxes.

The amounts indicated as disputed taxes refer to the 
amounts that are currently under legal contention. 
These taxes are not finalized because the taxpayers 
have appealed against the assessments. The status 
of these taxes remains uncertain until the appeal 
process is completed and the decisions from 
the relevant legal authorities are provided. The 
resolution of disputed taxes can either confirm 
the original assessment, leading to payment, or 

result in adjustments, reducing or nullifying the 
tax liability.
Collectible taxes are those assessments that have 
either not been appealed by the taxpayers or 
have been appealed and the decisions on those 
appeals have been given. However, despite the 
finality of these assessments, the taxes may 
be remained unpaid. These collectible taxes 
represent confirmed liabilities that the IRD 
expects to collect. 

In summary, while disputed taxes represent 
potential revenue that is still under legal review, 
collectible taxes are confirmed amounts due 
for collection. The efficient management and 
resolution of both categories are essential for 
the effective functioning of the IRD.

Table 3.12 shows the gross tax amounts, 
disputed amounts and the amount collectible as 
at 31 December 2023.

Table 3.12 :  Analysis of the Outstanding Taxes as at 31.12.2023

 Tax  Tax  Tax 
Type of Tax Penalty & 

Interest 
Penalty & 
Interest 

Penalty & 
Interest 

Gross Amount 
(LKR '000)

Disputed Amount (Held 
Over Amount) (LKR '000) 

Collectible Amount 
(LKR '000) 

 Income Tax	 359,176,027	 209,098,195	 311,319,089	 179,160,408	 47,856,939	 29,937,787

Surcharge  on Income Tax	 128,716	 84,184	 128,716	 84,184	 -     	  - 

PAYE	 3,294,215	 2,284,451	 1,965,215	 1,484,764	 1,329,000	 799,687

S/C-PAYE	 20,891	 13,613	 20,891	 13,613	  -      	  -

Withholding Tax	 4,157,266	 1,863,595	 4,003,628	 1,795,143	 153,638	 68,452

Value Added Tax	 177,089,493	 171,219,708	 119,602,038	 123,367,592	 57,487,455	 47,852,116

Value Added Tax -  Financial Service	 70,112,999	 36,505,215	 68,661,229	 35,741,456	 1,451,769	 763,759

Economic Service Charge	 5,560,188	 3,322,924	 5,560,188	 3,322,924	  -  	  -   

Nation Building Tax	 5,448,015	 2,795,453	 5,429,600	 2,785,306	 18,415	 10,147

Nation Building Tax -  Financial Service	 2,744,644	 1,361,057	 2,591,739	 1,284,561	 152,905	 76,495

Stamp Duty	 9,733	 4,866	 9,733	 4,866	 - 	  - 

Debit Tax	 2,215,581	         -   	 2,215,581	        - 	 -   	 -   

Turnover Tax	 605,341	 300,595	 605,341	 300,595	    -  	   -   

National Security Levy	 14,601	 4,238	 14,601	 4,238	         -  	    -   

Social Responsibility Levy	 58	                              -   	 58	               -   	        -  	   -   

Debt Repayment Levy	 1,105,361	 586,874	 1,105,361	 545,385	 - 	 41,489
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Betting & Gaming Levy	 3,995,786	 1,567,758	 3,484,140	 1,319,623	 511,646	 248,135

Advance Company Tax	 76	 24	 76	 24	             -   	 -   

Defense Levy	 60,496	 19,971	 60,496	 19,971	          -  	   -   

Compounding Penalty	                                         -   	 16,819	                             -   	 16,819	          - 	   -

Total	 635,739,487	 431,049,538	 526,777,720	 351,251,472	 108,961,767	 79,798,065

Source: Inland Revenue Department

The total collectible taxes and penalties within 
the year was Rs. 188,760 million.

The both amounts indicated in the table 
as disputed and collectible taxes are the 
accumulated amounts up to 31 December 2023. 
The turbulent situations prevailed in the country 
from 2019 too, have been caused to accumulate 
these numbers to such a higher level.  IRD is 
accelerating its utmost efforts to collect past due 
taxes, with specific targets being set. 

3.2.1.4 Productivity Ratio3.2.1.4 Productivity Ratio
The productivity ratio, often calculated as 
the ratio of total tax revenue collected to the 
total expenditure of the IRD, provides a clear 
indication of the efficiency of the IRD in terms 
of revenue generation relative to its spending. 
Following is the detailed analysis of the 
productivity ratio over the three years from 
2021, 2022 and 2023.

2021: Total tax revenue collection was Rs. 
632,830.59 million and total expenditure was 
Rs. 4,577.00 million.  Then the Productivity 
Ratio is 632,830.59/4,577.00 = 138.26.           
                          
2022: Total tax revenue collection was Rs. 
1,058,080.10 million and total expenditure 
was 8,713.10 million. The Productivity 
Ratio is 1,058,080.10/8,713.10 = 121.44. It 
should be noted that the expenditure for 2022 
included payments for Information Technology 
(RAMIS), which incorporates payments related 
to previous years (settlement of overdue invoices 
for RAMIS Vendor in December 2022).

2023: Total tax revenue collection is Rs. 
1,842,315.12 million and total expenditure is 
Rs. 7,539.50 million.  The Productivity Ratio is 
1,842,315.12/7,539.50 = 244.36.               
                
Analysis of Productivity Ratio for past three 
years:

2021: The productivity ratio for 2021 is 
approximately 138.26. The ratio was indicating 
that for every Rs. 1 million spent by the IRD, 
approximately Rs. 138.26 million was collected 
as tax revenue. In other words, in terms of cost 
of collection, the IRD has spent only Rs. 0.72 
(72 cents) to collect Rs. 100 as tax. Despite a 
lower total revenue collection compared to 2022 
and 2023, the lower expenditure resulted in a 
relatively higher productivity ratio compared to 
2022.

2022: The productivity ratio in 2022 is 
approximately 121.44, showing a decrease from 
2021. The ratio was indicating that for every Rs. 
1 million spent by the IRD, approximately Rs. 
121.44 million was collected as tax revenue. In 
other words, in terms of cost of collection, the 
IRD has spent only Rs. 0.82 (82 cents) to collect 
Rs. 100 as tax. This decline is primarily due to 
the high expenditure on Information Technology, 
which included arrears payments from previous 
years. This one-time expenditure impacted the 
overall productivity ratio negatively.

2023: The productivity ratio for 2023 is the 
highest among the three years at approximately 
244.36. The ratio was indicating that for every 
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Rs. 1 million spent by the IRD, approximately 
Rs. 244.36 million was collected as tax revenue. 
In other words, in terms of cost of collection, the 
IRD has spent only Rs. 0.41 (41 cents) to collect 
Rs. 100 as tax. This indicates a significant 
improvement in the efficiency of the IRD, with 
a substantial increase in revenue collection 
compared to a relatively modest increase in 
expenditure.

In summary, over the three years, the productivity 
ratio indicates an overall improvement in the 
efficiency of the IRD, especially in 2023. The 
investment in Information Technology in 2022, 
while temporarily reducing the productivity ratio, 
likely contributed to the substantial increase in 
tax revenue collection observed in 2023. This 
trend suggests that strategic investments, even if 
costly in the short term, can enhance the IRD’s 
productivity and revenue generation capabilities 
in the long run.

Table 3.13 :  Revenue Collection, Total Expenditure and Cost of Collection

	 Description	 2021	 2022	 2023

	 Revenue collection
  	  	 Income Tax	      300,544.59 	  524,533.80 	  908,417.65
   		  Capital Gain Tax	             667.88 	      5,315.39 	     2,679.20 
   		  Value Added Tax	      308,213.04 	  463,071.66 	 694,460.23
   		  Tax on Voluntary Disclosure	             174.62 	      3,969.89 	 11.78
   		  Debt Repayment Levy	                 7.57 	           81.80 	      31.37     
 		  Betting and Gaming Levy	          1,939.35 	      5,244.76 	      6,921.82
  	  	 Share Transaction Levy	          6,964.48 	      4,215.86 	      2,477.74
   		  Migrating Tax	               17.03 	           10.73 	           14.35
  	  	 Stamp Duty	        12,949.84 	    12,719.61 	    10,009.41
   		  Economic Service Charge	             728.11 	         201.75 	 246.68
  		   Nation Building Tax	             599.13 	         585.05 	 359.35
   		  Goods & Services Tax	                 0.24 	                   -   	    0.24
  		   Turnover Tax	               18.74 	             7.47 	 3.89
   		  National Security Levy	                 0.32 	           11.31 	          0.88 
   		  Construction Industry Guarantee	                
   		  Fund Levy
  		  Remittance Fee	                 5.21 	                   -   	    -
  		  Social Security Contribution Levy	 - 	    36,111.03 	 216,180.55   
  		  Casino License Fee	 - 	      2,000.00 	      500.00
	 Total Collection	     632,830.59 	 1,058,080.10 	 1,842,315.12
	 Expenditure  
	 Recurrent Expenditure 
   		  Emoluments	          2,707.27 	        2,994.54 	        2,999.20
  		  Travelling	                 2.62 	               3.64 	           4.16    
   		  Supplies and Equipment	             136.34 	           219.11 	 237.48
   		  Maintenance and repairs	             183.54 	           203.79 	           338.27

LKR Mn

 	 0.42 	                  -   	 -
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   	 Contracted Services	             584.13 	           625.17 	 816.28
  	 Transfers	               33.58 	             35.32 	            31.80 
	 Capital Expenditure                                                                       
   	 Rehabilitation & Improvements	               38.73 	               9.57 	 17.17
  	 Acquisitions	               50.62 	             16.90 	 18.21
   	 Capacity building	               17.01 	             26.74 	 8.80
   	 Investment (RAMIS Project)	             823.16 	        4,578.31 	      3,068.11  
	 Total Expenditure	          4,577.00 	        8,713.10 	      7,539.50  
 
	 Cost of Collection per 100/-  	 0.72	 0.82	 0.41
	 Cost of Collection per 100/-, excluding 	
	 VAT, NBT, ESC and SSCL on imports
      Productivity Ratio	 138.26	 121.44	 244.36

Source: Inland Revenue Department

3.3 Challenges and Future Goals of IRD3.3 Challenges and Future Goals of IRD

3.3.1 Challenges

3.3.1.1 Informal Economy 3.3.1.1 Informal Economy 
The informal economy, comprising unregulated 
and untaxed economic activities, presents a 
significant challenge to the tax administrations 
of developing nations. It undermines the 
government's revenue base, distorts competition, 
and impedes economic growth. Participants 
in the informal economy often operate outside 
the legal and regulatory frameworks, making it 
difficult for tax administrations to monitor and 
collect taxes.

The above is really a challenge for IRD as well.  
As far as the circumstances are concerned; in 
order to address this issue, it requires to take 
several steps to reduce the size of the informal 
economy, gradually.  Firstly, simplification of tax 
systems - Simplifying tax laws can encourage 
businesses to formalize. Complex tax systems 
can be a deterrent, so streamlining tax laws and 
reducing compliance costs can help integrate 
informal businesses into the formal economy. 
Secondly, digitalization - Implementing digital 
tools for tax registration and payment can 

enhance efficiency and transparency. Mobile 
payment systems and online platforms can 
make it easier for businesses to comply with 
tax obligations. Thirdly, public awareness and 
education - Educating business owners and 
the public about the benefits of formalization, 
including legal protections and access to financial 
services, can help shift attitudes and behaviors.  
Finally, improving enforcement mechanisms 
- Strengthening enforcement through better 
coordination among government agencies and 
employing data analytics to identify informal 
activities can enhance tax compliance and get the 
informal sector in to the formal sector, gradually.

3.3.1.2 Low Tax to GDP Ratio in Sri Lanka 3.3.1.2 Low Tax to GDP Ratio in Sri Lanka 
The current tax revenue to GDP ratio of 9.84% 
in Sri Lanka is significantly below the desired 
level of 15%. Achieving this level over the 
next couple of years requires comprehensive 
and strategic reforms to enhance tax collection, 
broaden the tax base, and increase compliance. 
In order to achieve these goals, it is required to 
take measures from policy perspective as well 
as from the tax administration perspective. 
From the policy perspective, strengthening 
progressive tax measures to ensure higher income 

	 0.90	 1.00	 0.48
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groups contribute their fair share, and reviewing 
and rationalizing current tax exemptions and 
incentives to ensure they are targeted and 
effective in promoting economic growth without 
eroding the tax base, are the measures to be 
taken. From the tax administration perspective, 
steps to simplifying registration processes, 
use of technology to identify non-compliant 
taxpayers through data analytics and improve 
enforcement mechanisms to reduce tax evasion, 
simplifying tax filing procedures and provide 
better support, enhance taxpayer education to 
encourage voluntary compliance, investing 
in digital infrastructure for tax administration 
including real-time data collection to improve 
efficiency and reduce corruption, and training 
the tax officials and provide them with the 
necessary tools and resources to effectively 
manage and enforce tax laws, are the measures 
to be taken, timely.

3.3.1.3 Direct Tax to Indirect Tax Ratio 3.3.1.3 Direct Tax to Indirect Tax Ratio 
The current direct tax to indirect tax ratio of 
50.1% to 49.9% in the year 2023 indicates a 
balanced but modest reliance on both types of 
taxes. To shift this ratio to 60:40 in favor of 
direct taxes over the next couple of years, policy 
directions should focus on enhancing direct 
tax revenues while maintaining a stable and 
efficient indirect tax system. For this purpose, 
it is required to pay attention on tax policy 
formulation aiming to:

	➢ Enhance Progressive Taxation: : Increase 
the progressivity of the income tax system 
by introducing higher tax brackets for high-
income earners and ensuring that wealthier 
individuals contribute a fairer share of taxes.

	➢ Broaden the Personal Income Tax Base: 
Reduce exemptions and deductions, and 
improve the identification and taxation of 
high-wealth individuals and professionals.  

	➢ Corporate Tax Reforms: Ensure corporate 
tax rates are competitive yet sufficient to 
generate adequate revenue. Close loopholes 
and enhance measures to prevent profit 
shifting and tax avoidance by multinational 
corporations.

	➢ Capital Gains and Wealth Taxes: 
Implement or enhance taxes on capital gains, 
dividends, and wealth to increase direct tax 
revenues.

	➢ Efficient VAT System:  Ensure the Value 
Added Tax system remains efficient, broad-
based, and minimizes exemptions. Avoid 
increasing VAT rates significantly to prevent 
a disproportionate burden on lower-income 
households.

	➢ Regular Policy Review: Continuously 
monitor the effectiveness of tax policies 
and make necessary adjustments based 
on economic conditions and revenue 
performance.

By following these policy directions, the 
government can gradually increase the 
proportion of direct taxes in the total tax revenue 
mix, achieving the desired 60:40 ratio over the 
next couple of years while ensuring sustainable 
and equitable economic growth.

3.3.2 Future Goals

Typically, tax administrations globally 
are focusing on several strategic goals to 
enhance their effectiveness, efficiency, and 
environmental sustainability. These goals 
include increasing the tax base, improving tax 
compliance, boosting tax revenue to achieve 
desired tax-to-GDP ratios, and maximizing 
e-Service consumption to support a paperless 
administration.  Accordingly, the IRD too has 
set several future goals.
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3.3.2.1 Increasing the Tax Base3.3.2.1 Increasing the Tax Base
One of the main future goals of the IRD is to 
expand the number of taxpayers to ensure a 
broader and more equitable distribution of the 
tax burden across the society.

For achieving this future goal, the IRD needs to 
follow appropriate strategies, such as:

	➢ Using Data Analytics:  Utilizing data mining 
and analytics to identify potential taxpayers 
who are currently outside the tax net.

	➢ Public Awareness Campaigns: Conducting 
education and awareness campaigns to 
inform citizens about their tax obligations 
and the benefits of tax compliance.

	➢ Simplification of Tax Processes: 
Streamlining tax filing processes to make 
it easier for individuals and businesses to 
register and file taxes.

	➢ Incentives for Formalization: Providing 
incentives for businesses operating in the 
informal sector to formalize their operations, 
such as offering tax holidays or reduced rates 
for a limited period.

3.3.2.2 Increasing the Level of Tax Compliance3.3.2.2 Increasing the Level of Tax Compliance
Another important future goal of the IRD is to 
ensure that existing taxpayers adhere to tax laws 
and pay their due taxes accurately and timely.

For achieving this future goal, the IRD should 
follow the strategies, such as:

	➢ Enhanced Enforcement Measures:  
Implementing stricter penalties for non-
compliance and strengthen audit and 
investigation capabilities.

	➢ Taxpayer Services: Improving taxpayer 
services to assist with compliance, such as 
providing clear guidance, helplines, and 
responsive customer service.

	➢ Technology Integration: Utilizing 
technology for real-time tracking of 
transactions and automated compliance 
checks.

	➢ Collaboration with Other Agencies: 
Working closely with financial institutions 
and other government bodies to cross-verify 
data and detect discrepancies.

3.3.2.3 Increasing Tax Revenue to Achieve the 3.3.2.3 Increasing Tax Revenue to Achieve the 
Required Tax to GDP RatioRequired Tax to GDP Ratio
One of the crucial future goals of the government 
and the IRD is to enhance tax revenue collection 
to meet the desired tax-to-GDP ratio, ensuring 
sufficient funding for public services and 
infrastructure. For that, the tax base and 
compliance levels should be broadened.

For achieving this significant future goal, it 
requires to follow strategies such as:

	➢ Progressive Tax Policies: Adopting 
progressive tax policies that ensure higher 
contributions from those with greater ability 
to pay.

	➢ Economic Growth Initiatives: Through 
gradually increasing tax revenue will make 
the government able to launch economic 
growth initiatives that increase income and 
consumption, thereby expanding the tax 
base indirectly. The cyclic impact of this 
expansion of economic activities ultimately 
increases the tax revenue while increasing 
economic development.  

	➢ Efficient Tax Administration: Reducing 
administrative costs and increase efficiency 
in tax collection through better resource 
management and technological adoption.
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3.3.2.4 Maximizing e-Service Consumption for 3.3.2.4 Maximizing e-Service Consumption for 
a Paperless Tax Administrationa Paperless Tax Administration
The long-term future goal of the IRD is 
transition to a fully digital tax administration to 
enhance efficiency, reduce costs, and promote 
environmental sustainability.

In order to achieve this long-term future goal, 
IRD would use the following strategies:

	➢ Digital Platforms: Developing and 
maintaining robust online platforms for all 
end-to-end tax-related services. 

	➢ Mobile Applications: Creating mobile 
applications to facilitate easy access to tax 
services on-the-go.

	➢ Automation of Processes: Automating 
repetitive tasks and processes to reduce 
human intervention and minimize errors.

	➢ Cyber Security Measures:  Implementing 
strong cybersecurity measures to protect 
taxpayer data and ensure the integrity of 
digital transactions.

	➢ Promotion and Training: Conduct 
campaigns to promote the use of e-Services 
and provide training to taxpayers to ensure 
they are comfortable using digital platforms.

Achieving these future goals requires a 
multifaceted approach involving legislative 
reforms, technological advancements, 
public engagement, and robust enforcement 
mechanisms. By strategically focusing on 
these areas, the IRD can significantly enhance 
its efficiency, compliance rates, and overall 
contribution to economic stability and growth, 
ultimately leading to a more robust, modern tax 
administration.
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4.1 Introduction4.1 Introduction

Tax compliance and enforcement are fundamental 
components for a well-functioning tax system. 
Effective tax compliance and enforcement 
strategies are essential for maximizing revenue 
collection, promoting fairness, and maintaining 
public trust in the tax system ensuring the rule 
of law.

Tax compliance refers to the adherence of 
taxpayers to tax laws and regulations, voluntarily. 
This involves obtaining registration with tax 
administration if liable for taxes, timely filing 
of tax returns, accurate reporting of income and 
proper calculation of taxes payable, and prompt 
payment of any tax liabilities. Compliance is 
influenced by several factors, including the 
complexity of tax laws, taxpayer awareness and 
education, perceived fairness of the tax system, 
and the likelihood of detection and deterrent 
treatments for non-compliance.

Tax enforcement involves the actions taken by 
tax administrations to ensure compliance with tax 
laws. This includes identifying and addressing 
non-compliance through identifying non-filers, 
tax audits, investigations, penalties, and legal 
actions. Effective enforcement mechanism 
deters tax evasion and fraud, thereby protecting 
the integrity of the tax system and ensuring that 
everyone pays their fair share. 

The relationship between tax compliance and 
enforcement is dynamic and interdependent. 
Strong enforcement measures can deter non-
compliance, while high levels of voluntary 
compliance can reduce the need for extensive 
enforcement efforts. A balanced approach that 
emphasizes both education and enforcement is 
crucial for achieving optimal outcomes.

In order to ensure better tax compliance, it 
is required to have a system for stakeholder 
engagement. In other words, involving 

taxpayers, chambers and trade associations, 
professional associations, and other stakeholders 
in the development and implementation of tax 
policies, would ensure a better tax compliance 
instead of resistance and non-compliance.  

Achieving high levels of tax compliance requires 
a multifaceted approach. Therefore, IRD’s future 
directions in tax compliance and enforcement 
include providing clear guidance and support to 
taxpayers, simplify tax procedures, and foster a 
culture of voluntary compliance. Additionally, it 
intends greater use of modern technology, data 
analytics for identifying and addressing areas 
of non-compliance, enhanced international 
cooperation, and the development of more 
sophisticated risk assessment models. The 
IRD is moving to conducting audits based on 
risk assessments to focus on areas with higher 
chances of non-compliance. By leveraging these 
advancements, the IRD expects to improve 
its efficiency and effectiveness in ensuring 
compliance and enforcing tax laws.

This chapter aims to provide a comprehensive 
understanding of the actions taken by the IRD 
during the year 2023 in relation to the tax 
compliance and enforcement.

4.2 Awareness Programs Conducted 4.2 Awareness Programs Conducted 
for Taxpayers, Tax Professionals and for Taxpayers, Tax Professionals and 
General PublicGeneral Public

The IRD organized awareness programs for 
taxpayers, tax professionals and general public 
during the year 2023. These programs mainly 
focused on delivering knowledge about changes 
of tax law and return filing through e-Service. 
The programs were conducted via online and 
physically.  Recordings of the programs were 
shared through social media.

Related subject areas of the awareness programs 
which were conducted through social media and 
official website are as follows.
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1.	 New Tax amendments on Advance 
Personal Income Tax (Sinhala & English 
medium)

2.	 New Tax amendments on Withholding 
Tax (Sinhala & English medium)

3.	 Social Security Contribution Levy 
(Sinhala & English medium)

4.	 Value Added Tax Return & Schedule 
filing

5.	 Withholding Tax Return filing for the 
Y/A 2022/23 (Sinhala, Tamil & English 
medium)

6.	 Advance Personal Income Tax Return 
filing for the Y/A 2022/23 (Sinhala, Tamil 
& English medium)

7.	 Statement of Estimated Tax Return filing 
for the Y/A 2023/24 (Sinhala, English 
medium)

8.	 Online Payment
9.	 Individual Income Tax Return filing 

for the Y/A 2022/23 (Sinhala, Tamil & 
English medium)

10.	 Partnership Income Tax Return filing 
for the Y/A 2022/23 (Sinhala & English 
medium)

11.	 e-Filing - Individual Income Tax Return 
filing for the Y/A 2022/23

Taxpayers, audit firms, tax consultants, employers 
and employees, government accountants and all 
other stakeholders who interested in the subject 
were the target groups in above mentioned 
awareness programs. 
Within the year the IRD educated 55,926 
persons with the aim of educating the general 
public using limited resources under the public 
expenditure curtailing regulations. The details 
of the awareness programs conducted in the year 
2023 are shown in Annexure 07 and summary of 
the awareness programs are shown in Table 4.1.

Table 4.1 :  Summary of Awareness Programs

4.3 Return Filing Compliance4.3 Return Filing Compliance

During the year 2023, Income Tax return filing 
for the year of assessment 2022/23, monthly 
and quarterly Value Added Tax Return filing, 
Annual Advance Income Tax return filing for 
Y/A 2022/23, Annual Advance Personal Income 
Tax Statement filing for Y/A 2022/23 etc., were 
due on stipulated dates specified in respective 
laws.  Amidst number of awareness programmes 
organized by the IRD, an acceptable filing 
compliance rates were observed during the year. 
Return filing numbers for each tax types are 
separately elaborated below. 

4.3.1 Return Filing of Corporate Tax for 4.3.1 Return Filing of Corporate Tax for 
2022/232022/23

It should be noted that corporate income tax 
(CIT) returns filing compliance rates on due 
dates and after one month from the due date 
were in a backdrop of the tax law changes that 
made rather complexity due to applying two 
sets of rules and rates, for the year of assessment 
2022/23. Accordingly, the corporate sector was 
required to compute their profits for first nine 
months and last three months separately and 
declare in the respective schedule to the income 
tax return.  As it was compulsory for corporate 
taxpayers to do electronic filing for this year 
of assessment, even though they were required 
to compute profits separately for two periods, 
the RAMIS facilitated the computation of tax 
payable for whole year under the given rules. 

During the year, the percentage of CIT returns 
filing on the due date was 23% and within 
one month from the due date was 34% for 
all corporate taxpayers. In the case of large 
taxpayers, those who are contributing major 
portion of total income tax revenue, it was 60% 
on the due date and 94% within one month from 
the due date. The other corporate taxpayers, it 

No. of Programs No. of Participants

	 73	 55,926

Source: Inland Revenue Department
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was 22% on the due date and 33% within one 
month from the due date.  

The corporate return filing in the previous year, 
it was 32% on due date and 34% after one month 
from the due date. When compared the corporate 
return filing this year with the last year rates, 
it shows a decline by approximately 9%.  This 
may be due to the impact of complexity arose 
by applying two sets of rates and regulations for 

the year of assessment 2022/23. However, the 
large taxpayers those who contributes the larger 
portion of the income tax revenue, the return 
filing rates were in a satisfactory level.

Table 4.2 shows the return filing numbers and 
compliance rates on due date and compliance 
within one month from the due date for CIT 
returns in 2023. As it is mandatory, all the 
corporate return filing is through e-Filing.

Source: Inland Revenue Department

4.3.2 Return Filing of Individual Income Tax 
and Partnership Income Tax for 2022/23

It should be noted that for IIT too had to 
declare the income, profits, tax credits and other 
allowances separately for first nine months and 
last three months of the year of assessment 
2022/23 separately creating a complexity.  Also, 
there were two sets of progressive tax rates 
applicable for nine months and three months 
along with two different pro-rata tax free 
allowances.  Accordingly, the individual income 
taxpayers were required to compute their profits 
for first nine months and last three months 
separately and declare in the respective cages 
in the schedule to the income tax return.  The 
IRD provided a separate schedule to the income 
tax return for addressing this complexity, while 
RAMIS facilitated the electronic filers in the 
computation of tax payable for whole year 
under the given rules.  

During the year, the percentage of filling IIT 
returns on the due date was 25% and within 
one month from the due date was 37%. In the 
previous year, i.e. year of assessment 2021/22 
the corresponding filing rates were 33% and 
38%, respectively.  This decrease in individual 
return filing rates might be due to the impact 
on complexity arose applying two different sets 
of rates, tax slabs, tax credits, and thresholds.   
However, the partnership return filing shows 
a better picture as it was not affected by law 
changes. During the year, the percentage of 
filing of PIT returns on the due date was 27% 
and within one month from the due date, it had 
increased to 37%.

Table 4.3 shows the return filing numbers and 
compliance rates on due date and within one 
month from the due date for IIT and PIT returns 
for 2022/23.

Number 
of Returns 

Filed 
On-time

Number of 
Returns Filed 

within One 
Month from 
the Due Date

Number 
of Returns 
Expected to 

be Filed

Compliance 
Rate on 

Due Date as 
a %

Compliance 
Rate within 
One Month 

from the Due 
Date as a %

Large Corporate Taxpayers (LTUs)	 375	 583	 620	 60% 	 94%
Other Corporate Taxpayers	 17,054	 25,493	 76,227	 22%	 33%
Total	 17,429	 26,076	 76,847	 23%	 34%

Table 4.2 :  e-Filing of Corporate Income Tax for 2022/23
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Table 4.3 :  Return Filing of IIT and PIT Returns for 2022/23

Table 4.4 :  Table 4.4: Filing of APIT and AIT Returns in 2023

Number 
of Returns 

Filed 
On-time

Number of 
Returns Filed 

within One 
Month from 
the Due Date

Number 
of Returns 
Expected to 

be Filed

Compliance 
on Due 

Date as a %

Compliance 
within One 
Month from 
the Due Date 

as a %

IIT -  e-Filing	 23,709	 30,303	 222,761	 11%	 14%
IIT -  Manual Filing	 32,001	 51,734	 222,761	 14%	 23%
IIT -  Total Filing	 55,710	 82,037	 222,761	 25%	 37%
PIT -  e-Filing	 1,576	 1,964	 14,165	 11%	 14%
PIT -  Manual Filing 	 2,313	 3,285	 14,165	 16%	 23%
PIT -  Total Filing	 3,889	 5,249	 14,165	 27%	 37%

Tax Type

Number of Returns 
filed On-time

Number of Returns 
Expected to be filed

Compliance 
on Due Date 

as a %
Withholding Tax Type

Source: Inland Revenue Department

4.3.3 Return Filing of APIT and WHT/AIT 
for 2022/23
During the year, the percentage of APIT returns 
filing by whole employers on the due date was 
25%, where the employers in the large taxpay-
er segment it was 91%. The APIT return filing 
rate of employers in the non-large taxpayer 
segment was 24%. However, compared to the 
previous year the overall APIT (then known as 
PAYE) return filing rate of 11%, this year it has 
reported a significant improvement.  

During the year, the rate of Advance Income 
Tax (previously known as WHT) returns filing 
by whole registered taxpayers on the due date 
was 63%, where the taxpayers registered as AIT 
agents in large taxpayers’ segment was 86%. 
Since, the AIT was introduced (re-introducing 
the WHT) during the year 2023, the filing rates 
are in a satisfactory level. 
Below table 4.4 depicts the APIT and AIT return 
filing numbers and compliance rates in segment 
wise in the year 2023.

APIT - Large Taxpayers – e-Filling	 319	 604	 53%
APIT - Large Taxpayers – Manual Filing	 231	 604	 38%
APIT - Large Taxpayers – Total Filing	 550	 604	 91%
APIT - Other Taxpayers – e-Filling	 3,467	 34,179	 10%
APIT - Other Taxpayers – Manual Filing	 4,625	 34,179	 14%
APIT - Other Taxpayers – Total Filing	 8,092	 34,179	 24%
APIT - All Taxpayers – e-Filing	 3,786	 34,783	 11%
APIT - All Taxpayers – Manual Filing	 4,856	 34,783	 14%
APIT - All Taxpayers – Total Filing	 8,642	 34,783	 25%
AIT - Large Taxpayers – e-Filing	 357	 530	 67%
AIT - Large Taxpayers – Manual Filing	 101	 530	 19%
AIT - Large Taxpayers – Total Filing	 458	 530	 86%
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Table 4.5 : On-time Filing of VAT Returns for Large Taxpayers

		 		
Number of 

Returns filed 
On-time

Number of 
Returns filed 
within One 
Month from 
the Due Date

Number 
of Returns 
Expected to 

be filed

Filing 
Compliance 
on Due Date 

as a %

Filing 
Compliance 
within One 

Month from the 
Due Date as a %

Month

	January	 416	 489	 532	 78%	 92%
	February	 151	 173	 189	 80%	 92%
	March	 153	 177	 189	 81%	 94%
	April	 459	 501	 544	 84%	 92%
	May	 150	 173	 189	 79%	 92%
	June	 150	 167	 189	 79%	 88%
	July	 460	 501	 545	 84%	 92%
	August	 153	 165	 188	 81%	 88%
	September	 152	 163	 188	 81%	 87%
	October	 474	 492	 546	 87%	 90%
	November	 148	 157	 190	 78%	 83%
	December	 149	 154	 190	 78%	 81%
	Total	 3,015	 3,312	 3,679	 82%	 90%

Source: Inland Revenue Department

Source: Inland Revenue Department

AIT - Other Taxpayers – e-Filing	 1,658	 4,265	 39%
AIT - Other Taxpayers – Manual Filing	 896	 4,265	 21%
AIT - Other Taxpayers – Total Filing	 2,554	 4,265	 60%
AIT - All Taxpayers – e-Filing 	 2,015	 4,795	 42%
AIT - All Taxpayers – Manual Filing	 997	 4,795	 21%
AIT - All Taxpayers – Total Filing	 3,012	 4,795	 63%

4.3.4 VAT Returns Filing Compliance Rates in 2023

4.3.4.1 VAT Returns Filing by Large Taxpayers4.3.4.1 VAT Returns Filing by Large Taxpayers
Table 4.5 shows the compliance on due date and compliance within one month from the due date for 
VAT returns for large taxpayers in 2023.

There are two return filing frequencies in Value 
Added Tax.  The VAT registered persons those 
are under 0% output tax rate files their VAT 
returns monthly and others are filing quarterly. 
During the year 2023, the VAT registered 
persons in the large taxpayer’s segment shows 
an average filing compliance rate of 82% on due 
date and 90% on after one month from the due 
date. 

The average VAT return filing compliance rates 
of registered persons in non-LTU segment is on 
due date was 46% and after one month filing rate 
was 59% in the year 2023. Table 4.6 shows the 
compliance on due date and compliance within 
one month from the due date for VAT returns 
filing by non-LTU taxpayers in 2023.
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Table 4.6 :  VAT Returns Filing by Other Registered Taxpayers

		 		
Number of 

Returns filed 
On-time

Number of 
Returns filed 
within One 
Month from 
the Due Date

Number 
of Returns 
Expected to 

be filed

Compliance 
on Due 

Date as a %

Compliance 
within One 
Month from 

the Due Date as 
a %

Month

January	 4,504	 5,830	 9,872	 46%	 59%
February	 783	 1,048	 1,693	 46%	 62%
March	 829	 1,024	 1,701	 49%	 60%
April	 5,029	 6,600	 11,328	 44%	 58%
May	 810	 1,046	 1,729	 47%	 60%
June	 820	 1,069	 1,734	 47%	 62%
July	 5,545	 6,988	 11,945	 46%	 59%
August	 798	 1,027	 1,737	 46%	 59%
September	 761	 1,067	 1,743	 44%	 61%
October	 5,820	 7,319	 12,540	 46%	 58%
November	 793	 1,034	 1,749	 45%	 59%
December	 766	 1,069	 1,756	 44%	 61%
Total	 27,258	 35,121	 59,527	 46%	 59%

Source: Inland Revenue Department

Considering all the VAT registered taxpayers in 
large taxpayer segment and others as a whole 
out of 63,206 tax returns that were expected to 
be filed, had been filed on due date only 30,273 
tax returns, which is an average compliance 
rate of 48%. After one month from the due 
date 38,433 of tax returns had been submitted 
indicating an average compliance rate of 61%. 
Compared to this average compliance rate of 
46% in the previous year, in the year 2023 it can 
be observed a significant increase in VAT return 
filing. 

4.4 Enforcement4.4 Enforcement

4.4.1 Audits

Audits and investigations were undertaken 
during 2023 to a widest possible coverage of 
the taxpayer population, in terms of business 
activity, entity type and business size. 
Accordingly, it has been possible to commence 

10,875 audits and complete 10,153 audits during 
the year. The number of audits and revenue 
collected through assessment shows significant 
increase compared to previous years. Table 4.7 
and Table 4.8 shows the details of audits and 
revenue collected through audits.

Income 
Tax VAT PAYE Others Total

Total amount of 	
additional tax 	 23,784	 10,600  	 140   	 7,015  	 41,539
assessed during 
the year  (LKR Mn)	     
Total amount of 	  
additional tax	 11,678  	 3,600   	 88  	 5,532 	 20,899 
collected during
the year (LKR Mn)	
Number of audit 			 
cases commenced			   10,875
 during the year 	
Number of audit 			 
cases finalized 	 	 	 10,153
during the year	

Source: Inland Revenue Department

Table 4.7 :  Details of Audits
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Table 4.9 :  Court Cases Filed for Collection of Default Taxess

Table 4.8 :  Classification by Additional Taxes by Corporate and Other Units (excluding penalty)

		 		
Number of 

Cases 
Pending as 

at 01.01.2023

Number of 
Cases Filing 
during the 

Year

Number of 
Cases 

Terminated 
during the 

Year

Number of 
Cases 

Pending as 
at 31.12.2023

Magistrate Court*	 401	 66	 141	 326
District Court*	 272	 -	 67	 205
High Court**	 40	 16	 2	 54
Court of Appeal**	 297	 154	 47	 404
Supreme Court**	 93	 44	 5	 132
Total	 1,103 	 280	 262	 1,121

Name of the Court

Source: Inland Revenue Department

Source: Inland Revenue Department

		 		
Additional 

Income/ Turnover 
Assessed and 

Agreed 
(LKR Mn)

Corporate - 
LTU

Additional Tax Assessed and Agreed (LKR Mn)

Corporate - 
Other

Other 
Units Total

Description Additional 
Tax Collected 

(LKR Mn)

Income Tax	 396,162 	 11,856     	 7,236   	 4,693   	 23,784 	 11,678  
VAT	 67,980 	 1,113	 2,865   	 6,662 	 10,640 	 3,600   
PAYE	 5,068      	 44       	 39    	 57      	 140	 88 
Others	 167,017 	 4,041   	 1,084     	4,848    	 9,973   	 5,532   

4.4.2 Court Cases

Table 4.10 shows the number of court cases filed for collection of default taxes within the year 
2023.

4.4.3 Measures Taken for Reduce the Tax Evasion

There is a mechanism to report tax evading cases to IRD confidentially online or physically. Under 
Section 101 of the Inland Revenue Act, No. 24 of 2017 and Section 72 of the Value Added Tax Act, 
No. 14 of 2002, informants will receive reward (up to 15% of revenue collected) when tax is collected 
based on information provided.

*Magistrate Court Cases and District Court Cases are filed by the IRD.

**High Court Cases, Court of Appeal Cases and Supreme Court Cases are filed by the both parties. (IRD or Taxpayer)
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5.1 Introduction5.1 Introduction

Information  technology and digital 
transformation have revolutionized tax 
administrations worldwide, enhancing 
efficiency, accuracy, and taxpayer satisfaction.  
As tax administrations continue to embrace 
digital transformation, they can adapt to evolving 
economic environments and meet the growing 
expectations of taxpayers and stakeholders. 
The integration of advanced IT systems across 
the government and non-government agencies 
enables tax administrations to automate 
processes, improve data analytics, and enhance 
compliance monitoring. Digital platforms 
provide taxpayers with easier access to services, 
facilitating online filing, payment, and real-
time communication with tax officials. These 
technological advancements not only streamline 
internal operations but also foster transparency 
and trust between tax administrations and the 
public. As a result, tax administrations are 
better equipped to handle large volumes of data, 
reduce errors, and respond swiftly to changing 
regulations and economic conditions, ultimately 
leading to more effective and fair tax systems.
In the evolving landscape of modern governance, 
the IRD has recognized that the integration of 
Information Technology (IT) and digitalization 
has become paramount in enhancing efficiency, 
transparency, and accessibility within a tax 
administration. 

This chapter explores into the advancements, 
achievements, and strategies employed in 
harnessing technology to streamline processes, 
improve service delivery, and foster compliance, 
by the IRD. 

In line with its commitment to embracing digital 
transformation, the IRD has embarked on several 
key initiatives aimed at modernizing its systems 
and processes. These initiatives include: 

	➢ Implementation of an integrated 
Revenue Administration Management 
Information System (RAMIS) in the 
year 2016 to consolidate taxpayer data, 
while providing end-to-end electronic 
services for taxpayers, streamline tax 
return processes, and facilitate real-
time monitoring and analysis.

	➢ Providing end-user-computing facility. In 
order to maintain efficiency, all officials 
are provided with desk-top computers, 
network printers and scanners.

	➢ Development of online taxpayer portal 
(www.ird.gov.lk) to provide convenient 
access to tax information, forms, and 
services such as registration, e-filing of 
tax returns, lodging tax refund requests, 
lodging appeals/administrative review 
requests, request for tax clearances, 
etc., and thereby reducing the need for 
physically visits to IRD offices.

	➢ Automation of routine tasks such as 
data entry, document processing, tax 
payment processing, taxpayer financing, 
and communication with taxpayers 
through the use of electronic mails, 
short message services (SMS), etc.  

	➢ Establishing a unique Call Center (1944) 
and provides services beyond normal 
office hours in all three languages by 
professional Call Center Agents.

	➢ Establishment of IRD’s own data 
center (DC) and disaster recovery 
center (DRC) for data security and 
ensure independent functionality of 
IRD’s services. 

	➢ Enhancement of cybersecurity 
measures to safeguard taxpayer data 
and protect against cyber threats and 
attacks.
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RAMIS (Revenue Administration Management 
Information System) is a fully automated 
enterprise resource planning (ERP) software 
system used by IRD to manage taxpayer 
information, process tax returns, track payments, 
enforce tax laws, and facilitate compliance. It 
serves as a comprehensive platform for revenue 
collection and tax administration, integrating 
various functionalities and data sources to 
streamline operations and improve efficiency.  
Key features of RAMIS include:

	➢ Taxpayer Registration and 
Identification: RAMIS facilitates 
the IRD to register taxpayers, assign 
taxpayer identification numbers (TIN), 
and maintain accurate records of 
taxpayer profile information, including 
personal details, business information, 
and tax obligations (for which tax types 
registered).

	➢ Tax Return Filing and Payment 
Processing: RAMIS enables taxpayers 
to file tax returns electronically 
through online portal. It automates the 
processing of tax returns, calculates 
tax liabilities, and facilitates maintain 
taxpayer ledger with tax payment 
transactions.

	➢ Data Management and Integration: 
RAMIS consolidates taxpayer data 
from multiple sources into a centralized 
database, allowing IRD to access 
comprehensive information on taxpayer 
compliance, financial transactions, and 
enforcement activities.  In this exercise, 
RAMIS has already been integrated 
with Sri Lanka Customs, Bank of 
Ceylon, Peoples’ Bank, Lanka Clear 
(Pvt) Ltd., Department of Registrar of 
Companies, Ministry of Finance, and 
Excise Department.

	➢ Compliance Monitoring and 
Enforcement: RAMIS provides 
mechanism for monitoring taxpayer 
compliance, identifying non-filers and 
take appropriate actions by officials for 
regular non-filers.   RAMIS provides 
facilities for conducting audits or 
investigations to ensure adherence to 
tax laws and regulations. It supports 
enforcement activities such as tax 
assessments, penalties, charging 
interests on delayed payments and 
collection actions.

	➢ Reporting and Analytics: RAMIS 
generates reports and analytics 
dashboards to provide insights into 
revenue trends, registered taxpayers 
geographical distribution in to levels 
of provincial, districts, divisional 
secretariats, and grama niladhari 
divisions.  Also provides insights 
into compliance levels, and officials’ 
operational performance (KPI). 
Analytics provide reporting anomalies 
by taxpayers in similar industries 
to help identifying risk levels. It 
facilitates data-driven decision-making 
and strategic planning.

	➢ Security and Confidentiality: 
RAMIS incorporates robust security 
measures to protect sensitive taxpayer 
information and prevent unauthorized 
access or data breaches. It complies 
with data protection industry standards 
to safeguard privacy and confidentiality.

	➢ User Support in resolving issues: 
RAMIS offers user support services 
through its helpdesk system and to 
assist tax officials in using the system 
effectively. It provides materials such 
as quick guides to taxpayers/external 
users to ensure smooth and easy use of 
the system.
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Overall, RAMIS serves as a critical tool for IRD 
in its tax operations, to enhance compliance 
efforts, and improve taxpayer service delivery. 
By leveraging technology and automation, 
RAMIS helps the IRD to achieve its revenue 
collection targets efficiently and effectively.

5.2 Achievements and Milestones5.2 Achievements and Milestones

In the year 2023, IRD has made significant 
strides in leveraging technology to improve 
service delivery and enhance operational 
efficiency. Some notable achievements include:

	➢ Completion of RAMIS 2.0 
implementation for execution of the 
Inland Revenue Act, No. 24 of 2017, 
which had been delayed for years due 
to various reasons mostly out of the 
control of the IRD.

	➢ Completion of RAMIS Technology 
Refresh during the year to bring 
its infrastructure more updated and 
aligned with modern technologies.

	➢ Increase in online tax filings and 
payments, resulting in faster processing 
times and reduced administrative 
burdens for taxpayers and tax officials.

	➢ Increased number of commercial banks 
providing online tax payment facility 
to taxpayers.

	➢ Implementation of data analytics 
tools to identify tax compliance risks, 
especially for reporting anomaly 
detection, and target enforcement 
efforts more effectively.

	➢ Launch of taxpayer education and 
awareness campaigns to promote 
digital adoption and provide guidance 
on using online tax services.

	➢ Initiating of the integration with more 
government agencies to exchange 
data, and engaged with international 
institutions such as World Bank, IMF 
to share global best practices in using 
third party data in digitalized tax 
administrations.

	➢ Another significant event that 
happened in the year 2023 was, on 
the request by the Secretary to the 
Treasury and Ministry of Finance, 
Economic Stabilization and National 
Polices, the International Monetary 
Fund (IMF) conducted an assessment 
on the RAMIS in March 2023.  The 
report issued by the IMF Experts on 
RAMIS provides recommendations 
and guidance for its way forward.  

 

5.3 Future Directions and Strategic 5.3 Future Directions and Strategic 
ObjectivesObjectives

Looking ahead, the IRD remains committed to 
harnessing the power of technology to drive 
innovation and improve outcomes. Our future 
directions and strategic objectives in the realm 
of IT and digitalization include:

	➢ Continual enhancement and 
optimization of the IT infrastructure 
and systems to ensure scalability, 
reliability, and resilience. Developing 
the existing Data Center up to Tier 3 
Level Data Center with the state-of-
the-art technologies.

	➢ Expansion of online service offerings 
and digital channels to further enhance 
taxpayer convenience and accessibility.

	➢ Integration with Department of Motor 
Traffic, Land Registry, Immigration 
and Emigration Department, and so on.
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	➢ Adoption of emerging technologies 
such as, machine learning, and data 
analytics to unlock new insights, 
improve risk-based decision-making in 
audits and issuing refunds, and enhance 
compliance capabilities.

	➢ Investment in training and capacity-
building initiatives to equip staff with 
the skills and knowledge required 
to leverage technology effectively 
and adapt to evolving IT trends and 
challenges.

	➢ Developing RAMIS next generation 
software application in order to embrace 
the technological advancements, to 
address commercial world dynamics 
and tax policy changes and so on.

	➢ Preparation of Data Governance Policy 
in order to ensure the data protection, 
secure data privacy.

	➢ Preparation of IRD’s Information 
Technology Strategic Plan (ITSP) for 
next three years.  Taking in to account 
all aforementioned strategic objectives, 
the IRD will prepare its ITSP and 
document properly and aiming to start 
its execution from January 2025 and 
complete by end 2027.

In conclusion, the integration of Information 
Technology and digitalization is central to 
IRD's efforts to modernize and transform its 
operations. By embracing innovation, leveraging 
data-driven insights, and fostering a culture 
of continuous improvement, IRD is assured 
to deliver on its mandate more effectively and 
efficiently in the digital age.



01 mßÉfþoh
wdh;ksl me;slv

CHAPTER
0606

ORGANIZATIONAL 
PERFORMANCE





Annual Performance Report - 2023

INLAND REVENUE DEPARTMENT 71

6.1 Introduction6.1 Introduction

In 2023, the IRD, under the guidance of the 
International Monetary Fund (IMF) in line with 
the structural benchmarks (SB) committed under 
Extended Fund Facility (EFF), and aligning 
with the tasks assigned by the World Bank 
under development policy operations (DPO-2), 
embarked on a transformative journey to enhance 
its operational efficiency and effectiveness. 
This year marked significant milestones 
in organizational performance, beginning 
with the updating and implementation of a 
comprehensive Code of Conduct for tax officials, 
aimed at fostering integrity and accountability. 
Additionally, the completion and publication 
of the Taxpayer Charter underscored the IRD's 
commitment to transparency and taxpayer rights. 
The strategic planning process for 2024-26 was 
also completed, setting a clear roadmap for 
future initiatives. Structural improvements were 
made with the organizational rationalization of 
the Large Taxpayer Administration, ensuring 
more focused and efficient operations. Key 
developments in compliance risk management 
and the establishment of a High Wealth 
Individual (HWI) Unit further enhanced the 
IRD's capacity to address tax compliance and 
equity. The introduction of Key Performance 
Indicators (KPIs) provided measurable 
benchmarks for assessing progress and 
achievements throughout the year. Moreover, 
these efforts contributed significantly to the 
broader objective of achieving the Sustainable 
Development Goals (SDGs), demonstrating the 
IRD's pivotal role in national development and 
fiscal stability.

This chapter briefly describes the progress of 
aforementioned tasks under the forthcoming 
paragraphs. 

 

6.1.1 Updating and Implementation of the 
new IRD Code of Conduct (COC)

The IMF Report of Governance Diagnostic 
Assessment, issued in July 2023, recommends 
that to strengthen the integrity of IRD operations 
and address corruption vulnerabilities, an 
updated COC should be developed and 
implemented. Thus, IRD took measures to 
simplify and update the existing COC to reflect 
good international practices.

Officers’ conduct will have an impact on 
stakeholders, including the Government, the 
taxpaying public, foreign investors, co-workers, 
supervisors, officers, and subordinates. The 
manner in which officers conduct themselves 
in their official dealings with taxpayers is 
of prime importance in establishing public 
confidence in the Department. Without that 
confidence, trust in effective tax administration 
becomes difficult, if not impossible. A Code of 
Conduct provides a framework for tax officials 
with standards of behavior, and promotes the 
importance of integrity in a sound and effective 
tax administration.

IRD expects officers to provide undivided 
allegiance to the Government at all times and 
on all occasions while in the service, which 
reflects the values and commitments of the 
Department and will reflect on the taxpayers to 
reduce resistance and unnecessary high costs 
and strengthen the integrity of IRD operations.

The new COC was developed taking into 
account the international good practices, 
ensuring IRD’s zero tolerance to corruption, and 
thus specifically includes;

1.	 Objectives of the COC
2.	 Its scope of application
3.	 Responsibility & compliance with the 

COC
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4.	 Principals regulating the conduct of tax 
officials

5.	 Instances of non-compliance and action 
to be taken

IRD to take measures immediately during next 
year to have a comprehensive initial training 
covering all of its staff to raise awareness of the 
new COC, the principles and behaviors expected, 
and the key aspects of COC. It has planned to 
reinforcement of the changes to the COC from 
time to time to remind and test staff awareness 
and understanding of institutionalizing honest 
behaviors. Further, the Human Resource 
Division will regularly monitor the staff who 
have been found to have breached the COC and 
take appropriate actions, accordingly.

6.1.2 Preparation and Publication of the 
Taxpayer Charter 

In a landmark move underscoring its 
commitment to transparency, fairness, and a 
taxpayer-centric approach, the IRD prepared 
and published its taxpayer charter in the year 
2023. This significant milestone represents not 
only a culmination of efforts but also a beacon 
guiding the department towards enhanced 
service delivery and strengthened taxpayer 
relations.

The taxpayer charter serves as a definitive 
document outlining the principles and rights 
governing the department's interactions with 
taxpayers. It stands as a testament to the 
department's pledge to uphold the highest 
standards of service, ensuring that every 
taxpayer is treated equitably and with respect. 

Central to the charter is the explanation of 
taxpayers' rights and responsibilities, providing 
the taxpayers with a clear understanding of what 
they can expect from the IRD and, in turn, what 

is expected from the taxpayers by the IRD. This 
transparency fosters a sense of mutual trust and 
accountability, essential elements in fostering a 
conducive tax environment.

Moreover, the charter lays the groundwork 
for an open dialogue between the IRD 
and taxpayers, fostering collaboration and 
constructive feedback. By actively seeking input 
from taxpayers, the IRD aims to continuously 
improve its services, ensuring they remain 
responsive to evolving needs and expectations.
The publication of the taxpayer charter is not 
merely a bureaucratic exercise; rather, it signifies 
a fundamental shift towards a more inclusive and 
participatory approach to taxation. It empowers 
taxpayers by providing them with a voice and a 
platform through which they can engage with 
the IRD, contributing to the ongoing refinement 
of tax policies and procedures.
 
It is a testament to the IRD's unwavering 
dedication to serving the interests of taxpayers 
and fostering a culture of mutual respect and 
collaboration.

6.1.3 Finalization of IRD’s Strategic Plan for 
2024 to 2026

Sri Lanka is recovering from its worst economic 
crisis in the history, from a low point in 2022 
when debt obligations of the government could 
no longer be serviced. This coincided with 
the lowest government revenue collections in 
history, resulting from policy reversals in 2019 
that were exacerbated by weakening economic 
conditions and the COVID-19 pandemic.

A challenging pathway to recovery has been 
plotted, relying heavily on ambitious revenue 
mobilization efforts that IRD has a critical 
role to deliver over the three-year horizon of 
Strategic Plan between 2024 and 2026.
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With the support and resources of the 
government, and assistance and advice from 
partners, IRD has embarked on a quest for 
institutional transformation to generate the 
critically needed revenue in a fair, efficient, and 
transparent manner. The goal is to lift IRD to 
world standards of effective tax administration, 
addressing gaps and shortcomings identified 
through recent diagnostic assessments, as well 
as an internal SWOT assessment.

In line with the international best practices, 
IRD updated its Vision Statement, Mission 
Statement, Core Values and the Strategic Goals 
to transform the institution and to improve 
operational outcomes and serve taxpayers and 
society more effectively.

6.1.4 Organizational Rationalization of the 
Large Taxpayer Administration

The Large Taxpayers’ Office (LTO) is 
responsible for managing the tax affairs of 
large corporate entities. Also, the High Wealth 
Individuals that contribute largely to tax 
revenue fallen under the purview of LTO. In the 
LTO, taxpayers are classified into key sectors as 
finance, manufacturing, services, wholesale, and 
retail with units allocated based on the number 
of taxpayers within each sector. This reporting 
structure also encompasses Appeals, Default 
Collection, and Refund units, specifically 
designed for segmented large taxpayers. 

6.1.5 Developments in Compliance Risk 
Management 

Compliance Risk Management (CRM) is a 
process of determining the highest compliance 
risks to our tax base and selecting cost-
effective treatment options to increase sustained 
voluntary compliance.  The IRD, has limited 
level of resources, so it requires to use these 

resources effectively and efficiently to get 
the best outcomes. CRM demands risk to be 
determined by analyzing data from third-party 
sources and data available with the IRD.

CRM provides a strong, best-practice approach 
for the handling compliance issues. CRM 
uses international norms for general risk 
management. Methods developed by renowned 
international organizations provide specific 
strategies for handling taxes and guaranteeing 
taxpayer compliance.

A Risk Management committee (RMC) has 
been established. By creating a risk manual and 
progressively introducing risk criteria for audit 
case selection, it has made good progress. The 
committee will assess, approve, and act on high-
priority risks as its capability and experience. In 
order to identify and evaluate risks related to 
each of the four compliance pillars; registration, 
filing, payment, and reporting, it will identify 
the most important industry sectors and conduct 
research.

The audit cases are selected based on CRM 
processes and allocating case workloads 
according to potential revenue gain (highest 
assessed risks) to staff based on their workloads 
and skills to undertake these audits.

A Risk Management Unit (RMU) has also 
been established to carry out assigned tasks as 
directed by the RMC, and its capacity is being 
built. The unit primarily focus on research and 
risk identification in the construction, hotels and 
tourism, and the banking and financial services 
sectors in the medium and large taxpayer 
segments.

Compliance Improvement Plans (CIPs) are 
being developed based on risk-based analysis. 
RMU’s priority is to develop and implement 
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a CIP for each of the Large Taxpayer sectors 
starting with the manufacturing and services 
sectors. To build CRM capability further, over 
time, the RMU will develop additional CIPs for 
other segments of the taxpayer population.

6.1.6 Creation of a High Wealth Individuals 
(HWI) Unit

In recognition of shortcomings in monitoring 
high wealth individuals (HWIs), the IRD 
established the High Wealth Individuals Unit 
(HWIU) within the Large Taxpayer Office 
in December 2023. This strategic initiative 
addresses guidance from the IMF to strengthen 
tax compliance oversight within this high-
risk demographic. The HWIU, equipped with 
enhanced resources and specialized expertise, 
prioritizes the top 100 HWIs, facilitating 
timely and accurate tax filing through proactive 
engagement. Additionally, the unit implements 
comprehensive risk assessments and profiling to 
identify and mitigate tax risks associated with 
wealthy taxpayers. Through a commitment to 
transparency with utilizing cutting-edge data 
analysis, the HWIU aims to cultivate a culture of 
tax fairness and transparency, fostering a robust 
and efficient tax system in Sri Lanka. Improved 
HWI compliance can generate significant 
additional revenue for the government, enabling 
investments in essential public services, like 
healthcare and education. 

6.2 Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) 6.2 Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) 
and Achievementsand Achievements

6.2.1 Performance Indicators of the IRD

Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) are the 
critical quantifiable indicators of progress of an 
organization toward the intended result which 
provide a focus for strategic and operational 
improvement, create an analytical basis for 

decision making and help to focus attention on 
what matters most. KPIs are used to measure the 
progress toward achieving the organization’s 
strategic goals.

6.2.1.1 Collection of Revenue6.2.1.1 Collection of Revenue
IRD recorded an auspicious growth in revenue 
collection by collecting total tax revenue of 
Rs. 1,842.32 billion during the year 2023. 
Total collection of revenue indicates 105% 
achievement when compared to the revenue 
under each type of taxes with the corresponding 
estimates. Revenue collection of IRD as a 
percentage of GDP at current price was 6.67% 
in 2023. Growth in tax revenue with compared 
to the previous year was 74.12% and IRD 
contribution to government tax revenue was 
67.72%.

6.2.1.2 Conducting Awareness Programs6.2.1.2 Conducting Awareness Programs
IRD has taken a wide range of actions to 
improve the awareness of its stakeholders. 
Accordingly, awareness programs had been 
launched to make them aware on policy 
changes, e-return filing, etc. Most of the 
programs were conducted physically and some 
of the programs were conducted via online as 
more people can be joined. Online programs 
were helped to minimize the cost of conducting 
awareness programs. Also, the taxpayers who 
cannot participate physically were able to join 
the programs effectively.

6.2.1.3 Tax File Opening6.2.1.3 Tax File Opening
Widening of tax base is essential to increase 
the tax revenue. Accordingly, IIT registration 
threshold was reduced from Rs. 3 million to 
Rs. 1.2 million per annum. However, IRD had 
registered 368,455 new taxpayers under all tax 
types during the year.
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6.2.1.4 Productivity Ratio and Cost of Collection6.2.1.4 Productivity Ratio and Cost of Collection
Minimization of the cost of tax collection should 
be an important objective of budgetary policy. 
Cost of collection is categorized into capital 
expenditure and recurrent expenditure. The 
capital expenditure of the IRD was restricted 
on notification by the government to carry 
out essential expenditure only. However, the 
expenditure for the RAMIS project was Rs. 3.1 
billion due to the payment made for the RAMIS 
2.0. The productivity ratio in the year 2023 is 
1:244 which means when IRD spend Rs. One 
million, it collects Rs. 244 million tax revenue. 
On the other hand, the IRD has been able to 
keep the cost of collection at minimum level, 
as approximately 41 cents for collection of a 
hundred Rupee tax revenue in the year 2023. 

Output as a percentage of the identified Key 
Performance Indicators is shown in Table 6.1.

Summary of the Performance indicators of the 
IRD is shown in the Table 6.2.

Table 6.1 :  Specific Performance Indicators 
of the Year 2023

Table 6.2 :   Summary of the Performance Indicators of IRD

Source: Inland Revenue Department

Source: Inland Revenue Department

	                           Performance Indicator                                                                           Value

Total Tax Revenue Collected	 Rs. 1,842.32 billion		

Achievement Against Revenue Target	 105% (Target: Rs. 1,761.98 billion)

Tax Revenue as a Percentage of GDP	 6.67% (Country’s Tax-to-GDP Ratio: 9.84%)

Growth in Tax Revenue		  74.12% (Previous year: Rs. 1,058.08 billion)

IRD Contribution to Government Tax Revenue	 67.72% (IRD: Rs. 1.84 trillion, Total: Rs. 2.72 trillion)

Return Compliance e-Filing Rate for CIT (On-time)	 60% (Large Corporate Taxpayers)

Return Compliance e-Filing Rate for CIT (After one month)	 94% (Large Corporate Taxpayers)

Return Compliance e-Filing Rate for CIT (On-time)	 22% (Other Corporate Taxpayers)

Return Compliance e-Filing Rate for CIT (After one month)	 33% (Other Corporate Taxpayers)

Return Compliance e-Filing Rate for IIT (On-time)	 11% (Individual Taxpayers)

Return Compliance e-Filing Rate for IIT (After one month)	 14% (Individual Taxpayers)

Return Compliance Total Filing Rate for IIT (On-time)	 25% (Individual Taxpayers)

Return Compliance Total Filing Rate for IIT (After one month)	 37% (Individual Taxpayers)

Return on Investment (ROI) or Productivity Ratio	 244

Cost of Collection		  41 Cents per Rs. 100

>100%
100%-
90%

75%-
89%

50%-
74%

Collection of Revenue	 105%
Conducting Awareness Programs	 109%
Tax File Opening	 119%
 Productivity Ratio	 244%

Specific 
Indicators

Actual Output as a Percentage 
(%) of the Expected Output 
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6.3 Performance of Achieving 6.3 Performance of Achieving 
Sustainable Development GoalsSustainable Development Goals

As introduced by the United Nations in the 
year 2015, the Sustainable Development Goals 
(SDGs) also known as the Global Goals were 
adopted by all the United Nations States in 
2015 in order to eradicate the poverty, protect 
the planet as well as ensure that all the people 
enjoy peace and prosperity by 2030 through a 
balanced social, economic and environmental 
sustainability. In order to achieve the SDGs 
in every context, the creativity, knowhow, 
technology and financial resources are very 
essential.

Tax administration plays a pivotal role in 
achieving several Sustainable Development 
Goals (SDGs) in developing countries. Effective 
tax systems are essential for mobilizing the 
resources needed to meet these goals, reducing 
inequality, and promoting economic growth.
In terms of the Sustainable Development Goals 
Act, No. 19 of 2017, all the administrative 
entities of the government should maintain the 
SDGs. 

Targeted SDGs for the year can be shown as the 
Table 6.3.

Table 6.3 :   Activities of the IRD Based on the Sustainable Development Goals
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Goal / Objective Target Indicators of 
Achievement 

Progress of the Achievement to 
date (%) 

0-49 50-74 75-100 
SGD 01: End 
Poverty  in All 
its Forms 
Everywhere  

Ensure significant 
mobilization of resources 
from a variety of sources, 
to implement programs 
and policies to end poverty 
in all its dimensions 

Proportion of 
domestically generated 
resources allocated by 
the government directly 
to poverty reduction 
programs 

   

Proportion of total 
government spending 
on essential services 
(education, health, and 
social protection) 

   

SDG 03: Good 
Health and 
Well-being 

Strengthen the prevention 
and treatment of substance 
abuse and harmful use of 
alcohol and strengthen the 
implementation of the 
World Health 
Organization Framework 
Convention on Tobacco 
control in all countries, as 
appropriate 

Higher taxes on 
Tobacco and Alcohol 

   

SDG 05: 
Achieve Gender 
Equality and 
Empower All 
Women and 
Girls 

Undertake reforms to give 
women equal rights to 
economic resources, as 
well as access to 
ownership and control 
over land and other forms 
of property, financial 
services, inheritance and 
natural resources in 
accordance with natural 
laws 

Qualifying payment 
granted which can be 
deducted in the 
computation of taxable 
income as provided in 
Section 52 of the IRA 

   

SDG 07: Ensure 
Access to 
Affordable, 
Reliable, 
Sustainable and 
Modern Energy 
for All 

By 2030, ensure universal 
access to affordable, 
reliable and modern 
energy services  

Tax  incentives given 
for investments in clean 
energy 

   

SDG 10: Reduce 
Inequality 
Within and 
Among 
Countries 

Implement the principle of 
special and differential 
treatment for developing 
economies, in particular 
least developed 
economies, in accordance 
with World Trade 
Organization agreements 
 

Depreciable assets used 
in Northern Province is 
granted 200% of 
Enhanced Capital 
Allowance (ECA)  
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Goal / Objective Target Indicators of 
Achievement 

Progress of the Achievement to 
date (%) 

0-49 50-74 75-100 
SGD 01: End 
Poverty  in All 
its Forms 
Everywhere  

Ensure significant 
mobilization of resources 
from a variety of sources, 
to implement programs 
and policies to end poverty 
in all its dimensions 

Proportion of 
domestically generated 
resources allocated by 
the government directly 
to poverty reduction 
programs 

   

Proportion of total 
government spending 
on essential services 
(education, health, and 
social protection) 

   

SDG 03: Good 
Health and 
Well-being 

Strengthen the prevention 
and treatment of substance 
abuse and harmful use of 
alcohol and strengthen the 
implementation of the 
World Health 
Organization Framework 
Convention on Tobacco 
control in all countries, as 
appropriate 

Higher taxes on 
Tobacco and Alcohol 

   

SDG 05: 
Achieve Gender 
Equality and 
Empower All 
Women and 
Girls 

Undertake reforms to give 
women equal rights to 
economic resources, as 
well as access to 
ownership and control 
over land and other forms 
of property, financial 
services, inheritance and 
natural resources in 
accordance with natural 
laws 

Qualifying payment 
granted which can be 
deducted in the 
computation of taxable 
income as provided in 
Section 52 of the IRA 

   

SDG 07: Ensure 
Access to 
Affordable, 
Reliable, 
Sustainable and 
Modern Energy 
for All 

By 2030, ensure universal 
access to affordable, 
reliable and modern 
energy services  

Tax  incentives given 
for investments in clean 
energy 

   

SDG 10: Reduce 
Inequality 
Within and 
Among 
Countries 

Implement the principle of 
special and differential 
treatment for developing 
economies, in particular 
least developed 
economies, in accordance 
with World Trade 
Organization agreements 
 

Depreciable assets used 
in Northern Province is 
granted 200% of 
Enhanced Capital 
Allowance (ECA)  
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SDG 16: 
Promote 
Peaceful and 
Inclusive 
Societies for 
Sustainable 
Development, 
Provide Access 
to Justice for All 
and Build 
Effective, 
Accountable and 
Inclusive 
Institutions at 
All Levels  

Develop effective, 
accountable, and 
transparent institutions at 
all levels 

Automation of all 
functions of tax 
administration in order 
to ensure the 
establishment of Rule 
of Law 

   

Sharing third party data 
and use data analytics 
to detect tax evaders 
and take deterrent 
actions on tax evaders 

   

SDG 17: 
Strengthen the 
Means of 
Implementation 
and Revitalize 
the Global 
Partnership for 
Sustainable 
Development  

Strengthen domestic 
resource mobilization, to 
improve domestic capacity 
for tax and other revenue 
collection 

Total government 
revenue as a proportion 
of GDP 
 

   

Proportion of domestic 
budget funded by 
domestic taxes 

   

 

Source: Inland Revenue Department 

 

 

Commissioner-General of Inland Revenue (Acting)

Source: Inland Revenue Department

Commissioner-General of Inland Revenue (Acting)
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7.1 Statement of Financial Performance 7.1 Statement of Financial Performance 
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7.1 Statement of Financial Performance  
                                                                                                                                                                                     ACA -F  

Statement of Financial Performance   
for the period ended 31st December 2023  

         
Revised Budget 
Allocations 2023 

      
Note 

Actual  
             

          2023   2022  

 Rs.           Rs.     Rs.  

                                 -    
 

Revenue Receipts 
  

  
          

863,500,000,000  
 

Income Tax 
 

1 
        
911,355,309,961  

 
     534,020,830,117  

 
 
 

          
897,984,000,000  

 

Taxes on Domestic 
Goods & Services 

 
2 

         
920,919,135,824  

 
     509,168,047,125   

                       -    
 

Taxes on International 
Trade 

 
3                        -    

 
                      -     

                    
500,000,000  

 

Non Tax Revenue & 
Others 

 
4   

 

         
2,000,000,000   

     1,761,984,000,000  
 

Total Revenue 
Receipts (A) 

  
1,832,274,445,785  

 
  1,045,188,877,242   

     
  

  
 

  
Non Revenue Receipts 

  
                         -    

 
                       -     

  
Treasury Imprests 

  

          
14,702,732,880  

 
       16,558,013,981  

  
Deposits 

  

         
11,245,307,443  

 

       
10,942,129,319  

  
Advance Accounts 

  

            
162,790,739  

 

            
138,262,302  

  

Other Main Ledger 
Receipts  

  
                         -    

 
                       -     

  

Total Non Revenue 
Receipts (B) 

  

         
26,110,831,061  

 

       
27,638,405,602   

  

Total Revenue 
Receipts & Non 
Revenue Receipts C = 
(A)+(B) 

  

    
1,858,385,276,846  

 

  
1,072,827,282,844   

  

Remittance to the 
Treasury (D) 

  

           
5,938,349,497  

 

         
6,507,962,948   

  

Net Revenue Receipts 
& Non Revenue 
Receipts E = (C)-(D) 

  

    
1,852,446,927,350  

 

  
1,066,319,319,896   

     
  

  
 

  
Less: Expenditure 

  
  

  
 

  

Recurrent 
Expenditure 
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3,016,500,000  

 

Wages, Salaries & 
Other Employment 
Benefits 

 
5 

           
2,999,199,295  

 
         2,994,539,601  

 

 
 

             
1,656,800,000  

 

Other Goods & 
Services 

 
6 

           
1,396,201,293  

 
         1,051,713,428   

                  40,000,000  
 

Subsidies, Grants and 
Transfers 

 
7 

                
31,803,200  

 
              35,316,987   

                         -    
 

Interest Payments 
 

8                          -    
 

                             -     

                         -    
 

Other Recurrent 
Expenditure 

 
9                          -    

 
                             -     

        
4,713,300,000.00  

 

Total Recurrent 
Expenditure (F)  

  

           
4,427,203,789  

 
         4,081,570,016   

     
  

  
 

  

 
 
 
 
Capital Expenditure 

  
  

  
 

                
352,000,000  

 

Rehabilitation & 
Improvement of Capital 
Assets 

 
10 

                
17,174,880  

 
                9,573,506  

 

 
 

             
9,453,400,000  

 

Acquisition of Capital 
Assets 

 
11 

           
3,086,317,455  

 
         4,595,212,844   

                                 
-    

 
Capital Transfers 

 
12                          -    

 
                             -     

                                 
-    

 

Acquisition of 
Financial Assets 

 
13                          -    

 
                             -     

                
450,000,000  

 
Capacity Building 

 
14 

                  
8,801,269  

 
              26,738,852   

                                 
-    

 

Other Capital 
Expenditure 

 
15                          -    

 
                             -     

           
10,255,400,000  

 

Total Capital 
Expenditure (G) 

  

           
3,112,293,604  

 
         4,631,525,202   

     
  

  
 

  
Deposit Payments 

  

         
11,425,945,127  

 
       11,126,719,852  

  
Advance Payments 

  

              
133,500,259  

 
            122,552,016  

  

Other Main Ledger 
Payments 

  
                         -    

 
                             -     

  

Total Main Ledger 
Expenditure (H) 

  

         
11,559,445,386  

 
       11,249,271,867   

     
  

  
 

  

Total Expenditure I = 
(F+G+H) 

  

         
19,098,942,779  

 
       19,962,367,085   

     
  

  
 

  

Balance as at 31st 
December J = (E-I) 

  

    
1,833,347,984,571  

 
  1,046,356,952,810   

        
 

  

Balance as per the 
Imprest Adjustment 
Statement  

  

    
1,833,347,984,571  

 
  1,046,356,952,810  

  

Imprest Balance  as at 
31st December 

  
                         -    

 
                             -    

     

    
1,833,347,984,571  

 
  1,046,356,952,810   
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7.2 Statement of Financial Position  

     
ACA-P 

Statement of Financial Position  
As at 31st December 2023 

        Actual  

    Note   2023 2022 
      Rs Rs 
 
Non Financial Assets       

Property, Plant & Equipment  ACA-6  
        
14,516,094,750  

       
11,352,890,073  

Financial Assets       
Advance Accounts  ACA-5/5(a)  

                
302,906,844  

            
332,197,324  

Cash & Cash Equivalents  ACA-3  -                              -    

Total Assets    
        
14,819,001,594  

       
11,685,087,396  

Net Assets / Equity       
Net Worth to Treasury    

           
(402,468,526) 

           
(570,821,878) 

Property, Plant & Equipment Reserve    
        
14,516,094,750  

       
11,352,890,073  

Rent and Work Advance Reserve   ACA-5(b)                                 -    

 
Non Current Liabilities       

Lease Creditors    
                  
12,523,832  

              
29,529,980  

Current Liabilities       
Deposits Accounts  ACA-4  

             
692,851,537  

            
873,489,222  

Unsettled Imprest Balance  ACA-3  
                             
-                                 -    

Total Liabilities    
        
14,819,001,594  

       
11,685,087,396  

 
Detail Accounting Statements in ACA format Nos. 1 to 7 presented in pages from 7 to 45 and  Annexures to accounts presented in pages 
from 46 to 59  form an integral part of these Financial Statements. The Financial Statements have been prepared in complying with the 
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles whereas most appropriate Accounting Policies are used as disclosed in the Notes to the 
Financial Statements and hereby certify that figures in these Finacial Statements, Notes to accounts and other relevant accounts were 
reconciled with the Treasury Books of Accounts and found in agreement. 
 
We hereby certify that an effective internal control system for the financial control exists in the Reporting Entity and carried out periodic 
reviews to monitor the effectiveness of internal control system for the financial control and accordingly make alterations as required for 
such systems to be effectively carried out.  
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7.3 Statement of Cash Flows  
Statement of Cash Flows 

for the Period ended 31st December 2023 
   

  Actual  
      
  2023 2022 
  Rs.  Rs.  
Cash Flows from Operating Activities     
Total Tax Receipts     1,553,438,481,285      861,264,646,244  
Fees, Fines, Penalties and Licenses                                 -                               -    
Profit                                -                               -    
Non Revenue Receipts                                -                               -    
Revenue Collected on behalf of Other Revenue 
Heads               115,679,808             164,398,821  
Imprest Received          14,702,732,880        16,558,013,981  
Recoveries from Advance               169,868,549             145,939,795  
Deposit Received          10,773,803,452        10,287,570,619  

Total Cash generated from Operations  (A)     1,579,200,565,973      888,420,569,460  

Less -  Cash disbursed for:     
Personal Emoluments & Operating Payments            4,382,996,844          4,039,481,294  
Subsidies & Transfer Payments                 31,803,200               35,316,987  
Total Tax Refund     1,554,174,797,289      861,954,824,804  
Expenditure incurred on behalf of Other Heads                    9,911,813                 7,093,593  
Imprest Settlement to Treasury            5,938,349,497          6,507,962,948  
Advance Payments               132,238,742             123,729,792  
Deposit Payments          11,425,940,069        11,126,526,363  
Total Cash disbursed for Operations  (B)     1,576,096,037,453      883,794,935,781  

NET CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING 
ACTIVITIES(C )=(A)-(B)            3,104,528,520          4,625,633,678  

 
    

Cash Flows from Investing Activities     
Interest                                -                               -    
Dividends                                -                               -    
Divestiture Proceeds & Sale of Physical Assets                                -                               -    
Recoveries  from On Lending                                -                               -    
Total Cash generated from Investing Activities (D)                                -                                -    
 
    

84 
 

Less -  Cash disbursed for: 
 
Capital Expenditure            3,104,528,520          4,625,633,678  

Total Cash disbursed for Investing Activities (E)            3,104,528,520          4,625,633,678  

 
    

NET CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING 
ACTIVITIES( F)=(D)-(E)           (3,104,528,520)       (4,625,633,678) 

 
    

NET CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING & 
INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES (G)=( C) + (F)                                0                              0  

Cash Flows from Financing Activities     
Local Borrowings                                -                               -    
Foreign Borrowings                                -                               -    
Grants Received                                -                               -    
Total Cash generated from Financing Activities 
(H)                                -                                -    

 
    

Less -  Cash disbursed for:     

Repayment of Local Borrowings                                -                               -    
Repayment of Foreign Borrowings                                -                               -    

Total Cash disbursed for Financing Activities (I)                                -                                -    

 
    

NET CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING 
ACTIVITIES (J)=(H)-(I)                                -                                -    

 
    

Net Movement in Cash  (K) =  (G) + (J)                                -                                -    
Opening Cash Balance as at  01st January                                 -                                -    
Closing Cash Balance as at 31st December                                -                                -    

  

7.3   Statement of Cash Flows 7.3   Statement of Cash Flows 
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Less -  Cash disbursed for: 
 
Capital Expenditure            3,104,528,520          4,625,633,678  

Total Cash disbursed for Investing Activities (E)            3,104,528,520          4,625,633,678  

 
    

NET CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING 
ACTIVITIES( F)=(D)-(E)           (3,104,528,520)       (4,625,633,678) 

 
    

NET CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING & 
INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES (G)=( C) + (F)                                0                              0  

Cash Flows from Financing Activities     
Local Borrowings                                -                               -    
Foreign Borrowings                                -                               -    
Grants Received                                -                               -    
Total Cash generated from Financing Activities 
(H)                                -                                -    

 
    

Less -  Cash disbursed for:     

Repayment of Local Borrowings                                -                               -    
Repayment of Foreign Borrowings                                -                               -    

Total Cash disbursed for Financing Activities (I)                                -                                -    

 
    

NET CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING 
ACTIVITIES (J)=(H)-(I)                                -                                -    

 
    

Net Movement in Cash  (K) =  (G) + (J)                                -                                -    
Opening Cash Balance as at  01st January                                 -                                -    
Closing Cash Balance as at 31st December                                -                                -    
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7.5 Performance of the Revenue Collection 
     

Revenue 
Code 

Description of the 
Revenue Code 

Revenue Estimate Collected Revenue 

Original 
(LKR ‘000) 

Final (LKR 
‘000) 

Amount  (LKR 
‘000) 

as a % of Final 
Revenue 
Estimate 

 INCOME TAX         
 10.04.01.01  Income Tax 597,000,000 513,500,000 555,304,409 108% 
 10.04.01.02  Dividend Tax 2,000,000 2,000,000 46,887 2% 
 10.04.01.03  Remittance Tax 4,000,000 4,060,000 1,667,666 42% 
 10.04.02.01  PAYE  100,000,000 150,000,000 144,954,799 97% 
 10.04.02.99  Other 115,000,000 40,000,000 48,533,060 121% 

 10.04.03.00  Withholding Tax        90,000,000  
      

150,000,000  
157,910,831 105% 

 10.04.03.01    On Interest 55,000,000 64,500,000 72,218,111 112% 
 10.04.03.99    On Fees & Other  35,000,000 85,500,000 85,692,720 100% 

 10.04.04.00  
Economic Service 
Charge 

              246,675    

 10.04.04.01  Domestic               234,523    
 10.04.04.02  Imports     12,152   
 10.04.05.00  Capital Gain Tax 4,000,000 4,000,000 2,679,199 67% 

10.04.06.00 
Tax on Voluntary 
Disclosure   

11,784 
 

 

TAXES ON 
DOMESTIC 
GOODS & 
SERVICES 

        

 10.02.01.00  Value Added Tax     908,000,000      680,500,000    694,460,230  102% 
 10.02.01.01  Financial Services 85,000,000 88,000,000 88,528,787 101% 
 10.02.01.02  Other Services 290,000,000 228,000,000 200,674,146 88% 
 10.02.01.03  Manufacturing 178,000,000 144,000,000 179,904,493 125% 
 10.02.01.04  Imports 355,000,000 220,500,000 225,352,804 102% 

 10.02.02.00  
Goods and 
Services Tax  

    238    

 10.02.02.01  Services     238    
 10.02.02.02  Manufacturing         
 10.02.02.03  Imports         

 10.02.03.00  
National Security 
Levy 

    880   

 10.02.03.01  Services     880   
 10.02.03.02  Manufacturing         
 10.02.03.03  Imports         

 10.02.07.00  Stamp Duty         

 10.02.08.00  Debits Tax         
 10.02.09.00  Turnover Tax     3,885   

 10.02.12.00  
Nation Building 
Tax 

    328,082   

 10.02.12.01  Services     44,176   

150,000,000
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 10.02.12.02  Manufacturing     23,940   
 10.02.12.03  Imports     259,966   

10.02.16.00 
Social Security 
Contribution 
Levy 

250,000,000 210,000,000 216,180,547 103% 

10.02.16.01 Services 141,000,000  117,000,000  112,350,531 96%  
10.02.16.02 Manufacturing 45,000,000   45,000,000 52,564,897 117%  
10.02.16.03 Imports 64,000,000   48,000,000 51,265,118 107%  

 
License Taxes and 
other     

 10.03.03.00  
Betting & Gaming 
Levy 

10,000,000 5,500,000 6,921,817 126% 

 10.03.04.00  
Share Transaction 
Levy 

6,000,000 1,980,000 2,477,737 125% 

 10.03.05.00  
Construction 
Industry Guarantee 
Fund Levy 

  
 

    

 10.03.07.00  Other Licenses     
 

    

 10.03.07.11  
Debt Repayment 
Levy 

  
 

31,370   

 10.03.09.00  
Taxes on Lands 
leased out to 
Foreigners 

  
 

    

 10.03.10.00  Migrating Tax 12,000 4,000 14,350 359% 

 10.03.11.00  Remittance Fee 1,000 
 

  
 

20.03.02.23 Casino License Fee    500,000        500,000  100%  

  Total Revenue  2,086,013,000 1,761,984,000 1,832,274,446 104% 

* Excluding Stamp Duty which is transferred in full to the Provincial Councils and the 1/3 of collection under 
Nation Building Tax which is transferred to the Provincial Councils  

Source: Inland Revenue Department 

 
7.6 Performance of the Utilization of Allocation 

     

Type of 
Allocation 

Allocation (LKR ‘000) 
 

Actual 
Expenditure (LKR 

‘000) 

Allocation 
Utilization as a % 
of Final Allocation 

Recurrent 4,713,300 4,427,204 94% 
Capital 10,255,400 3,112,294 30% 

Source: Inland Revenue Department 

7.7 In terms of F.R. 208 Grant of Allocations for Expenditure to Inland 
Revenue Department as an Agent of other Ministries/ Department 

       

Serial 
No. 

Allocation Received 
from Which 

Ministry/ 
Department 

Purpose of 
the 

Allocation 

Allocation (LKR ‘000) Actual 
Expenditure 

(LKR ‘000) 

Allocation 
Utilization 
as a % of 

Final 
Allocation Original Final 

Not Applicable 

Source: Inland Revenue Department 
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 10.03.11.00  Remittance Fee 1,000 
 

  
 

20.03.02.23 Casino License Fee    500,000        500,000  100%  

  Total Revenue  2,086,013,000 1,761,984,000 1,832,274,446 104% 

* Excluding Stamp Duty which is transferred in full to the Provincial Councils and the 1/3 of collection under 
Nation Building Tax which is transferred to the Provincial Councils  
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7.6 Performance of the Utilization of Allocation 

     

Type of 
Allocation 

Allocation (LKR ‘000) 
 

Actual 
Expenditure (LKR 

‘000) 

Allocation 
Utilization as a % 
of Final Allocation 

Recurrent 4,713,300 4,427,204 94% 
Capital 10,255,400 3,112,294 30% 

Source: Inland Revenue Department 

7.7 In terms of F.R. 208 Grant of Allocations for Expenditure to Inland 
Revenue Department as an Agent of other Ministries/ Department 

       

Serial 
No. 

Allocation Received 
from Which 

Ministry/ 
Department 

Purpose of 
the 

Allocation 

Allocation (LKR ‘000) Actual 
Expenditure 

(LKR ‘000) 

Allocation 
Utilization 
as a % of 

Final 
Allocation Original Final 

Not Applicable 

Source: Inland Revenue Department 
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7.8 Performance of the Reporting of Non - Financial Assets 

      

Assets 
Code Code Description 

Balance as per 
Board of 

Survey Report 
as at 31.12.2023 

(LKR ‘000) 

Balance as per 
Financial Position 

Report as at 
31.12.2023 (LKR 

‘000) 

Yet to be 
Accounted 
(LKR ‘000) 

Reporting 
Progress 
as a % 

9151 Building and Structures 2,765,390 2,765,390 -  

100% 

9152 Machinery and Equipment 633,662 633,662 -  

9153 Land 2,081,300 2,081,300 -  

9154 Intangible Assets 8,962,223 8,962,223 -  

9155 Biological Assets -  -  -  

9160 Work in Progress -  -  -  

9180 Lease Assets 73,520 73,520 -  
 

Source: Inland Revenue Department 

 

7.9 Auditor General’s Report 
 

Annexure 08 

 

Annexure 08
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7.10 Compliance Report  
 

No. Applicable Requirement 
Compliance 

Status (Complied 
/Not Complied) 

Brief 
explanation 

for Non-
Compliance 

Corrective actions 
proposed to avoid 
non-compliance in 

future 

1 The following financial statements/ 
accounts have been submitted on due date      

1.1 Annual Financial statements Complied     
1.2 Advance to public officers account Complied 

 
  

1.3 
Trading and Manufacturing Advance 
Accounts (Commercial Advance Accounts) Not Applicable 

1.4 Stores Advance Accounts Not Applicable 

1.5 Special Advance Accounts Not Applicable 

1.6 Others Complied     

2 Maintenance of books and registers 
(FR445)      

2.1 
Fixed assets register has been maintained 
and update in terms of Public Administration 
circular 267/2018 

Complied 

    

2.2 
Personal emoluments register/ Personal 
emoluments cards have been maintained and 
update 

Complied 
    

2.3 
Register of Audit Queries has been 
maintained and update Complied 

    

2.4 Register of Internal Audit reports has been 
maintained and update 

Complied 
    

2.5 
All the monthly account summaries (CIGAS) 
are prepared and submitted to the Treasury 
on due date 

Complied 

    

2.6 Register for cheques and money orders has 
been maintained and update 

Complied 
    

2.7 
Inventory register has been maintained and 
update Complied 

    

2.8 Stocks Register has been maintained and 
update 

Complied 
    

2.9 Register of Losses has been maintained and 
update 

Complied 
    

2.10 Commitment Register has been maintained 
and update 

Complied 
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2.11 
Register of Counterfoil Books (GA-N20) has 
been maintained and update 

Complied 
    

3 
Delegation of functions for financial 
control (FR 135)      

3.1 
The Financial authority has been delegated 
within the institute 

Complied 
    

3.2 
The delegation of financial authority has 
been communicated within the institute 

Complied 
    

3.3 
The authority has been delegated in such 
manner so as to pass each transaction 
through two or more officers 

Complied 
    

3.4 

The controls have been adhered to by the 
accountants in terms of State Account 
Circular 171/2004 dated 11.05.2014 in using 
the Government Payroll Software Package 

Complied 

    

4 Preparation of Annual Plans      

4.1 The annual action plan has been prepared Complied 
    

4.2 The annual procurement plan has been 
prepared 

Complied 
    

4.3 The annual Internal Audit plan has been 
prepared 

Complied 
    

4.4 The annual estimate has been prepared and 
submitted to the NBD on due date 

Complied 
    

4.5 The annual cash flow has been submitted to 
the Treasury Operations Department on time 

Complied 
    

5 Audit Quires      

5.1 
All the audit queries have been replied 
within the specified time by the Auditor 
General 

Complied 
 . 

6 Internal Audit      

6.1 

The internal audit plan has been prepared at 
the beginning of the year after consulting the 
Auditor General in terms of Financial 
Regulation 134(2) DMA/ 1-2019 

Complied 

    

6.2 
All the internal audit reports have been 
replied within one month Complied   
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2.11 
Register of Counterfoil Books (GA-N20) has 
been maintained and update 

Complied 
    

3 
Delegation of functions for financial 
control (FR 135)      

3.1 
The Financial authority has been delegated 
within the institute 

Complied 
    

3.2 
The delegation of financial authority has 
been communicated within the institute 

Complied 
    

3.3 
The authority has been delegated in such 
manner so as to pass each transaction 
through two or more officers 

Complied 
    

3.4 

The controls have been adhered to by the 
accountants in terms of State Account 
Circular 171/2004 dated 11.05.2014 in using 
the Government Payroll Software Package 

Complied 

    

4 Preparation of Annual Plans      

4.1 The annual action plan has been prepared Complied 
    

4.2 The annual procurement plan has been 
prepared 

Complied 
    

4.3 The annual Internal Audit plan has been 
prepared 

Complied 
    

4.4 The annual estimate has been prepared and 
submitted to the NBD on due date 

Complied 
    

4.5 The annual cash flow has been submitted to 
the Treasury Operations Department on time 

Complied 
    

5 Audit Quires      

5.1 
All the audit queries have been replied 
within the specified time by the Auditor 
General 

Complied 
 . 

6 Internal Audit      

6.1 

The internal audit plan has been prepared at 
the beginning of the year after consulting the 
Auditor General in terms of Financial 
Regulation 134(2) DMA/ 1-2019 

Complied 

    

6.2 
All the internal audit reports have been 
replied within one month Complied   
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6.3 

Copies of the internal audit reports has been 
submitted to the Management Audit 
Department in terms of Sub-section 40(4) of 
the National Audit Act No. 19 of 2018 

Complied 

    

6.4 
All the copies of internal audit reports have 
been submitted to the Auditor General in 
terms of Financial Registration 134(3) 

Complied 

    

7 Audit and Management Committee      

7.1 

Minimum 04 meetings of the Audit and 
Management Committee has been held 
during the year as per the DMA Circular 1-
2019 

Complied 

  

8 Asset Management      

8.1 

The information about purchases of assets 
and disposals was submitted to the 
Comptroller General's Office in terms of 
Paragraph 07 of the Asset Management 
Circular No. 01/2017 

Complied 

    

8.2 

A suitable liaison officer was appointed to 
coordinate the implementation of the 
provisions of the circular and details of the 
nominated officer was sent to the 
Comptroller General's Office in terms of 
paragraph 13 of the aforesaid circular 

Complied 

    

8.3 

The board of survey was conducted and the 
relevant reports submitted to the Auditor 
General on due date in terms of Public 
Finance circular No. 05/2016 

Complied    

8.4 

The excesses and deficits that were disclosed 
through the board of survey and other 
relating recommendations, actions were 
carried out during the period specified in the 
circular 

Complied 
  

8.5 The disposal of condemn articles had been 
carried out in terms of FR 772 

Complied    

9 Vehicle Management      

9.1 

The daily running charts and monthly 
summaries of the pool vehicles had been 
prepared and submitted to the Auditor 
General on due date 

Complied   
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9.2 
The condemned vehicles had been disposed 
of within a period of less than 6 months after 
condemning 

Complied 

    

9.3 
The vehicle logbooks had been maintained 
an updated 

Complied 
    

9.4 
The action has been taken in terms of FR. 
103,104 109 and 110 with regard to every 
vehicle accident 

Complied 
    

9.5 

The fuel consumption of vehicles has been 
re-tested in terms of the provisions of 
paragraph 3.1 of the Public Administration 
Circular No. 30/2016 of 29.12.2016 

Complied 

 

 

9.6 
The absolute ownership of the leased vehicle 
log books has been transferred after the lease 
term 

Complied 

    

10 Management of Bank Accounts      

10.1 
The bank reconciliation statements had been 
prepared, got certified and made ready for 
audit by the due date 

Complied 

    

10.2 
The dormant accounts that had existed in the 
year under review or since previous year 
settled 

Not Applicable 

10.3 

The action had been taken in terms of 
Financial Regulations regarding balances 
that had been disclosed through bank 
reconciliation statements and for which 
adjustments had to be made, and had those 
balances been settled within one month 

Complied 

    

11 Utilization of Provisions      

11.1 The Provisions allocated had been spent 
without exceeding the limit 

Complied 
    

11.2 
The liabilities not exceeding the provisions 
that remained at the end of the year as per 
F.R. 94(1) 

Complied 
    

12 Advance to public officers account      
12.1 The limits had been complied with Complied     

12.2 
A time analysis had been carries out on the 
loans in arrears Complied     

12.3 
The loan balances in arrears for over one 
year had been settled Complied    
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13 General Deposit Account      

13.1 The action had been taken as per F.R. 571 in 
relation to disposal of lapsed deposits 

Complied 
    

13.2 
The control register for general deposits had 
been updated and maintained 

Complied 
    

14 Imprest Account      

14.1 
The balance in the cash book at the end of 
year under review remitted to TOD Complied 

    

14.2 
The ad-hoc sub imprests issued as per F.R. 
371 settled within one month from the 
completion of the task 

Complied 
    

14.3 
The ad-hoc sub imprests had been issued 
exceeding the limit approved as per FR. 371 Complied 

    

14.4 
The balance of the imprest account had been 
reconciled with the Treasury books monthly Complied 

    

15 Revenue Account      

15.1 
The refunds from the revenue had been made 
in terms of the regulations 

Complied 
    

15.2 
The revenue collection had been directly 
credited to the revenue account without 
credited to the deposit account 

Complied 
    

15.3 
Returns of arrears of revenue forward to the 
Auditor General in terms of FR 176 

Complied 
    

16 Human Resource Management      

16.1 The staff had been paid within the approved 
cadre 

Complied 
    

16.2 
All members of the staff have been issued a 
duty list in writing Complied 

    

16.3 
All reports have been submitted to MSD in 
terms of their circular No. 04/2017 dated 
20.09.2017 

Complied 
    

17 Provision of information to the public      

17.1 

An information officer has been appointed 
and a proper register of information is 
maintained and updated in terms of Right to 
Information Act and Regulation 

Complied 
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13 General Deposit Account      

13.1 The action had been taken as per F.R. 571 in 
relation to disposal of lapsed deposits 

Complied 
    

13.2 
The control register for general deposits had 
been updated and maintained 

Complied 
    

14 Imprest Account      

14.1 
The balance in the cash book at the end of 
year under review remitted to TOD Complied 

    

14.2 
The ad-hoc sub imprests issued as per F.R. 
371 settled within one month from the 
completion of the task 

Complied 
    

14.3 
The ad-hoc sub imprests had been issued 
exceeding the limit approved as per FR. 371 Complied 

    

14.4 
The balance of the imprest account had been 
reconciled with the Treasury books monthly Complied 

    

15 Revenue Account      

15.1 
The refunds from the revenue had been made 
in terms of the regulations 

Complied 
    

15.2 
The revenue collection had been directly 
credited to the revenue account without 
credited to the deposit account 

Complied 
    

15.3 
Returns of arrears of revenue forward to the 
Auditor General in terms of FR 176 

Complied 
    

16 Human Resource Management      

16.1 The staff had been paid within the approved 
cadre 

Complied 
    

16.2 
All members of the staff have been issued a 
duty list in writing Complied 

    

16.3 
All reports have been submitted to MSD in 
terms of their circular No. 04/2017 dated 
20.09.2017 

Complied 
    

17 Provision of information to the public      

17.1 

An information officer has been appointed 
and a proper register of information is 
maintained and updated in terms of Right to 
Information Act and Regulation 

Complied 
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17.2 

Information about the institution to the 
public have been provided by Website or 
alternative measures and has it been 
facilitated o appreciate/ allegation to public 
against the public authority by this Website 
or alternative measures 

Complied 

    

17.3 
Bi-Annual and Annual reports have been 
submitted as per section 08 and 10 of the 
RTI Act 

Complied 

    

18 Implementing citizens charter      

18.1 

A citizen’s charter/ Citizens client's charter 
has been formulated and implemented by the 
Institution in terms of the circular number 
05/2008 and 05/2018(1) of Ministry of 
Public Administration and Management 

Complied 
  

18.2 

A methodology has been devised by the 
Institution in order to monitor and assess the 
formulation and the implementation of 
Citizens Charter/ Citizens client's charter as 
per paragraph 2.3 of the circular 

Complied 

  

 

19 Preparation of the Human Resource Plan 
     

19.1 

A human resource plan has been prepared in 
terms of the format in Annexure 02 of Public 
Administration Circular No. 02/2018 dated 
24.01.2018. 

Complied   

19.2 

A minimum training opportunity of not less 
than 12 hours per year for each member of 
the staff has been ensured in the aforesaid 
Human Resource Plan 

Complied  
 

19.3 

Annual performance agreements have been 
signed for the entire staff based on the 
format in Annexure 01 of the aforesaid 
Circular 

Complied 
   

19.4 

A senior officer was appointed and assigned 
the responsibility of preparing the human 
resource development plan, organizing 
capacity building programs and conducting 
skill development programs as per paragraph 
No. 6.5 of the aforesaid Circular 

Complied 

  

 

20 
Responses Audit Paras 
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20.1 
The shortcomings pointed out in the audit 
paragraphs issued by the Auditor General for 
the previous years have been rectified 

Complied 
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17.2 

Information about the institution to the 
public have been provided by Website or 
alternative measures and has it been 
facilitated o appreciate/ allegation to public 
against the public authority by this Website 
or alternative measures 
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Institution in terms of the circular number 
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A methodology has been devised by the 
Institution in order to monitor and assess the 
formulation and the implementation of 
Citizens Charter/ Citizens client's charter as 
per paragraph 2.3 of the circular 
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19 Preparation of the Human Resource Plan 
     

19.1 

A human resource plan has been prepared in 
terms of the format in Annexure 02 of Public 
Administration Circular No. 02/2018 dated 
24.01.2018. 

Complied   

19.2 

A minimum training opportunity of not less 
than 12 hours per year for each member of 
the staff has been ensured in the aforesaid 
Human Resource Plan 

Complied  
 

19.3 

Annual performance agreements have been 
signed for the entire staff based on the 
format in Annexure 01 of the aforesaid 
Circular 

Complied 
   

19.4 

A senior officer was appointed and assigned 
the responsibility of preparing the human 
resource development plan, organizing 
capacity building programs and conducting 
skill development programs as per paragraph 
No. 6.5 of the aforesaid Circular 

Complied 

  

 

20 
Responses Audit Paras 
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8.1 Overview8.1 Overview

Human resources are the backbone of any 
efficient and effective tax administration. 
Adequate staffing, proper training, and the 
retention of experienced personnel are critical 
to ensuring quality service delivery. However, 
the IRD faces significant challenges in this 
regard. Analyzing the current staff shortages, 
lack of training, and the impacts of these issues 
provides a comprehensive understanding of the 
obstacles IRD is encountering in achieving the 
annual targets.

According to the status as at 31 December 
2023, the IRD is grappling with a considerable 
shortage of personnel across various levels. With 
an approved cadre of 1,229 Inland Revenue 
Service Officials, there is a shortfall of 281 
positions, which translates in to a vacancy rate 
of approximately 23%. This shortfall hinders 
the ability of the IRD to operate at full capacity 
and efficiently manage its workload.

In the combined service staff category, the 
situation is similarly challenging. Out of an 
approved cadre of 1,448, there is a shortage of 
176 in staff members, indicating a vacancy rate 
of approximately 12%. This gap impacts various 
support functions that are crucial for the smooth 
operation of day-to-day tax administration 
activities.

The Information and Communication 
Technology (ICT) division, a vital component 
in modern tax administrations, is also under 
strain. With an approved cadre of 170 positions, 
there is a shortage of 42 staff members, resulting 
in a vacancy rate of approximately 25%. This 
significant gap affects the IRD's ability to 
leverage technology for efficient tax collection 
and administration.

In addition, the staff shortages matter has been 
worsened due to recent retirements of experienced 
senior officials. The loss of their expertise and 
institutional knowledge creates a substantial 
gap in leadership and guidance. Furthermore, 
the position of Civil Engineer has been vacant 
for an extended period, severely impacting 
maintenance and procurement processes. This 
vacancy disrupts essential infrastructure projects 
and procurement activities that are critical for 
the IRD's functionality.

Moreover, the lack of training opportunities 
for existing staff presents a significant hurdle 
for human resource development. Continuous 
training and professional development are 
essential to keep pace with evolving tax policies, 
technology advancements, and best practices in 
tax administration. Without adequate training, 
the capacity of the staff to handle complex tax 
matters and provide high-quality service is 
compromised.  Hence, addressing the human 
resource shortages and enhancing training 
opportunities are critical for the IRD to sustain its 
operations and achieve its strategic objectives. 

8.2 Cadre Management8.2 Cadre Management

8.2.1 Total Number of Employees

The following table shows the approved cadre of 
the IRD, the numbers in post and the vacancies, 
as at 31 December 2023. 
 
Table 8.1 :  Cadre as at 31.12.2023

Position Approved 
Cadre

Numbers 
in Post

Vacancies

Inland Revenue Service	 1,229	 948	 281
Commissioner General	 1	 0	 1
Deputy Commissioner General   	 9	 5	 4
Senior Commissioner   	 22	 11	 11
Commissioner   	 90	 33	 57
Senior Deputy Commissioner / 	
Deputy Commissioner /	 1,107	 899	 208
Assistant Commissioner
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8.2.2 Administrative Challenges

The IRD has faced significant administrative 
challenges due to delays in filling key vacancies 
that creating ambiguities in the tax administration. 
Following the retirement of Commissioner 
General Mr. D. R. S. Hapuarachchi on 27 August 
2023, a Deputy Commissioner-General was 
appointed as the acting Commissioner General 
from 28 August 2023 to 31 December 2023. 
The lack of stability and certainty in leadership 
positions hampers strategic decision-making 
and operational effectiveness.

In addition, the IRD has been faced persistent 
administrative challenges in human resource 

management, primarily due to delays in filling 
key vacancies and ambiguities in the application 
of certain circulars relating to specific allowances 
to senior public officials. As at the end of the 
year 2023, four Senior Commissioners were 
acting as Deputy Commissioners General, 
eleven Commissioners were acting as Senior 
Commissioners, and fifty-seven Senior Deputy 
Commissioners were acting as Commissioners, 
all on appointments subject to the approval of 
the Public Service Commission (PSC). These 
acting appointments were necessary to ensure the 
continuous functionality of the IRD. However, 
the officials in these roles did not receive some 
of the allowances entitled to the regular posts, 
leading to significant dissatisfaction.

The prolonged period of acting appointments 
without the corresponding benefits has negatively 
impacted employee motivation. Officials 
performing full-time duties in these acting roles 
have not received the perks associated with the 
regular posts due to ambiguities in the application 
of relevant circulars for acting positions. This 
situation has led to frustration and demotivation 
among staff, who feel that their efforts are not 
adequately recognized or compensated. The 
issue has been long-standing, with instances of 
officials being called for interviews only after 
their retirements, in the past.  Thus, the delays in 
regularizing appointments, especially at senior 
management levels, have a detrimental effect on 
the overall efficiency of the IRD. 

In the aforesaid circumstances, timely 
appointments are crucial for the effective 
functioning of the tax administration. Ensuring 
that key positions are filled promptly prevents 
disruptions in operations and enhances the 
IRD’s ability to carry out its services, efficiently. 
Regularizing appointments and providing 
the appropriate allowances and benefits to 
officials in acting roles not only boosts morale 

Other Services	 1,639	 1,414	 225
Combined Services	 1,448	  1,272	 176
Chief Financial Officer	 1	 1	 0
Chief Accountant	 1	 1	 0
Internal Auditor	 1	 1	 0
Director (Administration)	 1	 1	 0
Accountant	 5	 5	 0
Administrative Officer	 3	 2	 1
Translator	 9	 9	 0
Development Officer	 7	 7	 0
Librarian 	 1	 1	 0
Assistant Librarian	 1	 1	 0
 Management Service Officer	 925	 854	 71
Driver	 96	 80	 16
KKS	 397	 309	 88
ICT Service	 170	 128	 42
Director (ICT) 	 2	 2	 0
Deputy Director / 	
Assistant Director (ICT)	
Officer (ICT)   	 47	 20	 27
Assistant (ICT)  	 105	 97	 8
Departmental Service	 20	 14	 6
Technical Officer	 2	 0	 2
Transport Officer	 1	 1	 0
Receptionist	 4	 3	 1
Research Assistant	 10	 9	 1
Building Supervisor	 1	 0	 1
Carpenter	 1	 1	 0
Circuit Bungalow Keeper 	 1	 0	 1
Other	 1	 0	 1
Engineer	 1	 0	 1
Total	 2,868	 2,362	 506

	 16	 9	 7
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and motivation but also ensures that the IRD 
can retain experienced and skilled personnel. 
Addressing the delays in filling vacancies and 
resolving issues related to ICT service transfers 
are essential steps towards improving the overall 
efficiency and effectiveness of the IRD.

Therefore, to enhance employee motivation and 
operational efficiency, it is imperative to address 
the administrative difficulties and delays in filling 
vacancies at the IRD. Streamlining the approval 
process, ensuring timely appointments, and 
clarifying the application of relevant circulars 
will help in recognizing the efforts of acting 
officials, appropriately. Furthermore, resolving 
issues related to ICT service transfers is crucial 
for maintaining continuity and expertise 
within the department. These measures will 
contribute to a more motivated workforce and 
a more efficient and effective IRD, ultimately 
strengthening the tax administration of the 
country.

The above classification is in accordance with 
the Public Administration Circular 32/2017 and 
at a glance it gives a distorted picture. However, 
from the management perspective, the IRD’s 
senior management is comprised Commissioner 
General, Deputy Commissioners General, 
Senior Commissioners. The Commissioners 
are the team leaders at operational management 
level.

8.2.3 Measures Taken to Fill the Existing 
Vacancies

8.2.3.1 Senior Level8.2.3.1 Senior Level
Officers have been appointed on acting basis to 
cover the duties of all vacant posts of Deputy 
Commissioners General, Senior Commissioners 
and Commissioners, pending the PSC approval.  
Interviews for appointments of Special Grade of 
the Sri Lanka Inland Revenue Service were held 
in 2023.

Interviews were held in November 2023 for 68 
applicants who qualified based on results of the 
open competitive examination held in March 
2022.  Accordingly, 62 candidates were selected 
to be appointed to the Assistant Commissioner 
post of the Sri Lanka Inland Revenue Service.

The Ministry of Public Administration, 
Home Affairs, Provincial Councils and Local 
Government has been made aware of the 
vacancies in the posts of Engineer, Deputy 
Director (Information Technology) and 
Assistant Director (Information Technology).

8.2.3.2 Tertiary Level8.2.3.2 Tertiary Level
The Ministry of Public Administration, 
Home Affairs, Provincial Councils and Local 
Government has been made aware of the 
vacancies in the post of Information and 
Communication Technology (ICT) Officers.

8.2.3.3 Secondary Level8.2.3.3 Secondary Level
The Ministry of Public Administration, 
Home Affairs, Provincial Councils and Local 
Government is updated about the vacancies in 
the posts of Information and Communication 
Technology Assistant and Management Service 
Officer regularly (monthly). 

As the recruitment has been suspended till 
further notice as per Government policy, the 

Table 8.2 :  Cadre Summary as at 31.12.2023

Level of 
Service

Approved 
Cadre

Existing 
Cadre

Vacancies

Senior	 1,257	 968	 289
Tertiary	 60	 32	 28
Secondary	 1,055	 972	 83

Primary	 496	 390	 106
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filling of the vacancy in the post of Receptionist 
has temporarily been suspended.  Arrangements 
have been made to cover the duties from 
receptionists who are currently in service.

8.2.3.4 Primary Level8.2.3.4 Primary Level
The Ministry of Public Administration, 
Home Affairs, Provincial Councils and Local 
Government has been notified regarding the 
filling of vacancies in the posts of Driver and 
Office Employees’ Service.

The Scheme of Recruitment for the post 
of Building Inspector has been drafted and 
submitted for approval. 

Arrangements have been made to temporarily 
cover the duties of Circuit Bungalow Caretaker 
from Office Employees’ Service officers 

currently assigned in the Nuwara Eliya Regional 
Office.

8.2.4 Promotions during the Year 20238.2.4 Promotions during the Year 2023
  
Within the year, 6 Senior Commissioners 
promoted to Deputy Commissioner General 
position, 13 Commissioners promoted to Senior 
Commissioner position and 26 Senior Deputy 
Commissioners promoted as Commissioner 
position. Details of promoted officers are in 
Annexure 09.

8.2.5 Retirements during the Year 20238.2.5 Retirements during the Year 2023

Following senior officers who contributed to 
the performance in 2023 retired from the Inland 
Revenue Service during the year.

Table 8.3 :  Retirements during the Year 2023

Source: Inland Revenue Department

		 		
Designation

Service Period in the IRD

From To
Name

1	 Mr. D.R.S. Hapuarachchi       	Commissioner General	 14.09.1987	 27.08.2023
2	 Mr. T. Rajapaksha	 Deputy Commissioner General	 01.03.1991 	 07.01.2023
3	 Mr. K.D.M.N. Gunathunga  	 Deputy Commissioner General	 01.03.1991	 13.01.2023
4	 Mr. R.A.N. Rajapaksha  	 Deputy Commissioner General	 08.09.1987	 23.01.2023
5	 Mr. S.S.D. Weerasekara  	 Deputy Commissioner General	 01.03.1991	 29.01.2023
6	 Mr. M.L.M. Thahir	 Deputy Commissioner General	 14.09.1987	 16.05.2023
7	 Mr. S.M.A. Bandara	 Deputy Commissioner General	 01.01.1993	 30.05.2023
8	 Mr. N.M.M. Mifly  	 Deputy Commissioner General	 01.01.1993	 21.07.2023
9	 Mr. M. Ganesharajah	 Deputy Commissioner General	 01.07.1993	 11.10.2023
10	Mr. W.S. Thilakarathne           	Senior Commissioner (Acting)	 02.08.1993	 10.08.2023
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Table 8.4 shows the other retirements during 
the year.

8.2.6 Employee Categorization by Age Wise

Table 8.5 and Figure 8.1 shows the employee 
categorization by age wise of employees of 
Inland Revenue Service.

Designation No. of 
Retirements

Commissioner	 04
Senior Deputy Commissioner	 10
Assistant Commissioner	 05
Administrative Officer	 01
ICT Officer	 01
Development Officer	 01
Management Service Officer	 16
ICT Assistant	 05
Driver	 11
Office Employees’ Service	 12

Table 8.5 :    Age wise Analysis of Employees 
of Inland Revenue  Service

Age Group (Years) No. of Officers 
as at 31.12.2023

	 25 - 30	 -
	 31 - 40	 32
	 41 - 50	 605
	 51 - 60	 311
	 Total	 948

Figure 8.1 :   Age wise Analysis of Employees of Inland Revenue Service 

Table 8.4 :  Other Retirements
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8.3 Human Resource Development 
programmes 

The IRD leverages training opportunities from 
various international and national sources. 
Notably, countries like Japan, India, and China, 
along with esteemed international organizations 
such as the International Monetary Fund (IMF), 
World Bank, Asian Development Bank (ADB), 
Japan International Cooperation Agency (JICA), 
and United Nations Development Programme 
(UNDP), provide extensive training programs. 
These programs are designed to enhance the 
technical skills, knowledge, and competencies 
of tax officials, aligning with global best 
practices and standards.

In addition to short-term training, the IRD also 
sponsors its employees for postgraduate studies, 
including master's degrees. A distinctive feature 
in this context is the special job-related master's 
degree, MBA in Taxation (MBAT), offered in 
collaboration with the Postgraduate Institute 
of Management (PIM) of University of Sri 
Jayewardenepura. This program is unique in 
the South Asian region and is tailored to meet 
the specific needs of tax officials, providing 
them with advanced knowledge and skills in 
taxation, which are directly applicable to their 
professional roles.

The Sri Lanka Institute of Development 
Administration (SLIDA) conducts specific 
and general training sessions for government 
employees, of which department’s staff are 
sponsored by IRD. Moreover, the HR development 
division within the IRD organizes its own training 
programs and classes. These are aimed at preparing 
employees for compulsory examinations required 
for promotions and for gaining permanent status 
in service as stipulated in the service minute. 
This structured approach ensures that employees 
are well-prepared and qualified for career 
advancement within the organization.

While the IRD offers extensive training 
opportunities for most of its staff, it is noted that 
relevant training opportunities for Information 
and Communication Technology (ICT) staff 
are comparatively rare. Addressing this gap 
is crucial, as ICT plays a vital role in IRD 
tax administration, aiding in efficiency, data 
management, and digitalization processes.

8.3.1 Local and Foreign Human Resource 
Development Programs Conducted during 
the year 2023

Table 8.6 shows the details of local Human 
Resource Development programs those were 
sponsored by the IRD during the year 2023.

Table 8.6 :   Local Human Resource Development Programs

Source: Inland Revenue Department

		 		
Name of the Programme No. of 

Participants
Funded 

byNo
Investment 

(LKR)

1	 Master of Data Analytics - University of Kelaniya	 2	 800,000	 GOSL
2	 Workshop on Advanced MS Excel Skills	 5	 65,000	 GOSL
3	 Master of Information Technology - University of Kelaniya	 1	 225,000	 GOSL
4	 Master of Business Management - University of Ruhuna	 1	 100,000	 GOSL
5	 Maintenance of Government Vehicles	 1	 5,000	 GOSL
6	 Preparation of Salaries of Public Officers	 1	 5,000	 GOSL
7	 Disciplinary Procedure	 1	 5,000	 GOSL
8	 Maintaining a personal file in effective manner	 1	 5,000	 GOSL
			   1,140,000	
			             (1st Installment)	9	 Master of Mass Communication - University of Kelaniya	 19 GOSL
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Table 8.8 :   Training Courses Conducted for Official Language Proficiency in Year 2023

Table 8.7 :   Training Classes and Examinations Conducted for Inland Revenue Service 		
Officers in Year 2023

		 		
Course/ Examination Number of 

Trainees
Held in 

(Duration)

		 		  Course Number of TraineesHeld in (Duration)

Tamil Course for Assistant Commissioners	 200 hours	 194
Tamil Course for Management Service Officers	 150 hours	 205
Tamil Course for Office Employees’ Service Officers	 100 hours	 54

Source: Inland Revenue Department

22 foreign human resource development 
programs were conducted in 2023 and 47 officers 
participated for these programs. Full details 
of the foreign human resource development 
programs are given in the Annexure 10.

8.3.2 Training Classes and Examinations 
Conducted for Inland Revenue Service 
Officers during the year 2023

Human Resource Development Unit of the IRD 
conducted training courses and examinations 

for Assistant Commissioners and Deputy 
Commissioners regularly with the aim of 
enhancing their knowledge and improving their 
analytical skills, particularly in Taxation and 
Accountancy. These courses are designed as 
to provide the training on subjects, required to 
fulfill various service requirements of officers 
for confirmation in the respective grades and 
promotions and to acquire knowledge for 
discharging duties. Details of training classes 
and the examinations conducted for IRD 
personal during the year were as follows.

8.3.3 Training Courses Conducted for Official 
Language Proficiency in Year 2023

As per the Public Administration circular, No. 
18/2020, public officers need to acquire Official 

Language proficiency. Official Language 
Proficiency Courses were conducted by the 
Department of Official Languages during the 
year and details of courses conducted for IRD 
personal were as follows.

Whole Year

January to
May 2023

May 2023

December
2023

30

04

04

27

Source: Inland Revenue Department

Seminars for the Assistant Commissioners appointed on 16.07.2018 for 		      
1st attempt of Departmental Examination

Seminars for 2nd Efficiency Bar Examination for the Deputy Commissioners	 	 	
appointed on 04.03.2017, 27.10.2018, 23.05.2021 and 18.11.2023 for on	
 2nd  Efficiency Bar Examination		

The 2nd Efficiency Bar Examination for the Deputy Commissioners appointed 	 	 	
on 04.03.2017, 27.10.2018, 23.05.2021 and 18.11.2023 		

The Departmental Examination for the Assistant Commissioners appointed 			 
on 16.07.2018  - 1st Attempt	
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8.3.4 Other Seminars, Workshops, Awareness 
Programs and Training Programs Conducted 
for All Staff in Year 2023

Following seminars, workshops, awareness 
programs and training programs were conducted 
physically and online to improve knowledge, 
skills and efficiency of all staff in IRD.

	➢ Awareness Programme on Develop the 
Efficiency of Services for officers of 
the Inland Revenue Service

	➢ Awareness Programme on internal 
circulars & new amendments to the 
Inland Revenue Act, No. 24 of 2017 
for all officers of the Inland Revenue 
Service - A minimum of 6 hours should 
be covered for each officer

	➢ Training programs on Internet Security 
for the Commissioners of the Inland 
Revenue Service

	➢ Awareness Programme on Develop the 
Efficiency of Services for Drivers & 
other services

	➢ Awareness Programme on Develop 
the Efficiency of Services for the 
officers of Combined Service & Office 
Employees’ Service

	➢ Training programs on Audit & Tax 
Training for IRD Officers of Medium 
Corporate Units (MCU)
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Annexure 01 

Taxes Administered by IRD during the Year 

Tax Type Principal Act and Amendments Certified on 
Income Tax Inland Revenue Act, No. 24 of 2017 24.10.2017 

Inland Revenue (Amendment) Act, No. 10 of 2021 13.05.2021 
Inland Revenue (Amendment) Act, No. 45 of 2022 19.12.2022 
Inland Revenue (Amendment) Act, No. 4 of 2023 08.05.2023 
Inland Revenue (Amendment) Act, No. 14 of 2023 08.09.2023 

Value Added Tax 
(including VAT on 
Financial Services) 

Value Added Tax Act, No. 14 of 2002 26.07.2002 
Value Added Tax (Amendment) Act, No. 7 of 2003 27.02.2003 
Value Added Tax (Amendment) Act, No. 13 of 2004 18.11.2004 
Value Added Tax (Amendment) Act, No. 6 of 2005 30.03.2005 
Value Added Tax (Amendment) Act, No. 8 of 2006 31.03.2006 
Value Added Tax (Amendment) Act, No. 14 of 2007  12.04.2007 
Value Added Tax (Amendment) Act, No. 15 of 2008 29.02.2008 
Value Added Tax (Amendment) Act, No. 15 of 2009 31.03.2009 
Value Added Tax (Amendment) Act, No. 9 of 2011 31.03.2011 
Value Added Tax (Amendment) Act, No. 7 of 2012 30.03.2012 
Value Added Tax (Amendment) Act, No. 17 of 2013 24.04.2013 
Value Added Tax (Amendment) Act, No. 7 of 2014 24.04.2014 
Value Added Tax (Amendment) Act, No. 11 of 2015 30.10.2015 
Value Added Tax (Amendment) Act, No. 20 of 2016 01.11.2016 
Value Added Tax (Amendment) Act, No. 25 of 2018 16.08.2018 
Value Added Tax (Amendment) Act, No. 19 of 2019 31.10.2019 
Value Added Tax (Amendment) Act, No. 9 of 2021 13.05.2021 
Value Added Tax (Amendment) Act, No. 13 of 2022 31.03.2022 
Value Added Tax (Amendment) Act, No. 44 of 2022 14.12.2022 
Value Added Tax (Amendment) Act, No. 32 of 2023 13.12.2023 

Betting and 
Gaming Levy 

Betting and Gaming Levy Act, No. 40 of 1988 24.11.1988 
Betting and Gaming Levy (Amendment) Act, No. 7 of 2001 11.04.2001 
Finance Act, No. 11 of 2002 08.07.2002 
Betting and Gaming Levy (Amendment) Act, No. 23 of 2003 30.07.2003 
Betting and Gaming Levy (Amendment) Act, No. 9 of 2005 31.03.2005 
Betting and Gaming Levy (Amendment) Act, No. 14 of 2006 31.03.2006 
Betting and Gaming Levy (Amendment) Act, No. 19 of 2013 24.04.2013 
Betting and Gaming Levy (Amendment) Act, No. 14 of 2015 30.10.2015 
Betting and Gaming Levy (Amendment) Act, No. 11 of 2023 21.08.2023 

Stamp Duty Stamp Duty Act, No. 43 of 1982 14.12.1982 
Stamp Duty (Special Provisions) Act, No. 12 of 2006 31.03.2006 
Stamp Duty (Special Provisions) (Amendment) Act, No. 10 of 2008 29.02.2008 
Provincial Councils (Transfer of Stamp Duty) Act, No. 13 of 2011 31.03.2011 
Provincial Councils (Transfer of Stamp Duty) (Amendment) Act, No. 6 of 
2022 

17.02.2022 

Share Transaction 
Levy 

Finance Act, No. 5 of 2005 30.03.2005 
Finance (Amendment) Act, No. 13 of 2007 11.04.2007 
Finance (Amendment) Act, No. 8 of 2008 29.02.2008 
Finance (Amendment) Act, 18 of 2009 31.03.2009 

Migrating Tax Finance Act, No. 10 of 2015 30.10.2015 
Tax on Voluntary 
Disclosure 

Finance Act, No. 18 of 2021 15.09.2021 

Surcharge Tax Surcharge Tax Act, No. 14 of 2022 08.04.2022 
Social Security 
Contribution Levy 

Social Security Contribution Levy Act, No. 25 of 2022 20.09.2022 
Social Security Contribution Levy (Amendment) Act, No. 15 of 2023 08.09.2023 
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Annexure 02 

Taxes Abolished and Repealed but Collection Made during the Year 2023 

Tax Type Principal Act and Amendments Date of Abolished or 
Repealed 

Income Tax Inland Revenue Act, No. 10 of 2006 01.04.2018 

National Security Levy National Security Levy Act, No. 52 of 1991 01.08.2002 

Goods and Services Tax Goods and Services Tax Act, No. 34 of 1996 01.08.2002 

Turnover Tax (Northern 
Province) 

Turnover Tax Act, No. 69 of 1981 01.01.2011 

Economic Service Charge  Economic Service Charge Act, No. 13 of 2006 01.01.2020 
Economic Service Charge (Amendment) Act, No.15 
of 2007 
Economic Service Charge (Amendment) Act, No. 11 
of 2008 
Economic Service Charge (Amendment) Act, No. 16 
of 2009 
Economic Service Charge (Amendment) Act, No. 11 
of 2011 
Economic Service Charge (Amendment) Act, No. 11 
of 2012 
Economic Service Charge (Amendment) Act, No. 6 of 
2013 
Economic Service Charge (Amendment) Act, No. 9 of 
2014 
Economic Service Charge (Amendment) Act, No. 13 
of 2015 
Economic Service Charge (Amendment) Act, No. 7 of 
2017 
Economic Service Charge (Amendment) Act, No. 33 
of 2018 
Economic Service Charge (Amendment) Act, No. 4 of 
2020 

Nation Building Tax Nation Building Tax Act, No. 9 of 2009 01.12.2019 
Nation Building Tax (Amendment) Act, No. 32 of 
2009 

Nation Building Tax (Amendment) Act, No. 10 of 
2011 
Nation Building Tax (Amendment) Act, No. 9 of 
2012 
Nation Building Tax (Amendment) Act, No. 11 of 
2013 
Nation Building Tax (Amendment) Act, No. 10 of 
2014 
Nation Building Tax (Amendment) Act, No. 12 of 
2015 
Nation Building Tax (Amendment) Act, No. 22 of 
2016 
Nation Building Tax (Amendment) Act, No. 13 of 
2017 
Nation Building Tax (Amendment) Act, No. 20 of 
2018 
Nation Building Tax (Amendment) Act, No. 20 of 
2019 
Nation Building Tax (Amendment) Act, No. 3 of 
2020 

Debt Repayment Levy Finance Act, No. 35 of 2018 01.01.2022 
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 Annexure 03 
 

 
  VAT Exempted Goods and Services 

 
(a) The supply or import of - 
 (i) Wheat and Wheat Flour; 
 (ii) Infant Milk Powder; 
 (iii) Pharmaceutical Products, Drugs (other than cosmetics), the end use of which are 

confined to therapeutic or prophylactic effect and purchased on a prescription of a 
physician and raw materials for the production or manufacture of such products or 
drugs; 

 (iv) Ayurvedic Preparations belong to the Ayurveda Pharmacopoeia or Ayurvedic 
Preparations (other than cosmetic preparations) or Unani, Siddha or Homeopathic 
Preparations (other than cosmetic preparations) identified under the Harmonized 
Commodity Description and Coding System Numbers for Custom purposes and 
Raw Materials for such preparations, with the recommendation of the 
Commissioner for Ayurveda appointed under section 3 of the Ayurveda Act, No. 31 
of 1961 

 (v) Crude Petroleum Oil, Kerosene, Aviation Fuel, Oil for Ships or Fuel Oil specified 
under the Harmonized Commodity Description Number 2710.19.60 for Custom 
purposes; 

 (vi) Artificial Limb, Crutches, Wheel Chairs, Hearing Aids, Accessories for such aids or 
Appliances which are worn or carried or implanted in the human body to 
compensate for a defect or disability, White Canes for the blind, Braille Typewriters 
and Parts, Braille Writing Papers, Braille Writing Boards and any Value Added Tax 
(VAT) Exemptions (Available on or after 01.01.2024) ` other articles which are 
used by disabled persons which are approved by the Minister taking into 
consideration the degree of relief requested by such persons, on an application made 
for that purposes; 

 (vii) Bio Fertilizer, Artemia Eggs and Peat Moss, classified under the Harmonized 
Commodity Description and Coding System Numbers for Custom purposes; 

 (viii) Agricultural Seeds, Agricultural Plants, Shrimp Feed inclusive of Prawn Feed and 
Animal Feed but excluding Poultry Feed; 

 (ix) Yarn used for textile industry as identified under the Harmonized Commodity 
Description and Coding System Numbers for Custom purposes; 

 (x) Dyes used for the handloom industry as identified under the Harmonized 
Commodity Description and Coding System Numbers for Custom purposes; 

(b) The supply of - 
 (i) Educational Services provided by any person or partnership; 
 (ii) Public passengers transport services (other than air transport, water transport or 

transport of tourists, excursion tours and taxi services); 
 (iii) Electricity including distribution; 
 (iv) Services in relation to burials and cremations by any institution or person; 
 (v) Services at a restaurant situated beyond the immigration counter at the 

Bandaranaike International Air Port; 
 (vi) Goods and services to the mission of any state or any organization to which the 

provisions of the Diplomatic Privileges Act, No. 9 of 1996 applies or to any 
diplomatic personnel of such mission or organization who is entitled to such 
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benefits: provided that, reciprocal benefits are available to their counter parts from 
Sri Lanka and identified as such by the Commissioner General; 

 (vii) Goods or services funded directly by foreign organizations for the relief of sudden 
distress caused by natural or human disasters or to any activity having regard to the 
interest of the national economy, as approved by the Minister; 

 (viii) the following Financial Services: - 
  (A) the operation of any current, deposit or savings account; 
  (B) the exchange of currency; 
  (C) the issue payment collection or transfer of ownership of any note, order for 

payment, cheque or letter of credit;    
  (D) the issue, allotment, transfer of ownership, drawing, acceptance or 

endorsement of any debt security, being any interest in or right to be paid 
money owing by any person; 

  (E) the issue, allotment or transfer of ownership of any equity security, debt 
security or participatory security;  

  (F) the underwriting or sub-underwriting the issue of any equity security, debt 
security or participatory security; 

  (G) the provision of any loan, advance or credit; 
  (H) the provision- 
   (i) of the facility of installment credit finance in a hire purchase 

conditional sale or credit sale agreement for which facility a separate 
charge is made and disclosed to the person to whom the supply is 
made;   

   (ii) of goods under any hire purchase agreement or conditional sale 
agreement, which have been used in Sri Lanka for a period not less 
than twelve months as at the date of such agreement; 

   (iii) of leasing facilities under any finance lease agreement; 
  (I) the life insurance, “Agrahara” insurance and crop and livestock insurance;  
  (J) the transfer of non-performing loans of a licensed commercial bank by way 

of transfer of such loans to any other person in terms of a restructuring 
scheme or other scheme of such bank as approved by the Central Bank of 
Sri Lanka with the concurrence of the Minister; 

 (ix) All healthcare services provided by medical institutions or professionally qualified 
persons providing such care other than hospital room charges;  

 (x) Imported any article subject to the Special Commodity Levy under the Special 
Commodity Levy Act, No. 48 of 2007 subject to the condition that such articles are 
sold without any processing except adaption for sale; 

 (xi) Locally Manufactured Handloom Textiles;   
 (xii) Rice, Rice Flour and Bread so far as such products are manufactured locally; 
 (xiii) Unprocessed Agricultural, Horticultural or fishing products produced in Sri Lanka; 
 (xiv) Locally manufactured Surgical Gauze used for surgery; 
 (xv) Fabric which are subject to a Cess at a specific rate classified under the Harmonized 

Commodity Description and Coding System Numbers for Custom purposes, in lieu 
of chargeability of any other tax on importation at the point of entry into the 
country, by the Director-General of Customs as specified in a Gazette Notification 
issued under the Sri Lanka Export Development Act, No. 40 of 1979; 

 (xvi) Services by the Department of Commerce, the Board of Investment of Sri Lanka or 
the Sri Lanka Ports Authority, in so far as such services are provided to any exporter 
or to provider of services which are zero rated services, for the purpose of tax under 
this Act; 
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 (xvii) Services by a person in Sri Lanka to any other person outside Sri Lanka to be 
consumed or utilized by such other person outside Sri Lanka for which the payment 
is made in Sri Lanka rupees;  

 (xviii) Services, which result in the improvement of quality, character or value of any yarn, 
fabric or garment so far as such services are provided to persons other than 
exporters of such products; 

 (xix) Geriatric Services and Child Care Services; 
 (xx) Goods or services to any project identified as a Strategic Development Project in 

terms of section 3(4) of the Strategic Development Project Act, No. 14 of 2008; 
 (xxi) (a) Goods or services to any specified project identified by the Minister, taking into 

consideration the economic benefit to the country, on which the tax is borne by the 
Government; or  
(b) Goods and services to any infrastructure development project funded through 
foreign loans or donations directly to the Government Ministries, approved by the 
Minster on the recommendation of secretary of the respective Government Ministry; 

 (xxii) Goods or services by the Central Bank of Sri Lanka established by the Central Bank 
of Sri Lanka Act, No. 16 of 2023;  

 (xxiii) Any services by any public corporation to the extent of provision of such services 
on behalf of the Government of Sri Lanka, free of charge out of the funds voted by 
Parliament from the Consolidated Fund or out of any loan arranged through the 
Government; 

 (xxiv) Locally manufactured goods to Duty Free Shops for payment in foreign currency; 
(c) The import of - 
 (i) Any article entitled to duty free clearance under the Passenger’s Baggage 

(exemptions) Regulations made under section 107 of the Customs Ordinance 
(Chapter 235) or any article cleared duty free on a re-importation certificate as 
provided for in Schedule “A” of the Customs Ordinance (Chapter 235) or any article 
cleared ex-bond for use as ship stores;  

 (ii) (A) Goods to be used as exhibition material or as material in any technical 
demonstration and which are re-exported after the completion of such project, 
exhibition or demonstration, as the case may be, or  
(B) Plant, machinery or equipment which are imported to be used in projects and re-
exported after the completion of the project, and in respect of which tax is differed 
in terms of paragraph (b) of the second proviso to subsection (3) of section 2; 

 (iii) Aircraft Engines or Aircraft Spare Parts identified under specified Harmonized 
Commodity Description and Coding System Numbers for Custom purposes; 

 (iv) Chemical Naphtha by the Ceylon Petroleum Corporation to be supplied to Ceylon 
Electricity Board for the generation of electricity;  

 (v) (A) Goods for any specified project identified by the Minister, taking into 
consideration the economic benefit to the country, on which the tax is borne by the 
Government; or ` Commissioner General of Inland Revenue  
(B) Goods, for a project identified as a strategic development project under the 
provisions of the Strategic Development Project Act, No.14 of 2008, during the 
project implementation period, subject to the conditions specified therein; or  
(C) Goods for any infrastructure development project funded through foreign loans 
or donations directly to any Ministry of the Government of Sri Lanka, as approved 
by the Minster on the recommendation of secretary of the respective Government 
Ministry; 

 (vi) Goods to a mission of any state or any organization to which the provisions of the 
Diplomatic Privileges Act, No. 9 of 1996 applies or to any diplomatic personnel of 
such mission or organization who is entitled to such benefits, provided that, 
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reciprocal benefits are available to the counter parts from Sri Lanka and identified 
as such by the Commissioner General; 

 (vii) Goods from any foreign organization or out of the funds from such organization for 
the relief of sudden distress caused by natural or human disasters or to any activity 
having regard to the interest of the national economy, as approved by the Minister. 

(d) The import and supply of goods at Duty Free Shops for payment in foreign currency 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Annexure 04 
    

Approved Charitable Institutions as at 31.12.2023 
 

 Name of the Charitable Institution Gazette No. Date of Gazette 

1 Hindu Women’s Society Limited Colombo 10693 16.07.1954 
2 Sri Lanka Cancer Society    
3 Muhandiram D F Perera Abayasiriwardana Elders 

Home 
  

4 Colombo Friend-in-Need Society D.S.221/50, No. 
84/3/11 (ET/DO)  

11.12.1951 

5 FRIDSRO Children's Home 143  29.05.1981 
6 Sisters of Charity of Jesus and Mary 833 19.08.1994 
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Annexure 04 
    

Approved Charitable Institutions as at 31.12.2023 
 

 Name of the Charitable Institution Gazette No. Date of 
Gazette 

1 Hindu Women’s Society Limited Colombo 10693 16.07.1954 
2 Sri Lanka Cancer Society    

3 
Muhandiram D F Perera Abayasiriwardana 
Elders Home 

  

4 Colombo Friend-in-Need Society D.S.221/50, No. 84/3/11 (ET/DO) 11.12.1951 
5 FRIDSRO Children's Home 143  29.05.1981 
6 Sisters of Charity of Jesus and Mary 833 19.08.1994 

7 
Rohana (blind, deaf ) Special School and 
Hostel 

LDB 7/13 04.10.1972 

8 Charles & Roslyn Fernando Trust ACT No. 28 of 1979  
9 Amaraseela Elders’ Home 618  06.07.1990 

10 
Hanwella Social Services Society, Sende 
Sarana Elders Home 

425  24.10.1986 

11 Seemasahitha Matara, Arogya Seva Samithiya 14797  11.04.1968 
12 Matugama Social Services Society Ltd 1063/16  21.01.1999 

13 Piliyandala Young Men’s Buddhist 
Association 

28  16.03.1979 

14 Sahanoda Elders Home 31 (7) a IR Act 04.04.2001 

15 Maha Mahinda Dharmaduta Special Fund
  

965/15/150(SB/EP) 28.03.1964 

16 Sudaya Trust 07/624 30.07.1993 

17 St. Joseph’s Educational Foundation for the 
Hearing Impaired 

1554 13.06.2008 

18 Sarana Nikethanaya 1395  27.05.2005 
19 Colombo Young Men’s Buddhist Association Chapter 399 Ordinance 11 29.09.1927 
20 Saviya Development Foundation 90/0476-26  04.12.1995 
21 Moors’ Islamic Cultural Home 10490  23.01.1953 
22 Sri Lankadhara Society Limited 10596  09.10.1953 
23 YMBA Maharagama 1299  25.07.2003 
24 Kanadarawa Thapowana Vihara Building Fund   
25 Udaya Children’s Home 1313  31.10.2003 
26 Dev Suwa Sevawa 185  10.10.1975 
27 Kalutara Bodhi Trust 368  20.09.1985 

28 
Seemasahitha Sarvodaya Suwasetha Seva 
Samithiya  

462  09.07.1987 

29 Matara Bauddha Kantha Samithiya 10947  06.07.1956 
30 Sri Paramananda Children’s & Elder’s Home 14930  30.10.1970 
31 Pradeepaloka Buddhist Balika Home 1842  31.12.1965 
32 Jagaddala Social Welfare Institute 1660  24.06.2010 

33 
Sri Lanka Technical Institute & Diyagala 
Boy’s Town 

14860  27.06.1969 

34 Sri Punyawardhana Samithiya 13998  28.03.1964 

35 
The Brave Hearts Fund of the Seva Vanitha 
Unit of Sri Lanka Army  

1698  18.03.2011 
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36 
Community Development & Social Services 
Project of the Church of St. Mary & St. John 

3-435 – Gazete No. 186   

37 Pihimbiyahena Elder’s Home 1584  09.01.2009 
38 Sri Sucharithadhara Upasika Samithiya Ltd 10947  

39 Mallika Nivasa Samithiya (Society) Limited
  

10889  03.02.1956 

40 St/ Margaret Home 10468  07.11.1952 

41 Sarana Women’s Elderly Home IRD Act No. 34(2)(a) of No. 10 of 
2006  

27.02.2008 

42 Don Bosco Boys’ Home 1192  06.07.2001 
43 Little Sisters of the Poor IRD Act No 28 of 1979(02-573)  24.02.1994 
44 Friends of Marcsri 462  09.07.1987 
45 Shilpa Children’s Trust 513  01.07.1988 
46 Shanthi Niwasa of the Missionaries of Charity 1667  13.08.2010 
47 Gamsiri Uda Samithiya Limited 246  31.12.1976 

48 
Galkissa Buddha Samithiya - Sri Senarath 
Gunawardana Children’s Development Centre 

14892  27.01.1970 

49 SOS Children’s Villages Sri Lanka 496  04.03.1988 

50 
Kandy Buddhist Women Society Jajawickrema 
Lama Nivasa 

  

51 Hindu Board of Education 10857  04.11.1955 

52 
Muslim Ladies Arabic College Managing 
Society 

13998  28.03.1964 

53 Children’s Corner Orphanage 38 of 2000  27.06.2003 

54 
Siyane Korale East – Social Service League – 
Obesekara Elders Home 

1337  16.04.2004 

55 All Ceylon Buddhist Congress 10812  01.07.1955 
56 Methodist Trust Association of Ceylon 237/20  25.03.1983 

57 The Oblates of Mary Immaculata Province of 
Sri Lanka 

305 of 84.07.06 13.06.1984 

58 Kandy Friend-in-Need Society  1963 
59 The Senkadagala Deaf and Blind Society Ltd  31.01.1969 
60 Mahabodhi Society of Ceylon 777  18.06.1999 
61 Don Bosco Trust  1541  14.03.2008 
62 Prithipura Infants Home 7/1638  22.01.2010 
63 Anuradapura Deaf & Blind school Society Ltd 387  31.01.1986 
64 Angel Foundation   

65 
The King George the fifth Silver Jubilee 
Commemoration Society 

10332   21.12.1951 

66 Isha Athul Islam Home for the Orphans 43/83   23.08.1984 
67 Ramakrishna Sarada Mission  3-669/3    16.03.1973 
68 The Ceylon Moor Ladies Union 305  17.02.1978 

69 
Panadura Child Welfare & Social Service 
League (Moratuwa Girls Home) 

10490   23.01.1953 

70 Kalutara Buddhist Society   
71 HelpAge Sri Lanka 497  11.03.1988 
72 Hospital Services Council 458  12.06.1987 
73 The Ceylon School for the Deaf and Blind 10,411  06.06.1952 
74 Special Educational Service Society 411  18.07.1986 
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75 
Moratuwa Social Service Society (Elders 
Home) 

1982/39  02.09.2016 

76 Appeal for Children Committee of Ceylon 10782   
77 Ethanamadala Sahana Elders Home 2127/14  12.06.2019 
78 Lotus Hill Home for Disabled Children 2046/10  21.11.2017 
79 Canadapura Children’s Home 2094/8  23.10.2018 
80 Cancer Care Association - Sri Lanka 2142/81  27.09.2019 
81 Centre for Handicapped 2144/23  09.10.2018 
82 Norman Weerasooria Memorial Shelter 2267/60  18.02.2022 

83 
Samastha Lanka Wakugadu Roginge 
Sangamaya 

2288/08  12.07.2022 

84 
Ceylon Fellowship of Service - Prithipura 
Home 

2288/09  12.07.2022 

85 The Paynter Home for Children 2307/51  25.11.2022 
86 Peter Weerasekera Foundation 2329/18  24.04.2023 
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Annexure 05 

 
Double Tax Avoidance (DTA) Agreements as at 31.12.2023 

 
 

Country 
Date of 

Signing the 
Agreement 

Gazette Operative in 
Sri Lanka 

from the Year 
of Assessment 

No. Date 

1 Australia 18.12.1989 657/2 08.04.1991 1992/1993 
2 Baharain 24.06.2011 1847/51 31.01.2014 2015/2016 
3 Bangladesh 24.07.1986 448/13 07.04.1987 1989/1990 
4 Belarus 26.08.2013 1837/13 20.11.2013 2015/2016 
5 Belgium 03.02.1983 292/6 09.04.1984 1984/1985 
6 Canada 23.06.1982 253/8 13.07.1983 1986/1987 
7 China 11.08.2003 1374/20 06.01.2005 2006/2007 
8 Czechoslovakia (Czech 

Republic) 
23.02.1979 24/19 23.02.1979 1979/1980 

9 Denmark (Rev.) 22.12.1981 228/15 20.01.1983 1980/1981 
10 Finland 06.10.2016 2027/1 10.07.2017 2019/2020 
11 France 17.09.1981 210/17 17.09.1982 1982/1983 
12 Germany 13.09.1979 113 31.10.1980 1982/1983 
13 Hong Kong (Limited) 26.03.2004 1374/21 06.01.2005 2005/2006 
14 India (Rev.) 22.01.2013 1828/9 17.09.2013 2014/2015 
15 Indonesia 03.02.1993 798/10 21.10.1993 1995/1996 
16 Iran 25.07.2000 1187/16 06.06.2001 2002/2003 
17 Italy 28.03.1984 322/4 05.11.1984 1978/1979 
18 Japan 12.12.1967 14803/5 29.05.1968 1969/1970 
19 Jordan (Limited) 21.08.2002 1274/9 06.02.2003 1990/1991 
20 Korea 28.05.1984 342/11 29.03.1985 1980/1981 
21 Kuwait 05.02.2002 1245/19 18.07.2002 2002/2003 
22 Luxembourg 31.01.2013 1838/9 26.11.2013 2015/2016 
23 Malaysia (Rev.) 16.09.1997 1028/21 22.05.1998 1999/2000 
24 Mauritius 12.03.1996 958/10 15.01.1997 1998/1999 
25 Nepal 06.07.1999 1116/6 26.01.2000 2001/2002 
26 Netherlands 17.11.1982 281/13 26.01.1984 1979/1980 
27 Norway (Rev.) 04.12.1986 464/4 27.07.1987 1989/1990 
28 Oman 12.08.2018 2154/50 20.12.2019 2020/2021 
29 Pakistan 05.10.1981 210/17 17.09.1982 1983/1984 
30 Palestine 16.04.2012 1838/8 26.11.2013 2015/2016 
31 Philippines 11.12.2000 1237/7 21.05.2002 2019/2020 
32 Poland 06.10.2020 2027/2 10.07.2017 2020/2021 
33 Qatar 07.11.2004 1422/10 05.12.2005 2008/2009 
34 Romania 19.10.1984 371/9 15.10.1985 1986/1987 
35 Russia 02.03.1999 1101/22 15.10.1999 2003/2004 
36 Saudi Arabia (Limited) 16.12.1996 1101/23 15.10.1999 1983/1984 
37 Seychelles 23.09.2011 1837/14 20.11.2013 2015/2016 
38 Singapore 03.04.2014 1993/11 16.11.2016 2018/2019 
39 Sweden 23.02.1983 297/28 18.05.1984 1985/1986 
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40 Switzerland 11.01.1983 292/6 09.04.1984 1981/1982 
41 Thailand 14.12.1988 571/16 18.08.1989 1990/1991 
42 Turkey 18.01.2022 2289/27 20.07.2022 2024/2025 
43 U.A.E. (Limited) 

U.A.E. (Comprehensive) 
07.07.1992 
24.09.2003 

824/13 
1346/1 

23.06.1994 
21.06.2004 

1979/1980 
2004/2005 

44 U.K. 21.06.1979 60/23 02.11.1979 1977/1978 
45 U.S.A. 

U.S.A. Protocol 
14.03.1985 
20.09.2002 

398/4 
1298/8 

22.04.1986 
21.07.2003 

 
2004/2005 

46 Vietnam 26.10.2005 1455/9 24.07.2006 2007/2008 
Multilateral Treaties 
1 SARRC Multilateral 

Treaty 
13.10.2005 1447/3 29.05.2006 2011/2012 
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Annexure 07 

 

Awareness Programs Conducted for General Public in 2023 

No. Subject Institute/Target Groups No. of Persons 
attend 

1 New Tax Policy changes on Value Added 
Tax & Social Security Contribution Levy 

Ministry of Urban Development & 
Housing 60 

2 New Tax Policy changes on Value Added 
Tax & Withholding Tax National Chamber of Commerce 70 

3 New Tax Policy Changes on Advance 
Personal Income Tax & Income Tax Basilur Tea Export (Pvt) Ltd 80 

4 

New Tax Policy Changes on Advance 
Personal Income Tax 

Irrigation Department 50 

5 Sri Lanka Accountants’ Service 
Association 123 

6 District Secretariat - Colombo 75 

7 Chief Secretariat Office - North Western 
Province 75 

8 District Secretariat - Colombo 75 

9 Colombo Municipal Council 105 

10 New Tax Policy Changes on Value Added 
Tax Ministry of Tourism and Land 45 

11 
New Tax Policy Changes on Advance 
Personal Income Tax & Tax Amendment 

Ministry of Sports and Youth Affairs 100 

12 Chief Secretariat Office -Sabaragamuwa 
Province 70 

13 New Tax Policy Changes on Advance 
Personal Income Tax & Value Added Tax 

Chief Secretariat Office -Southern 
Province 60 

14 
 

Awareness Program on New Tax 
Amendments Advance Personal Income Tax 
& Withholding Tax (Sinhala & English 
Medium) 

Taxpayers Registered under Google Form 
in IRD website 756 

  
15 

New Policy Changes on Advance Personal 
Income Tax Sri Lanka Police Headquarters - Colombo 130 

  
16 

New Tax Policy Changes on Value Added 
Tax 

All Island Banquet Hall  Owners and 
Caterers Association 200 

17 New Policy Changes on Advance Personal 
Income Tax Department of Posts 45 

18 New Policy Changes on Advance Personal 
Income Tax & Other Relevant Taxes University of Kelaniya 500 

19 Tax Policies and Laws Sri Lanka Air Force 146 

20 New Policy Changes on Advance Personal 
Income Tax & New Tax Amendment Department of Co-operative Development 40 

21 
Awareness Program on New Tax 
Amendments Advance Personal Income Tax 
&Withholding Tax  

National Institute of Plantation 
Management 50 
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22 New Tax Policy Changes on Advance 
Personal Income Tax/ Pay-As-You-Earn Tax 
/Capital Gain Tax 

Badulla Regional Office  108 

23 Nuwara Eliya Regional Office 80 

24 
Awareness Program on Advance Personal 
Income Tax, Withholding Tax & Social 
Security Contribution Levy 

University of Colombo 600 

25 Gampaha Wickramaarachchi University 
of Indigenous Medicine 150 

26 Department of Management Audit - 
Ministry of Finance 200 

27 
Awareness Program on New Tax 
Amendments  

Sectorial Monitoring Committee of 
Mitigating the Impact of Economic Crisis 
- Balangoda 

300 

28 AAT Sri Lanka - Zoom 125 

29 New Tax Policy Changes  
All Island Trade Association of the Whole 
Sellers & Retail Sellers of Essential Foods 
- Kegalle 

75 

30 Tax Issues for Corruption and Assets 
Investigation 

Commission to Investigate Allegations of 
Bribery or Corruption 122 

31 
New Tax Policy Changes on Value Added 
Tax, Withholding Tax, Social Security 
Contribution Levy & Pay-As-You-Earn Tax  

National Water Supply & Drainage Board 120 

32 

Awareness Program for New File Opening 

Attorney General’s Department 100 

33 Small Enterprises Development Division - 
Colombo District 56 

34 Brandix Apparel Limited 350 

35 Third Space Global (Pvt) Ltd 108 

36 Sri Lanka Ports Authority 6,180 

37 Forbes & Walkers Tea Brokers (Pvt) Ltd 30 

38 National Development Bank PLC 1,500 

39 Sri Lanka Export Development Board 50 

40 Lyceum International School  63 

41 Lake House Media Academy 41 

42 Sri Lanka State Trading (General) 
Corporation 50 

43 Bank of Ceylon 7,500 

44 Hatton National Bank 3,200 

45 Nawaloka Hospital PLC 35 

46 Central Environmental Authority 250 

47 Industrial Development Board of Ceylon 60 

48 Union Bank  100 
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49 IFS R&D International (Pvt) Ltd 1,500 

50 National Enterprises Development 
Authority 60 

51 People’s Bank 7,000 

52 Awareness Program for e- Filing Department of Government Printing 28 

53 New Tax Policy Changes on Advance 
Personal Income Tax 

Sabaragamuwa University Teachers’ 
Association 45 

54 

New Tax Policy Changes on Advance 
Personal Income Tax, Capital Gain, Stamp 
Duty, Value Added Tax & Social Security 
Contribution Levy 

Lanka Institute of Talent Management 90 

55 
New Tax Policy Changes on Advance 
Personal Income Tax & Individual Income 
Tax 

Colombo North Teaching Hospital - 
Ragama 2,305 

56 New Tax Policy Changes on Advance 
Personal Income Tax & Value Added Tax 

Mahaweli Water Security Investment 
Program  86 

57 

Awareness Program for New File Opening 

Kalutara Regional Office 2,305 

58 Colombo Metro Offices 1,650 

59 Badulla Regional Office 2,102 

60 Gampaha Regional Office 1,633 

61 Matara Regional Office 1,752 

62 Kegalle Regional Office 1,693 

63 Negambo Regional Office 300 

64 Nuwara Eliya Regional Office 1,337 

65 Jaffna Regional Office 901 

66 Galle Regional Office 2,217 

67 Kandy Regional Office 2,449 

68 Dambulla Regional Office 1,585 

69 
New Tax Policy Changes on Value Added 
Tax, Withholding Tax, Income Tax & Social 
Security Contribution Levy 

Gampaha Regional Office (IRD Staff) 40 

70 Advance Personal Income Tax & Income 
Tax 

Gampaha Regional Office (District 
Secretariat Office) 70 

71 Fiscal Policy Isipathana College 120 

72 Awareness Program on Withholding Tax GIZ Country Office - Colombo 50 

73 New File Opening & Changes on Tax Policy District Secretariat - Galle 200 

Total No. of Participants 55,926 
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Annexure 09 

Promotions during the year 2023 

 
 Name Date of 

Promotion 
Permanent Post Current Post 

1 Mr. T.M.J.N. Bandara 13.01.2023 Senior Commissioner Deputy Commissioner 
General 

2 Mrs. H.W.N.K. Thalaramba 23.01.2023 Senior Commissioner Deputy Commissioner 
General 

3 Mrs. R.P.H. Fernando 16.05.2023 Senior Commissioner Deputy Commissioner 
General (Acting) 

4 Mr. B.K.S. Shantha 30.05.2023 Senior Commissioner 
Deputy Commissioner 
General (Acting) 

5 Mr. M.D. Anandasiri 21.07.2023 Senior Commissioner Deputy Commissioner 
General (Acting) 

6 Mrs. S.P. Ranasinghe 11.10.2023 Senior Commissioner Deputy Commissioner 
General (Acting) 

7 Miss. R.A.S. Rajapaksha 02.01.2023 Commissioner Senior Commissioner 
(Acting) 

8 Mr. L.K. Rathnayake 02.01.2023 Commissioner Senior Commissioner 
(Acting) 

9 Mr. J.M.S.S. Rathnawardhana 02.01.2023 Commissioner Senior Commissioner 
(Acting) 

10 Mr. K.G.P.K. Dharmawardhane 02.01.2023 Commissioner Senior Commissioner 
(Acting) 

11 Mr. N.M.A.K.B. Napana 09.01.2023 Commissioner Senior Commissioner 
(Acting) 

12 Mrs. D.L. Samarawickrama 13.01.2023 Commissioner Senior Commissioner 
(Acting) 

13 Mr. H.S.S. Kumara 23.01.2023 Commissioner Senior Commissioner 
(Acting) 

14 Mr. V.G.R. Kumara 30.01.2023 Commissioner Senior Commissioner 
(Acting) 

15 Mrs. M.N. Pushpalatha 16.05.2023 Commissioner Senior Commissioner 
(Acting) 

16 Mr. M.K.P.J.S.S. Perera 30.05.2023 Commissioner Senior Commissioner 
(Acting) 

17 Mr. I.V. Jayarathne 21.07.2023 Commissioner Senior Commissioner 
(Acting) 

18 Mrs. T.M.S.M. Thennakoon 10.08.2023 Commissioner Senior Commissioner 
(Acting) 

19 Mrs. S.D.C. Malkanthi 11.10.2023 Commissioner Senior Commissioner 
(Acting) 

20 Mr. P.T.T.P. Jayasinghe 02.01.2023 Senior Deputy 
Commissioner Commissioner (Acting) 

21 Mrs. H.D.R.P. Siriwardhana 02.01.2023 Senior Deputy 
Commissioner Commissioner (Acting) 

22 Mrs. S.S. Colombage 02.01.2023 Senior Deputy 
Commissioner Commissioner (Acting) 

23 Mr. A.I.U. Perera 02.01.2023 Senior Deputy 
Commissioner Commissioner (Acting) 

24 Mrs. H.D.B.S. Renuka 02.01.2023 Senior Deputy 
Commissioner Commissioner (Acting) 
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25 Mrs. A.K. Chandralatha 02.01.2023 Senior Deputy 
Commissioner Commissioner (Acting) 

26 Mrs. K.B.K. Lanka 02.01.2023 Senior Deputy 
Commissioner Commissioner (Acting) 

27 Mrs. P.M. Rupasinghe 02.01.2023 Senior Deputy 
Commissioner Commissioner (Acting) 

28 Mr. A.P. Gunathunga 02.01.2023 Senior Deputy 
Commissioner Commissioner (Acting) 

29 Mr. S.A. Pemadasa 02.01.2023 Senior Deputy 
Commissioner Commissioner (Acting) 

30 Mr. R.P.D.C. Rajapaksha 02.01.2023 Senior Deputy 
Commissioner Commissioner (Acting) 

31 Miss. D.S.S.S. Dissanayake 02.01.2023 Senior Deputy 
Commissioner Commissioner (Acting) 

32 Mrs. H. Illeperuma 02.01.2023 Senior Deputy 
Commissioner Commissioner (Acting) 

33 Mrs. A.G.A.G. Jayamanthi  09.01.2023 Senior Deputy 
Commissioner Commissioner (Acting) 

34 Mrs. K.P.R. Gunathunga 09.01.2023 Senior Deputy 
Commissioner Commissioner (Acting) 

35 Mr. L.A.S.K. Perera 30.01.2023 Senior Deputy 
Commissioner Commissioner (Acting) 

36 Mr. R.H.M.G. Rajakaruna 30.01.2023 Senior Deputy 
Commissioner Commissioner (Acting) 

37 Mr. G.P. Perera 30.01.2023 Senior Deputy 
Commissioner Commissioner (Acting) 

38 Mrs. R.W.A.G. Rajapaksha 30.05.2023 Senior Deputy 
Commissioner Commissioner (Acting) 

39 Mrs. E.K.S.P. Manathunga  30.05.2023 Senior Deputy 
Commissioner Commissioner (Acting) 

40 Mrs. T.M.P. Gunasekara 30.05.2023 Senior Deputy 
Commissioner Commissioner (Acting) 

41 Mrs. D.A.A. Dulasini 30.05.2023 Senior Deputy 
Commissioner Commissioner (Acting) 

42 Mrs. A.P.P.M. Gunathilake 10.08.2023 Senior Deputy 
Commissioner Commissioner (Acting) 

43 Mrs. V.V. Hettiarachchi 10.08.2023 Senior Deputy 
Commissioner Commissioner (Acting) 

44 Mr. A.G.K. Perera 10.08.2023 Senior Deputy 
Commissioner Commissioner (Acting) 

45 Mr. B.G.S. Thushara 10.08.2023 Senior Deputy 
Commissioner Commissioner (Acting) 
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